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DCC is a leading international 
sales, marketing and support 
services group with a clear focus 
on performance and growth.

We are an ambitious and entrepreneurial 
business operating in 15 countries,  
supplying products and services used  
by millions of people every day throughout 
Europe. Building strong routes to market, 
driving for results, focusing on cash  
conversion and generating superior 
sustainable returns on capital employed  
enable us to reinvest in our business,  
creating value for our stakeholders.

Our Strategy 
Our objective is to build a growing, sustainable and cash generative 
business which consistently provides returns on capital employed 
significantly ahead of its cost of capital.

Consistent strategy

Market leading 
positions

Operational  
excellence

Extend our geographic 
footprint

Development  
of our people

Financial discipline
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DCC at a Glance
DCC is a leading international sales, marketing and 
support services group. The Group is organised and 
managed across four divisions* and employs over 
11,000 people in 15 countries.

Energy
The leading liquefied petroleum gas (‘LPG’) 
and oil sales and marketing business in 
Europe with a growing position in the retail 
petrol station market.

  Read more: Operating Review on page 36

Volumes

14.6bn litres
12.5%

Operating profit

£254.9m
24.3%

Principal operating locations
France, Britain, Ireland, Denmark, Sweden, Austria,  
the Netherlands, Norway, Belgium and Germany.

Healthcare
A leading healthcare business, providing 
products and services to healthcare  
providers and health and beauty  
brand owners.

  Read more: Operating Review on page 44

Revenue

£506.5m
3.2%

Operating profit

£49.0m
8.7%

Principal operating locations
Britain, Ireland and Sweden.

* �As announced on 5 April 2017, DCC has agreed to dispose of its Environmental division and the transaction is expected to complete in the 
quarter to 30 June 2017.
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Group operating profit by geography (continuing*)

Technology
A leading route-to-market and supply chain 
partner for global technology brands.

  Read more: Operating Review on page 52

Revenue

£2.689bn
10.1%

Operating profit

£41.1m
17.1%

Principal operating locations
Britain, Ireland, France, Sweden, Germany, the Netherlands, 
Belgium, UAE, Spain and Norway.

Environmental
Provider of a broad range of waste 
management and recycling services.

Revenue

£175.2m
14.2%

Operating profit

£18.5m
22.2%

Principal operating locations
Britain and Ireland.

Group operating profit by division (continuing*)

UK

43%

Continental Europe/Other

52%

Ireland

5%

DCC Energy

74%

DCC Technology

12%

DCC Healthcare

14%
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Highlights of the Year

1 Continuing operations (i.e. excluding DCC Environmental).

A year of strong growth and 
development for the Group
The year ended 31 March 2017 has been a very strong year of performance and development for 

• 1,2  

• 1,2

• 

• 1

• 

•  

Outlook

242.78p

286.59p

2016

2017

Adjusted EPS 

£285.3m

£345.0m

2016

2017

£10,447.6m

£12,269.8m

2016

2017

Revenue 1

21.9%

20.3%

2016

2017

Return on capital employed 1

£411.7m

£546.9m

2016

2017

97.22p

111.80p

2016

2017

Dividend per share
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Strategy
Sustainable Growth

Objective Strategic Priorities

returns on capital 

 
of capital. 

 

strategic priorities  
as illustrated.

Market leading positions

market positions and generated attractive returns on capital invested.

Development of our people 

Financial discipline
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Examples of Progress in 2017 Priorities for 2018

 
 

 

 

 

strategic priorities. 
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Strategic
Priorities                                            Resources and

Relationships
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Value Creation
Core Values

Business Model

and share value

...we leverage our key 

Financial
• 

• 

Strategic
• Consistent strategic direction

• Disciplined capital allocation

• Devolved management structure

• Talent development and retention

Operational
• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

Guided by our  
strategic framework...

Market leading positions

Operational excellence

Extend our geographic 
footprint

Development of  
our people

Financial discipline

Read more: Strategy on page 2
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…generating returns for stakeholders
and capital for reinvestment. Economic contribution

Shareholders

Employees

Business partners

Governments

institutions.

Local communities

business opportunities for local suppliers.

Capital for reinvestment 

...we utilise our resources... ...and underpinned by our core values...

People 
 

Capital 
 

commercial opportunities.

Partnerships 

Facilities

Intellectual
 

Value Added
£871m 

Dividends to Shareholders
£99m 

£47m 

Employees
£466m 

Interest
£73m 

Retained
£186m 

Goods and 
Services

 

Revenue

Read more: Chairman’s Statement on page 7

Safety

Integrity
Our business is built on trust

Partnership

Excellence
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Chairman’s Statement

Performance

 
on a continuing basis.

 

 

Strategy 
 

 
 

 

Environmental division to Exponent, a leading 

 

Dividend 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

A strong set of results 
and a particularly active 
period for development

111.8

97.2

84.5
76.9

69.967.663.259.8
51.5

39.8
33.5

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Dividend (pence) – years ended 31 March

John Moloney
Chairman
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culminated in Donal being appointed  

Board Composition and Renewal

 

process. Emma brings considerable 

 

 

Outlook

support.

John Moloney
Chairman

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017
0

100

200

300

400

500

600

Total Shareholder Return (‘TSR’)

OUR VALUES

SAFETY

INTEGRITY
Our business is built on trust

PARTNERSHIP
We are stronger together

EXCELLENCE

 

Values

 

 

 

Our People

continued success.



08 DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Strategic Report

 
for DCC. 

Performance Highlights

• 

 

• 
 

 

• 

•  

• 

Continued successful 

strategy

Development Highlights
 

 
 

• 

 

building its retail petrol station business  

 

 

 

approvals and closing conditions and  

• 
 

 

 
 

to domestic, commercial and industrial 

 

 
 

business a strong market position in 

• 

 

 

 

 
 

to our customer and supplier partners.  

Tommy Breen
Chief Executive
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303.7

257.1

209.2
191.2

171.2
142.0

173.1
157.9

139.7
115.9

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

363.6

300.5

228.2
208.4

186.9
160.7

195.7
171.1

149.0
117.4

2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

 

 

Delivery against Strategy
DCC is an ambitious and entrepreneurial 

cost of capital. 

million in capital expenditure and delivered  

 

 

 
 

People and Values
 

 
 

 
our people to deliver superior service to our 

 
 

 
 

 
 

responsibilities to guide and inspire our 

 

 
 

Outlook

 
and development for DCC. 

Tommy Breen 
Chief Executive

Adjusted earnings per share (pence) – years ended 31 March
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Key Performance Indicators 
Measuring Our Progress

Financial KPIs Strategic Linkage

presented on a continuing basis.

 

Non Financial KPIs

 

Carbon emissions
2
e.

responsible manner. 
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Development  
of our people

Performance Comment FY18 Outlook and Aims

21.9%

20.3%

2016

2017

£285.3m

£345.0m

2016

2017

 development.

242.8p

286.6p

2016

2017
 

 

£411.7m

£546.9m

2016

2017

 

£80.2m

£553.9m

2016

2017

targets must meet our demanding criteria and  

LTIFR

1.7

1.6

2016

2017

LTISR

27 Days

23 Days

2016

2017

 
 

are investigated to determine root causes and  

 

 
 

control measures are in place and operating 
 

as a result.

Male/female split

32%

33%

68%

67%2016

2017

 

committed to better gender balance at all levels 

120kts

118kts

2016

2017
opportunities and monitor carbon emissions 
from its operations.

Strategic Linkages

Market leading  
positions

Operational  
excellence 

Extend our  
geographic  
footprint

Financial  
discipline

Linked to Directors’ 
Remuneration
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Risk Report

 
and manage risk 

Risk Management

 

 

delegated responsibilities and procedures  

remain current.

 

management processes.

Risk Management Framework

 

 

auditors/regulators. 

Board
 

management and internal control activities 

 
on emerging risks, on current risk mitigation 
activities and on developments in risk 

 
 

and internal control activities.

Risk Management Framework

Group Risk 
Register

Audit Committee

 
Committee

 

 
 

Legal and  
Compliance Report

Group Internal
Audit Report

  



13DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Supplementary 
InformationFinancial StatementsGovernanceStrategic Report

 
 

 
 

Audit Committee

risk management and internal control 
 

 

risks, emerging risks and risk mitigation 

matters and risk management.

 

Further detail on the activities of the Audit 
Committee is set out in its Report on page 77.

 
 

 

 

 
 

Compliance and ensures prompt action is 

Group Oversight Functions
Group HSE

 

Further detail on HSE risk management  
is set out in the Responsible Business Report  
on page 58.

Group Legal & Compliance

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

page 71.

 
also carries out regular compliance audits in 

Further detail on compliance risk is set out in the 
Corporate Governance Statement on page 71.

Group IT

Group Finance

implementing appropriate risk management 

Group Internal Audit

improvement and providing independent and 

 
 

 

 

 

penetration testing.

Further detail on the Group Internal Audit 
function is set out on page 79.

Risk Register Process

 

 
 

 

 
Audit function.

Subsidiary 
 

 

management. Control improvements 
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Risk Report continued

Division
Divisional management are responsible for 

Group
 

 

 

 

 
 

Reporting

Going Concern and the Viability Statement

Going Concern and the  
Viability Statement

 
 

 

Going Concern

 
its future development, performance and 

 

processes for managing its capital, its 

resources and a broad spread of businesses 

 
 

 

 

resources to continue in operational 
 

 

Viability Statement

continue to operate and meet its liabilities, 
 

 
 

 

 

 

are discussed. 

 

 

 

 
 

 



15DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Supplementary 
InformationFinancial StatementsGovernanceStrategic Report

 

 

provide a reasonable and not an absolute 

 

 

focused on a range of issues, including 

matters.

 
 

Risk Impact Principal Mitigation Measures Movement and Development

1. Environmental

incident

 
accident resulting in one or  

 
environmental damage or 

 

management plan and/or 

 

product recall procedures.

 

 

 

product processing facilities. 

 
 

providers, as appropriate. 

No change  

 

environmental event.

 

 
strategic priorities

Market leading  
positions

Operational  
excellence 

Extend our  
geographic  
footprint

Development  
of our people

Financial  
discipline
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Risk Report continued

Principal Risks and Uncertainties continued

Risk Impact Principal Mitigation Measures Movement and Development

 

standards

 

standards could result in penalties, 
 

suppliers or customers. 

 

 

Training programmes are provided for 

performs regular compliance audits. 

No change  

standards/regulations impacting  

management

 teams engage in a continuous and 

 

 
internal evaluation process and  
external due diligence prior to 

 
is taken of learnings.

No change  

Active period of corporate 

 

customer  
or supplier

 

 

No change  

  

provide independent assurance.

 
 

No change  
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Risk Impact Principal Mitigation Measures Movement and Development

secure/retain 
management 
resource

 
 planning, management development 

and remuneration programmes, 

incentives. A graduate recruitment 
programme is also in place.

procedures and controls operate 
 

No change  

 

 
larger subsidiaries. 

reporting
 

for credit. 

and managing supplier and customer 

No change  

erosion

12.  Extreme 

 

 
 

impact on performance. 

 
spread of products and customers 

 

No change  

marine and aviation segments of 

 

 
strategic priorities

Market leading  
positions

Operational  
excellence 

Extend our  
geographic  
footprint

Development  
of our people

Financial  
discipline
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Financial Review

Highlights

Excellent increases in revenue, 
1

before tax1

2

1 from  
continuing operations2

1 from  
continuing operations2

Excellent adjusted earnings 
per share growth

1 from 
continuing operations2 

 

Continued strong  
cash generation

Excellent cash conversion

3 before interest and tax

1 to free  
3

Long track record of dividend  
growth continues

Excellent returns on  
capital employed 

 
from continuing operations2

Excellent year for  
acquisition activity

 

Robust, well-funded and 
highly liquid balance sheet

 
term debt

Fergal O’Dwyer

 

 

1. Excluding net exceptionals and amortisation of intangible assets.
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Currency

results, increasing revenue from continuing 

 

 

Continuing Operations
 

 

 
 

Overview of Results

2017  
£’m

 

Revenue (continuing)

254.9

49.0

41.1

345.0

0.7

(31.9)

313.8

(26.2) (23.1)

Amortisation of intangible assets (39.1) (31.1)

248.5

15.1 11.2

Taxation (45.9)

217.7

(1.5)

Net earnings 216.2

Adjusted earnings per share – total (pence) 303.68p

Adjusted earnings per share – continuing (pence) 286.59p

continuing operations..

Revenue/Volumes – Continuing Operations

 

 

rising product prices. 
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Financial Review continued

2017

546.9

(3.3)

31.8

415.5

10.8

14.2

924.8

(121.9)

0.3

2017
H1 

£’m
H2 

£’m
FY 

£’m

244.3 262.3 506.6

Total

Constant currency 4,987.9 5,459.7 10,447.6 +5.7% +16.8% +11.5%

 
 

 

continuing basis (excluding amortisation of 
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Operations

Finance Costs (net)

 

 

 

 
and amortisation of intangible assets  

amortisation of intangible assets and tax 

of Intangible Assets

2017 
£’m

19.3

10.3

(10.1)

5.1

1.6

26.2

(1.4)

24.8

 
of its operating infrastructures and sales 

million in relation to restructuring of existing 
 

also includes integration costs related to 
 
 

incurred in evaluating and completing 

 

 

performance of a small number of 
 

are in place. 

 

2017
H1 

£’m
H2 

£’m
FY 

£’m

76.0 178.9 254.9

19.8 29.2 49.0

11.3 29.8 41.1

Total 107.1 237.9 345.0

Constant currency 101.2 220.7 321.9 79.9 205.4 285.3 +26.7% +7.4% +12.8%
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2017
£’m

254.3 213.3

Amortisation of intangible assets (net of tax) (28.5)

15.2

(24.8) (23.7)

216.2

2017
pence pence

286.59

Amortisation of intangible assets (net of tax) (32.08)

17.09

(27.96)

243.64

Financial Review continued

 

• 

• 

appropriate management of its tax  
 

commercial activities.

Non-Controlling Interest

Adjusted Earnings Per Share 

Dividend

 
 

 

Return on Capital Employed

 

 
 

2017 
ROCE

Cash Flow

 
 

 

 

 

increased level of development capital 
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Acquisition activity 

DCC Energy
Shell LPG Hong Kong & Macau

consents and operating licence approvals. 

 

 
to domestic, commercial and industrial 

 

agreement. 

 

 

 

in Asia.

Esso Retail Norway 

DCC in building its retail petrol station 

asset backed, is expected to generate  

 

Gaz Européen

 
a natural gas retail and marketing business 

 

completion, based on an initial enterprise 

2017
£’m

23 years  
 

cumulatively
 £’m

 
discontinued operations) 363.6

84.0 335.7

99.3 735.9

546.9

Capital expenditure (net) (131.4) (952.0)

415.5

(91.2) (628.6)

324.3 227.7

(262.4)

Dividends (95.3) (761.7)

Disposals/exceptional items (31.5) 193.0

2.6 170.9

(62.3) (85.4)

(54.5) (1.6)

(5.1) (34.9)

Closing net debt (121.9) (121.9)

EBITDA 455.6

Acquisitions 
£’m £’m

Total 
£’m

Continuing operations 553.9 124.8 678.7

Discontinued operations

Total 553.9 131.4 685.3
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management companies, apartment blocks 

 

 

developing its presence in natural gas 

to leverage its sales and marketing expertise, 
 

DCC Healthcare
Medisource

procurement, sales and marketing of 

 

and sale of exempt medicinal products 

 

based on excellent customer service and a 

product development opportunities. DCC 

DCC Technology
Hammer

 
a specialist distributor of server and storage 

leading suppliers and also provides product 

trading results. 
 
Medium

developing position in professional audio visual 

Total cash spend on acquisitions for the 
year ended 31 March 2017

expenditure is net of £12.3 million of 

Balance Sheet and Group Financing 

 

 

 

Financial Review continued
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2017 
Actual covenants Actual

0.3

14.2

10.8

Financial Risk Management

 

instruments nor does it enter into  
 

policies and guidelines. 

translates its euro denominated operating 

translation rate of sterling, referred to above, 

Commodity Price Risk Management 

 

exposures.

distribution business, and over a number of 

gas costs to provide protection against 

proportion of forecasted transactions,  

 

division, certain activities of individual 

 
and guidelines. 

Credit Risk Management

purpose of placing deposits and entering  

 

Interest Rate Risk and Debt/ 
Liquidity Management

 
 

committed and uncommitted credit lines 
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Investor Relations
DCC’s senior management team are 
committed to interacting with the international 
financial community to ensure a full 
understanding of DCC’s strategic plans and 
performance against those plans. During the 
year, the executive management team 
presented at 12 capital market conferences, 
conducted 263 institutional investor one-on-
one and group meetings and presented to 16 
broking firms.

Share Price and Market Capitalisation
The Company’s shares traded in the range 
£58.60 to £72.20 during the year. The share 
price at 31 March 2017 was £70.25 (31 March 
2016: £61.50) giving a market capitalisation of 
£6.2 billion (2016: £5.4 billion). 

Fergal O’Dwyer 
Chief Financial Officer
15 May 2017

Financial Review continued



Financial discipline

A key strategic priority of the Group is the maintenance of a strong 
and liquid balance sheet. This is accomplished through an ongoing 
focus on good cash management and strong cash generation. In 
doing so, we remain agile to react to commercial opportunities 
when they arise which generates value for stakeholders in the 
long-term. 

average maturity at 31 March 2017 of 5.6 
years and an average credit margin of 
1.69% over floating Euribor/Libor. 

The Group’s net debt/EBITDA and  
interest cover ratios of 0.3 and 10.8  
times respectively, reflect the Group’s 
commitment to maintaining financial 
strength through a disciplined approach  
to balance sheet management.

Strategic linkage
This financial strategy continues to be a 
competitive advantage in terms of the 
Group’s relationships with our key suppliers 
and customers and in pursuing our 
acquisition and development strategy.  
It will remain an integral part of the Group’s 
overall strategy. 

The current year represented another year 
of strong cash generation which continues 
a record of significant cash conversion in 
the Group. Free cash flow (before interest 
and tax payments) in the current year of 
£415 million represented a cash flow 
conversion of operating profits into cash  
of 114%. Over the last 23 years since 
flotation, the Group has generated free 
cash flow (before interest and tax 
payments) of £3 billion reflecting growth  
in operating profits and a strong focus  
on working capital management and 
represents cash flow conversion of 
operating profits into cash of 104%  
over that period.

The Group aims to ensure that the 
allocation of capital to both organic 
activities and acquisitions is performed in  
a sustainable way, having consideration for 
shareholders’ expectation of returns whilst 
maintaining the robustness of our balance 
sheet. The current year saw £685 million of 
committed acquisition and development 
capital expenditure.

The Group’s financial position remains very 
strong. At 31 March 2017 the Group had net 
debt of £122 million and total equity of £1.5 
billion. At the same time, the Group had 
cash resources, net of overdrafts of £973 
million and has access to a revolving credit 
facility of £400 million which currently 
remains undrawn. Outstanding term debt 
which has been raised substantially in the 
US Private Placement market had an 

Strategy in Action
Group

Read more:  
Strategy on pages 2 and 3

Financial discipline

27DCC plc  Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Supplementary 
InformationFinancial StatementsGovernanceStrategic Report



28 DCC plc  Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Strategic Report

Acquisition of  
Esso Norway
What we did in 2017

In February 2017, DCC Energy announced that agreement had 
been reached to acquire Esso‘s retail petrol station network in 
Norway for a consideration of NOK 2.43 billion (c.£235 million).  
This is DCC Energy’s second major acquisition from Esso,  
following on from the acquisition of the Esso Express and  
Esso Motorway network sites in France in 2015. 

Strategic linkage
DCC Energy’s strategy is to expand  
its retail petrol station business by  
building positions in new geographies,  
with strong local market shares. DCC 
Energy is leveraging its retail hub and  
spoke business model to facilitate this 
geographic expansion while maintaining 
low cost operations. The acquisition of 
Esso’s retail petrol station network in 
Norway is a further step in the achievement 
of this strategy. On completion of the 
acquisition, DCC Energy will operate 
c. 1,000 retail petrol stations across Europe 
and supply c. 2,000 dealer-owned stations. 

1 �Estimate based on Wood MacKenzie 
market data

The Esso network in Norway comprises 142 
company-operated sites and has contracts 
to supply a further 108 Esso-branded 
dealer owned stations, selling over 600 
million litres of fuel per annum in total.  
The network is the third largest in Norway 
with approximately 20%1 of retail volumes.  
As part of the transaction, DCC Energy  
will enter into long-term brand and supply 
agreements with Esso Norge AS. 

DCC Energy’s retail hub, based in Drogheda 
(just north of Dublin), will be used for the 
majority of the key functions (including 
pricing and procurement) for the business, 
when the acquisition completes, which is 
expected to take place in the final calendar 
quarter of 2017. This will facilitate the 
separation of the business from the 
integrated Esso systems on which it 
currently operates, building on DCC‘s lean  
and efficient operational infrastructure 
specifically designed for the integration  
of the Esso Express and Esso Motorway 
networks in France. 

Strategy in Action
DCC Energy

Read more:  
Strategy on pages 2 and 3

Market leading 
positions

Extend our 
geographic footprint
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“DCC Energy’s strategy is to  
expand its retail petrol station 
business by building positions  

in new geographies, with strong 
local market shares.”
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Organic sales growth  
in Fuel Card Services

Read more:  
Strategy on pages 2 and 3

What we did in 2017

DCC Energy’s Fuel Card business continues to generate significant 
year on year organic growth with volumes in 2017 exceeding  
1 billion litres for the first time. As an authorised reseller of branded 
fuel cards, including BP, Shell, Esso and Texaco, the organic growth 
has been primarily derived from Britain’s small to medium 
enterprise (SME) sector.

Strategic linkage
DCC Energy’s strategy is to build a business 
with strong local market shares, operating 
under multiple brands and generating high 
returns on capital employed. The organic 
growth which Fuel Card Services has 
generated, augmented by selective 
acquisition growth, has resulted in the 
business volumes growing from 150 million 
litres and achieving market share of 
approximately 14% in 2017. The business 
has a high return on capital and generates 
excellent returns for shareholders. 

When DCC acquired Fuel Card Services in  
2005, annual volumes were approximately 
150 million litres from a customer base of 
6,400 customers. In the year to March 2017, 
volumes exceeded 1 billion litres from 
56,000 customers. This growth has been 
achieved through a combination of organic 
and acquisition growth, driving high levels 
of return on capital employed.

Ongoing investment in people and  
systems is the driving force behind the 
growth. Customer Relationship Management 
(CRM) and Business Intelligence (BI) 
systems are continually updated to support 
the business, as the portfolio of products  
and value added services is expanded  
to meet the expectations of an  
increasingly sophisticated and  
tech-savvy customer base.

The business has developed a range of 
customer services including emissions 
monitoring, fleet management & mileage 
recording, card protection and full online 
account access. These services, combined 
with fresh, innovative marketing, support 
organic growth in the business while also 
helping the specialist retentions teams  
to minimise customer churn.

Market leading 
positions

Financial discipline

Strategy in Action
DCC Energy
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“Ongoing investment in people 
and systems is the driving  
force behind the growth.” 
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Read more:  
Strategy on pages 2 and 3

Operational 
excellence

DCC Vital leverages its 
operational excellence

Since the launch in November 2016, 
impressive results are already being 
realised, including securing a solus 
long-term supply deal with the HSE for 
‘CervicalCheck’ – Ireland’s National Cervical 
Screening Programme. Replacing the 
previous incumbent of seven years, Fannin 
Direct exclusively supplies a range of 
vaginal specula to over 1,500 GP practices 
in Ireland, providing a strong platform for 
building customer relationships, up-selling 
and basket expansion. 

Strategic linkage
The quick turnaround and low cost to serve, 
while leveraging Williams’ operational 
excellence in both e-commerce and 
logistics and accessing its extensive 
product portfolio has allowed DCC Vital  
to quickly launch a competitive offering, 
targeting a new channel in a market where  
it already enjoys a strong reputation 
through Fannin. 

Fannin has a long-established heritage  
of supplying medical products to hospitals 
in Ireland. Williams is the leading supplier of 
medical goods and services to the primary 
care sector in Britain, serving more than 
9,000 GP surgeries, commissioning groups 
and corporate healthcare providers. 
Combining the brand equity and operational 
strengths of the respective businesses, this 
new venture has enabled a broadly based, 
customer centric proposition to be quickly 
rolled out to the Irish primary care sector. 
Utilising the expertise of the commercial 
team in Williams, a new dedicated 
e-commerce platform for the Irish market 
has been established with all marketing  
and product range selection undertaken 
in-house. Dedicated sales staff in Williams 
proactively target customers with 
outbound calls, while inbound enquiries 
from Ireland are seamlessly routed to the 
contact centre in Wales. Orders are shipped 
directly from Williams’ dedicated 72,000 sq ft 
primary care distribution centre and 
received by customers in Ireland within just 
two working days.

Strategy in Action
DCC Healthcare

What we did in 2017

Williams Medical Supplies (‘Williams’) based in Wales and  
Fannin in Ireland have teamed up to create ‘Fannin Direct’,  
a new e-commerce platform specifically designed to address  
the Irish primary care market.
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 “Leveraging Williams’ operational 
excellence in both e-commerce and 

logistics and accessing its extensive 
product portfolio has allowed DCC Vital to 

quickly launch a competitive offering.”
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Acquisition of Hammer 
broadens the DCC 
Technology portfolio
What we did in 2017

In December 2016, DCC Technology acquired Hammer, a specialist 
distributor of server and storage solutions to resellers in the UK  
and Continental Europe.

In the period since acquisition, Hammer  
and Exertis have extended their vendor 
portfolio in the server and storage space 
and have taken advantage of cross selling 
opportunities between the two sets of 
customers, leading to strong revenue  
and operating profit growth. Further 
development opportunities are being 
identified.

Strategic linkage
The acquisition of Hammer is an excellent 
fit and has helped to extend the footprint of 
DCC Technology for key server and storage 
products. In addition, it has strengthened 
our leading position in the UK market and 
helped to bring more product and customer 
balance to the business.

Based in Basingstoke, Hampshire and 
employing 165 people, Hammer distributes 
server and storage products for a broad 
range of leading suppliers including Dell, 
Intel, NetApp, Seagate and Western  
Digital. The business is heavily service led, 
providing bespoke product design and build 
solutions tailored to the requirements of 
customers in specific industries. Hammer 
sells to value added resellers, cloud service 
providers and system integrators from 
sales offices in the UK, France, Germany, 
Sweden, the Netherlands and Belgium and 
is particularly focused on vertical markets 
including media, financial services  
and security. 

Hammer’s business is complementary  
to Exertis’ existing server and storage 
business, significantly strengthening 
Exertis’ supplier portfolio and adding almost 
1,000 reseller customers. The acquisition 
also provides Exertis with an experienced 
and ambitious management team who have 
remained in place to drive growth in the 
business within the Exertis group.

Strategy in Action
DCC Technology

Read more:  
Strategy on pages 2 and 3

Market leading 
positions

Extend our 
geographic footprint
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“The acquisition of Hammer is an  
excellent fit and has helped to extend the 

footprint of DCC Technology for key 
server and storage products.”



36 DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Strategic Report

Operating Review  
DCC Energy

Powering growth
 

 
petrol station market.

What we do The DCC Energy Value Chain

Our suppliers

LPG Retail & Oil

Our customers

Domestic Agriculture Commercial/
forecourts

Customers of 
DCC retail 
forecourt

Aviation

of unmanned retail petrol stations in Europe 

 

 

Key Brands
LPG Brands

Retail Brands

Fuel Card Brands

Oil Brands

Texaco, Top Oil* (in Austria).

DCC Energy’s activities are highlighted in purple

Outbound logistics Outbound logistics
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DCC Energy’s principal operating locations are highlighted in purple

Operating profit split

Where we do it

–– Strong health and safety ethos, delivering potentially hazardous 
products safely and reliably.

–– Passionate, experienced and committed team of people.
–– Customer focused.
–– Quality of service at competitive prices.
–– Scale provides security of supply and ability to tailor contracts  

to customers’ requirements.

How we create value

BRITAIN

No.1
Market leader in 
oil distribution

No.2
In LPG market

Leading operator  
of unmanned 
retail petrol 
stations

Leading reseller 
of fuel cards

IRELAND

No.2
In LPG market

Leading player in 
oil distribution

Leading operator  
of unmanned 
retail petrol 
stations

FRANCE

No.2
In LPG market

Leading operator  
of unmanned 
retail petrol 
stations

SWEDEN

No.1
LPG market 
leader

No.1
Market leader  
in oil

Leading operator  
of unmanned 
retail petrol 
stations

NORWAY

No.1
LPG market 
leader

THE NETHERLANDS

No.1
LPG joint  
market leader

LPG

63%

Retail  
& Oil

37%
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13.0bn litres*

14.6bn litres

2016

2017

1.61 pence

1.74 pence

2016

2017

£313.3m

£381.5m

2016

2017

£205.2m

£254.9m

2016

2017

24.4%

21.6%

2016

2017

18.6%

20.2%

2016

2017

Operating Review continued 
DCC Energy continued

1.74 pence

Return on capital employed

£381.5m

Volumes

Drive increase in sales volumes

14.6bn litres £254.9m

Performance for the  
Year Ended 31 March 2017

 

 

customers. 

LPG

gas volumes becoming more material during 



39DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Supplementary 
InformationFinancial StatementsGovernanceStrategic Report

Retail & Oil

 
 

business continues to invest in building its 

Markets and Market Position
LPG

commercial, domestic, agricultural and 
industrial customers across seven countries 

no natural gas grid for agricultural and 

fuel (autogas), as an aerosol propellant and 

supplies natural gas to industrial, commercial, 
agricultural and domestic customers in 

BritainIreland

Continental 
Europe

LPG – France

 

 
 

 

 
and operating infrastructure.

Natural Gas – France

retailer of natural gas and focuses on 

 
 

and ambitious management team. 

LPG – Britain 

position as a distributor of natural gas to 

LPG – Ireland 

Natural Gas & Electricity – Ireland

business is a leading supplier of natural gas to 

Rollout of the Gulf brand in Britain
DCC Energy has been actively rolling out the Gulf brand in Britain. This Gulf site in Ravensthorpe is one of 475 
Gulf branded sites across the country.
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LPG – the Netherlands 

market leader. Operating from one central 

industrial, agricultural and domestic 

LPG – Sweden & Norway 
 

 

 

addressable market is estimated to be 

LPG – Hong Kong & Macau

 

consents and operating licence approvals. 

 

domestic, commercial and industrial 

Retail & Oil
Retail

Retail – France

 

to our retail business. 

Retail – Sweden 
 

operated retail petrol stations trading under 

Retail – Denmark 

 

consumers across Denmark. 

BritainIreland

Continental 
Europe

Retail – Norway

 

 

 

 

 
 

 

Fuel Card 
 

 

 
are an essential tool for commercial 

costs, DCC also provides an innovative range 

minimise spend on transport fuels.

Oil 

retail, domestic, agricultural, industrial, 

portfolio of leading brands in Europe. 

Operating Review continued 
DCC Energy continued
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Oil – Britain 

commercial, industrial, domestic, agricultural 

 

Oil – Continental Europe 

 

addressable oil distribution market in Austria is 

addressable oil distribution market is estimated 

Oil – Ireland 
 

Strategy and Development

and related products and provision of services 

• 

• 

• 

• selling a broad range of related products 

• 

• 

•  

DCC Energy’s Sectoral Strategies
LPG

• 

• 

• 

•  

• 

• 

 

also seek to expand into related product 

 
 

Retail & Oil 
 

distribution of fuels and related products and 

Retail

•  
station market

 
 

 

• 

• 

Oil

• continue to consolidate existing oil 

• 

• 

• 

 

Our experienced local management teams  
 

selling fuel cards to our broad oil distribution 
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‘CO
2

 

to consolidate existing markets, driving 

services to its extensive customer base.

 

marine and aviation sectors. 

Customers 

commercial, retail, industrial, domestic, 

Commercial  
and industrial

Commercial  
and industrial

Agricultural

Agricultural & other

Marine

Other

Domestic

Domestic

Retail

Retail

Suppliers 

Our People 

engagement of our people across all areas  

 
 

businesses operate. As our businesses  
 

experienced personnel in senior roles and  

Health & Safety 

focused on driving continuous improvement 

performance, including near miss reporting, 

initiative focused on improving attitudes and 

Key Risks 

and environmental standards is one of our 
 

 

drive continued improvement and maintain 
momentum. 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• track record of margin management

strong and sustainable returns on its invested 

Operating Review continued 
DCC Energy continued



43DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Supplementary 
InformationFinancial StatementsGovernanceStrategic Report

management development.

Environment 

include levies and taxes on carbon emissions, 

committed to assisting our customers to 

 
 

Retail propositions

unmanned Esso Express proposition, a large 

and provide a range of services to fuel 

 

 

Brand investment
 

 

continue to undertake in performance fuels 

LPG cylinders
 

innovative solutions, enabling customers to 

carbon emissions. 

facilities in coastal locations, a range of controls 

immediate action is taken to contain and 

 

 

 Segmental Reporting
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Operating Review continued 
DCC Healthcare

 
geographic horizons

What we do

care and general practitioners.  

 
 

of specialist services including 
product development, formulation, 
manufacturing and packaging.

Where we do it

Principal operating locations based in Britain & Ireland, servicing domestic and international customers

 

 

  

 
customer service.

 

How we create valueSales split

DCC Vital

DCC Health 
& Beauty 

Solutions
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The DCC Healthcare Value Chain

DCC Vital 
DCC Vital markets and sells medical and 

Key Brands (own and third party)

Our suppliers

licence products

Our Activities

Our customers

  

DCC Vital’s activities are highlighted in teal

and distribution development
Vendor 

management management and 
logistics services

DCC Health & Beauty 
Solutions 

 
 

including product development, formulation, 
manufacturing and packaging. 

Key Brands 

Target, Treaclemoon and Vitabiotics.

DCC Health & Beauty’s activities are highlighted in teal

Our services

Our customers

  Direct sales/ 
mail order companies
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Operating Review continued 
DCC Healthcare continued

9.2%

9.7%

2016

2017

Operating margin

17.1%

17.5%

2016

2017

Return on capital employed

£53.6m

£56.6m

2016

2017

£56.6m

15.1%

14.0%

2016

2017

 

£490.7m

£506.5m

2016

2017

Revenue growth

£506.5m

£45.0m

£49.0m

2016

2017

£49.0m

Performance for the  
Year Ended 31 March 2017

business again improved its operating margin 
and continues to generate excellent returns 

investment in sales and product 
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Markets and Market Position

distribution to healthcare providers
DCC Vital markets and sells a broad  

DCC Vital sells a broad range of medical 

 
 

 
 

use in nature. 

 

sales of consumable products, for example, 

DCC Vital represents leading medical, surgical 

manufacture, marketing and sales of generic 

lactam antibiotics including penicillin V, 

 

international distributors. 

 

 

manufacturing partners.

procurement, sales and marketing of 

and sale of exempt medicinal products 

 

based on excellent customer service and a 

 

Growing our own brands
During the last 12 months DCC Vital brought to market and launched a number of new own licence  
branded generics.
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Operating Review continued 
DCC Healthcare continued

 

 

 

DCC Vital is also a leading provider of value 

innovative stock management and distribution 

 

 
 

 

beta lactam antibiotics, electrodes and 
 

 

 

outsourcing activities deemed to be 
 

manufacturers and distributors. 

DCC Health & Beauty Solutions – services 
for health and beauty brand owners

 

customer base of international and local 

 

manufacturing and packing. 

 

Consumer interest in looking and feeling good 
is driving demand for innovative nutrition and 

and marketing activities (including product 
 

 

Our main competitors include Catalent, 

Strategy and Development

 

distribution to healthcare providers

 
 

 
value added products and an increasing 

and increased returns on capital. 
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• 

 
can deliver sustainable returns over  

• 

 

government policies to seek to treat 

• 

 

Own 
brand

Third party

DCC Health & Beauty Solutions –  
services for health and beauty  
brand owners

• 
 

•  

• 

• 

 

development, product development and 
 

 

Nutritional
Healthcare 

creams & liquids

Beauty

Customers

 

distributors. 

providing services to a broad customer base 

consumed in international markets outside 

 
base and its ten largest customers account 

HospitalsPrimary care

Pharma retail/ 
wholesale

Suppliers
 

 

markets. DCC Vital represents leading medical, 
surgical and diagnostics device brands 
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Operating Review continued 
DCC Healthcare continued

Our People

 

teams. Developing and investing in our 

 

 

 
on driving performance improvement in 

 

business environment and continue to  
deliver value. 

management across all our business are 

including participating in regular management 

Key Risks
 

 

 

 

 

 

supplier and customer base and our 
constant focus on providing a value added 
service ensures excellent commercial 

product portfolio and expanded customer 
 

Environment 

 
of our customers monitor our progress in 

 
are sourced from sustainable sources and 

 

 
use and costs. Our contract manufacturing 
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development, formulation, contract 

support. 

 

and international revenues almost tripling 

 

based customers, and provides local 

international customer base accounts for 

 

development, and manufacturing and 
 

based facilities.
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Operating Review continued 
DCC Technology

Partnerships  
driving growth 

What we do The DCC Technology Value Chain

Our suppliers

 
and manufacturers

Our services

 
a broad range of consumer and 

 
and services to retail and reseller 
customers in Europe. 

Key Brands
Acer, Apple, Asus, Cisco, Corsair, Dell, Epson, 

 

DCC Technology’s activities are highlighted in red

positioning
of products

management, including 
import/export

 

management

Etailers Value added 
resellers



53DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Supplementary 
InformationFinancial StatementsGovernanceStrategic Report

Where we do it

  
customer base across a number of countries.

 Excellent supplier portfolio.
 
 

suppliers.
 
 

How we create value

 

ranking of distributors of 

SWEDEN

No.3

UK AND IRELAND

No.1

FRANCE

No.7

EUROPE

No.4

UAE

UK & Ireland

Supply Chain 
Services

Continental 
Europe

DCC Technology’s principal operating locations are highlighted in red
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£2,441.7m

£2,689.1m

2016

2017

1.4%

1.5%

2016

2017

£20.9m

£81.8m

2016

2017

£35.1m

£41.1m

2016

2017

17.8%

17.1%

2016

2017

8.2%

7.5%

2016

2017

Operating Review continued 
DCC Technology continued

Operating margin Return on capital employed

£81.8m

Revenue growth

£41.1m

Performance for the  
Year Ended 31 March 2017

for computing and mobile products. 

consumer storage and navigation products, 
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continues to invest in its global service 
 

Markets and Market Position

 
sell a range of consumer and business 

computing products (including tablets, 

products, communications products 

and consumables. 

customisation and cross supplier bundling, 

interpretation of relevant data from across 

designed to deliver cost, capital and 

partners.

specialist distributor of server and storage 

server and storage products for a broad 

addition, it provides product design and build 

sells to value added resellers, cloud service 

existing server and storage business, 

infrastructure.

Strategy and Development

• 

• 

•  

services.

continuing to develop value added services. 

DCC Technology is a leading supplier of gaming and virtual reality products.
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Customers

Exertis seeks to provide an excellent 

delivering an exceptional route to market for 

 

Computing

Communications & mobile
Consumer electronics
Services
Audio visual
Server & storage 
Gaming hardware 
Consumables 
Other 

electronics companies, telecommunications 

Suppliers

communicated to our suppliers in our ‘Code 

Our People

demands of suppliers and customers. 

At senior management level, our operating 

 
Exertis seeks to foster and maintain an 

maintained.

Exertis is committed to conducting its 

order to determine areas for improvement. 

 

 
 

mobile talent pool at graduate level.

Operating Review continued 
DCC Technology continued
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Key Risks
Exertis faces a number of strategic, 

 

 

 
 

being taken.

around management retention.

across a range of product areas, bringing 

and Continental Europe. 

travel retail and domestic retail clients, 
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Responsible Business Report

Creating  
sustainable value

Introduction

 

annual reports. 

 
in relation to, at a minimum, environmental, 

 

 

processes to manage material issues, 

 
arise as a result of our business activities  

develop appropriate additional policies or 

Safety
 

 

 

practice and develop appropriate standards in 

All businesses maintain appropriate  

individual businesses and divisions use a 
range of leading and lagging performance 

controls in place.

Performance
All incidents are recorded and assessed to 

 
 

 

23
27

39
36

42

1.71.91.7
1.9

1.6

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

Number of lost time injuries 
per 200,000 hours worked (LTIFR)

Number of calendar days lost 
per 200,000 hours worked (LTISR)

60

40

20

4

2

6

Process Safety
 

 
 

a process (e.g. unloading, storage, loading  

maintenance and performance monitoring 
processes. All directors and senior executives 

 

 
and performance measures.
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People

 

processes to monitor our performance in  

DCC Energy 49%

DCC Technology 22%

DCC Healthcare 18%

DCC Environmental 10%

DCC Corporate 1%

69

1,100

2,484

1,984 5,407

UK 72%

Continental Europe 17%

Ireland 10%

Other  1%

73

1,921 7,928

1,122

Talent Development 

 

 
to management development and 
succession planning ensures a continuous 

business needs. 

DCC encourages and supports talent 

 
 

value for our businesses. 

Senior Leadership Talent

complex, larger scale operations and build an 

 

 
of our senior executives.

International Leadership Pipeline 

 
and cross cultural skills needed to operate 

 

 

opportunities continues to expand. 

Graduates
 

 
 

 

Local Skills Based Training Support 
Our operating companies conduct local 

 
on driving performance improvement  

 

 

and continue to deliver value. 

 
in our organisation.

Diversity and Equal Opportunity

 
All recruitment, selection and promotion 
decisions are made on individual merit,  

 

 

 

female talent across all sectors of our business, 
 

 

 

 

Rewarding Employees Fairly

 
and individual performance targets.

 

Gender diversity

Group

Senior Management

Board

68%32%F M

78%22%F M

70%30%F M
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Responsible Business Report continued

 

Environment

 

from manufacturing processes is managed  
to ensure appropriate treatment and 

 
Oil businesses, oil spills and leaks present  

Continuous investment in infrastructure  

and remediation activities are undertaken  
to contain and remove contamination.

 

consumption leads to reduced carbon 
emissions and cost savings. 

Climate Change

 

 

 

Carbon Emissions

due to a combination of factors including 

 

emissions in absolute terms.

 

Performance

23

124

24

127

26

128

23

120

21

118

91 92 91 86 87

10 11 11 11 10

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

150

120

90

60

30

0

On-site fuel use (Scope 1)

Company transport (Scope 1)

Electricity (Scope 2)

2e emissions  

9.5

11.3
11.9

11.311.8

2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

6

3

0

9

12

15

 
2

As part of a strategic initiative to attain 

distribution of fuel products. 
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Respect for Human Rights
DCC is committed to conducting all our 

• 

• 

• 
preventative controls to ensure, insofar as 

 
do not arise. 

 

Anti-Bribery and Corruption

 

 

 

 

trends for future business.

 
ups, for example in commercialisation, 
testing, communication support and  
focus groups. 

 

 
an innovative and entrepreneurial mindset 

 

 

 
arrives to collect it. 

• 

• 
 

 

Society
DCC businesses support local communities 
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Chairman’s Introduction

John Moloney
Chairman

Dear Shareholder,

The Board of DCC is committed to ensuring 
that high standards of corporate governance  
prevail at all levels of the DCC Group. We 
believe that good governance is key to the 
continuing success of DCC.

On behalf of the Board of DCC, I am  
pleased to report full compliance with  
the 2014 version of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code (‘the Code’), which applied 
to DCC for the year ended 31 March 2017.  
In April 2016, the Financial Reporting Council 
(‘FRC’) issued an updated version of the Code 
which applies to accounting periods beginning 
on or after 17 June 2016. The Nomination 
and Governance Committee and the Board 
have reviewed the new requirements in the 

able to comply fully with these requirements 
in the year ending March 2018.

Chief Executive Succession
On 5 April 2017, we announced that Tommy 
Breen, who became Chief Executive in May 
2008, has decided to retire from the Group 
after 32 years of service. He will stand down 
from his position and from the Board following 
the conclusion of DCC’s Annual General 
Meeting on 14 July 2017. Tommy will be 
succeeded by Donal Murphy, Executive Director 
and Managing Director of DCC Energy, DCC’s 
largest division. I would like to thank Tommy for 
his exceptional leadership as Chief Executive 
and his dedication and commitment to DCC 
since he joined the Group. Further detail on  
this change is set out in the Nomination and 
Governance Committee Report on page 74.

Board Changes 
On an ongoing basis, I seek to ensure we have 
the right balance of skills, knowledge and 
experience on the Board. 

Cormac McCarthy joined the Board on 16 May 

leadership experience to the Board table. 

Dr. Emma FitzGerald joined the Board on 
14 December 2016 and brings considerable 
experience as an executive and a non-
executive director of UK and international 
companies, especially in the energy sector.

David Byrne retired from the Board as  
a non-executive Director and Deputy 
Chairman and Senior Independent Director 
on 15 July 2016 and Róisín Brennan retired  
as a non-executive Director on 14 December 
2016. I would like to thank David and Róisín 
who contributed greatly to our Board over 
their tenures.

Board Diversity
The Board has a formal Board Diversity Policy 
in place and believes in the value of diversity  
of background, nationality and experience.

We are also conscious of the merits of gender 
diversity on the Board, which comprised 30% 
female Directors during the year under review. 

In 2017, the performance evaluation of the 
Board, its Committees and individual Directors 
was internally facilitated by Leslie Van de Walle, 
the Senior Independent Director, and myself. 

I am pleased to report that the results of  
the review were positive. A number of actions 
were agreed which will be implemented during 
the current year. All action items arising  
from the 2016 evaluation were substantially 
completed during the year ended 31 March 
2017. More information on this process  
can be found on page 72 of the Corporate 
Governance Statement.

Board Development
As part of their ongoing development, the 
non-executive Directors made a number of 
site visits to Group subsidiaries during the 
year ended March 2017, both on a group and 
individual basis. The Directors also undertook 
external training and development courses 
relevant to their roles as non-executive 
Directors and Committee members. 

The Directors are also encouraged to 
undertake training provided to Group 
management and employees, including in 
relation to the Group’s Business Conduct 
Guidelines and IT security.

Independence and Re-Election
There are currently seven non-executive 
Directors and three executive Directors on  
our Board. We recently conducted our annual 
review of the independence of non-executive 

non-executive Directors is independent. 
Further detail on the independence of 
non-executive Directors is set out on  
page 70.

As noted in the Code, the test is not 

independence requirements up to the  
date of my appointment as Chairman. 

In accordance with the Code and our practice, 
all of the Directors, with the exception of 
Tommy Breen, will be presenting themselves 
for re-election at the Annual General Meeting. 

Board Committees
Our Board Committees have continued to 

to 107, individual reports, introduced by the 
Chairman of each Committee, giving details 
of their activities during the year. 

Conclusion
I hope that the detailed information included 
in the following pages clearly demonstrates 
our commitment to ongoing excellence in 
corporate governance.

John Moloney
Chairman
15 May 2017

 “Maintaining high standards of corporate 
governance is aligned with our core values 
of excellence and integrity.”
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1 John Moloney (Irish) (Age 62) 
Non-executive Chairman
Chairman of the Nomination and Governance 
Committee
Member of the Remuneration Committee.

Joined the Board in February 2009 and appointed 
non-executive Chairman in September 2014. 

Mr. Moloney has extensive top management and 
board level experience internationally and 
domestically in the dairy, meat and nutritionals 
sectors, covering processing, marketing and 
distribution. He was Group Managing Director of 
Glanbia plc until November 2013, having previously 
held a number of roles with that organisation including 
CEO Agribusiness and CEO Food Ingredients. He also 
worked with the Department of Agriculture and Food 
and in the meat industry in Ireland. He is a former 
council member of the Irish Business and Employers 
Confederation. He currently serves as chairman of 
Coillte Teo (the Irish State Forestry Company) and  
is a non-executive director of Greencore Group plc, 

2 Tommy Breen (Irish) (Age 58) 
Chief Executive 

Joined the Board in February 2000.

Mr. Breen has worked for over 30 years across a broad 
range of sectors and businesses within the DCC 

experience of growing businesses organically and by 
acquisition. He joined DCC in 1985, having previously 
worked with KPMG, and has held a number of senior 
management positions within the Group, including 
Managing Director of the Energy, Technology and 
Environmental divisions. He was appointed Chief 

Group Managing Director in July 2007 and was 
appointed Chief Executive in May 2008. In April 2017, 
DCC announced Mr. Breen’s decision to retire from his 
position of Chief Executive and from the Board at the 
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting in July 2017. 
Mr. Breen is a non-executive director of Essentra plc.
 
3 Fergal O’Dwyer (Irish) (Age 57) 

Joined the Board in February 2000.

Mr. O’Dwyer has worked in DCC in senior 
management positions for over 27 years and during 

management, treasury, strategic, capital deployment 
and development matters. He joined DCC in 1989 

having worked in that role in the lead up to DCC’s 

previously worked with KPMG and Price Waterhouse 

4 Donal Murphy (Irish) (Age 51) 
Managing Director, DCC Energy

Joined the Board in December 2008.

Mr. Murphy joined DCC in 1998 and has held a 
number of senior leadership roles across the Group. 
He was Managing Director of DCC Technology prior 
to taking up his current role as Managing Director of 

growth of the Energy division and its transition from a 
small UK and Irish business to a substantial 
international business operating in ten countries. In 
April 2017, DCC announced that Mr. Murphy will 
succeed Mr. Breen as Chief Executive in July 2017, 
following Mr. Breen’s retirement. 

5 David Jukes (British) (Age 58)
Non-executive Director
Member of the Audit Committee

Joined the Board in March 2015.

Mr. Jukes has over 38 years of international chemical 
distribution experience. He currently serves as 

overall responsibility for managing Univar’s 
commercial and supply chain operations globally. Prior 
to this, he was Executive Vice President of Univar and 
President of Univar USA and Latin America (2016 to 
2017) and President of Univar EMEA and APAC (2011 
to 2016). From July 2009 to January 2011, Mr. Jukes 
served as Vice President, Sales and Marketing Univar 
EMEA and from 2002 to 2009 as Chief Executive of 
Distrupol Europe, Univar UK, Ireland and the Nordics. 
Prior to joining Univar, Mr. Jukes was Senior Vice 
President of Global Sales, Marketing and Industry 
Relations for Omnexus, a plastics industry consortium 
e-commerce platform and VP Business 
Development for Ellis & Everard Plc.

6 Pamela Kirby (British) (Age 63)
Non-executive Director
Member of the Remuneration Committee
Member of the Nomination and Governance 
Committee

Joined the Board in September 2013.

international healthcare sector, having worked in the 
pharmaceutical industry for more than 25 years. She 
held senior UK and global management positions in 

where she was Director of Global Strategic 
Marketing. Dr. Kirby is also a former CEO of Quintiles 
Transnational Corporation in the USA. She is 
currently a non-executive director of Victrex plc, 
Hikma Pharmaceuticals plc, Reckitt Benckiser Group 
plc and a member of the supervisory board of Akzo 
Nobel N.V. She was previously a non-executive 
director of Novo Nordisk A/S, Informa plc and Smith 
and Nephew plc. 

7 Jane Lodge (British) (Age 62)
Non-executive Director
Chairman of the Audit Committee

Joined the Board in October 2012.

Ms. Lodge was a senior audit partner with Deloitte, 
where she spent over 25 years advising multinational 
manufacturing companies including businesses in 
the food and automotive sectors. Her extensive 
experience with manufacturing companies and her 
strategic work with Deloitte has given her a strong 
international business perspective. She has very 

Committee. She was a member of the CBI 
Manufacturing Council until 2011. She is currently a 
non-executive director of Devro plc, Costain Group 
PLC and Sirius Minerals plc and of a number of private 
companies.

8 Leslie Van De Walle (French) (Age 61)
Non-executive Director 
Senior independent Director
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
Member of the Audit Committee
Member of the Nomination and Governance 
Committee

Joined the Board in November 2010.

Mr. Van de Walle has a very wide range of international 
senior management business experience, as well as 
experience as a non-executive director, in the oil and 
gas sector, in the food and drinks industry, in 
manufacturing, in building materials and in the 
insurance sector. He is a former Chief Executive 

senior executive roles in Royal Dutch Shell plc, 
including Executive Vice President of Retail for Oil 
Products and Head of Oil Products, Shell Europe. He 
has also held senior management positions with 
Cadbury Schweppes plc and United Biscuits plc 
where he was CEO. He is currently non-executive 
Chairman of SIG plc and Robert Walters plc, and is  
a former non-executive director of Cape plc (2012  
to 2015) and Aviva plc.

9 Cormac McCarthy (Irish) (Age 54)
Non-executive Director
Member of the Audit Committee

Joined the Board in May 2016.

Paddy Power plc, an international multi-channel 
betting and gaming group, having joined the 
company in 2011 as a non-executive director and 
being appointed CFO in 2012. Following the 
successful completion of the merger of Paddy Power 
plc and Betfair Group plc, he stepped down as CFO of 
Paddy Power plc in February 2016. Mr. McCarthy was 
previously Chief Executive of Ulster Bank (a subsidiary 
of Royal Bank of Scotland) from 2004 to 2011, during 
which time he also served in various roles within Royal 
Bank of Scotland, including Deputy Chief Executive of 
their retail division in the UK (2010 to 2011) and Chief 
Executive of their retail and commercial division in 
Europe and the Middle East (2007 to 2009). He is 
chairman of University College Dublin Foundation 
Limited. 

10 Emma FitzGerald (British) (Age 50)
Non-executive Director
Member of the Remuneration Committee

Joined the Board in December 2016.

Dr. FitzGerald is an executive director of Severn  
Trent plc since April 2016, with responsibility for 
Wholesale operations. She was previously CEO of  
Gas Distribution at National Grid plc (2013 to 2015). 
Prior to joining National Grid, she had a 20-year 
career with Royal Dutch Shell plc, where she held a 
variety of general management roles in China, Asia 
and Europe. These included the positions of Vice 
President Global Retail Network, Shell International, 
Managing Director, Shell China/Hong Kong 
Lubricants and Managing Director, Shell Gas UK 
(LPG). She is also an association member of BUPA 
and a member of the International Advisory Panel of 

Government. Until December 2015, she was a 
non-executive director of Alent plc (2012 to 2015), 
formerly Cookson Group plc (2011 to 2012). 
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Senior Management

Group

Chief Executive Tommy Breen*

Fergal O’Dwyer

Company Secretary & Head of Enterprise Risk Management Ger Whyte

Managing Director, DCC Corporate Finance

Head of Group HR Nicola McCracken 

Peter Quinn

Head of Group Finance Kevin Lucey

Head of Group Accounting Gavin O’Hara

Head of Group Legal & Compliance Darragh Byrne

Head of Group Internal Audit Stephen Johnston

Head of Group Sustainability John Barcroft 

Head of Group Tax 

Head of Group Treasury Niall Kelly

DCC Energy

Managing Director Donal Murphy*

Managing Director, LPG Henry Cubbon

Managing Director, Retail & Fuel Card Eddie O’Brien

Managing Director, Development and Oil Europe Clive Fitzharris

Finance Director Conor Murphy

LPG

Managing Director, Butagaz Emmanuel Trivin

Managing Director, Flogas Britain Lee Gannon

Managing Director, Flogas Ireland John Rooney

Managing Director, Flogas Scandinavia Jan Wahlqvist

Managing Director, Benegas Bauke van Kalsbeek

Retail & Oil

Managing Director, Certas Energy UK Steve Taylor

Managing Director, Fuel Card Services Steve Chesworth

Managing Director, Certas Energy France Laurent de Seré

Managing Director, DCC Energi Danmark Christian Heise

Managing Director, Qstar Retail Maria Hadd 

Managing Director, Energie Direct (Austria & Bavaria) Hans-Peter Hintermayer

Managing Director, Swea Energi Maria Hadd

Managing Director, Oil Ireland Martin Clancy

Managing Director, Card Network Solutions Ben Jordan

*  As announced on 5 April 2017, Tommy Breen will retire at the conclusion of DCC’s Annual General Meeting on 14 July 2017 and will be succeeded 
as Chief Executive by Donal Murphy.
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DCC Healthcare 

Managing Director Conor Costigan

Finance & Development Director Redmond McEvoy

Managing Director, DCC Vital Harry Keenan 

Managing Director, DCC Health & Beauty Solutions Stephen O’Connor

DCC Technology

Managing Director Niall Ennis

Finance & Development Director Stephen Casey

Managing Director, Exertis UK & Ireland

Managing Director, Exertis Continental Europe Patrice Arzillier

Managing Director, Exertis Supply Chain Services Neal Johnston

DCC Environmental 

Managing Director Tom Walsh

Managing Director, DCC Environmental Britain and William Tracey Michael Tracey

Managing Director, Wastecycle Paul Needham

Managing Director, Oakwood John MacNamara

Managing Director, Enva Ireland Simon Dick
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Remuneration 
Committee

Nomination  
and Governance 

Committee

Audit 
Committee

Senior
Management 

Group

Executive 
Risk Committee

Board of Directors

Chief Executive

UK 5

Ireland 5

Ireland 50%

UK 50%

British 4

French 1

Irish 5

Irish 50%

British 40%

French 10%

Governance

Corporate Governance Statement 

This statement describes DCC’s governance principles  
and practices.

governance practices were subject to the 2014 version of the  
UK Corporate Governance Code, which was issued by the FRC  
in September 2014 (‘the Code’).

This statement details how DCC has applied the principles  
and complied with the provisions set out in the Code.  

The Board of Directors
Role
The Board of DCC currently comprises the 
non-executive Chairman, six other non-
executive Directors and three executive 
Directors, including the Chief Executive. It is 
collectively responsible for the long-term 
success of the Group. Its role is to provide 
leadership, to oversee management and  
to ensure that the Company provides  
its stakeholders with a balanced and 
understandable assessment of the  
Group’s current position and prospects.

The Board’s leadership responsibilities,  
in the interest of delivering long-term  
value to shareholders, involve working with 
management to set corporate values and  
to develop strategy, including deciding  
which risks it is prepared to take in pursuing 
its strategic objectives. Its oversight 
responsibilities involve it in constructively 
challenging the management team in 
relation to operational aspects of the 
business, including approval of budgets,  
and probing whether risk management  
and internal controls are sound. It is also 
responsible for ensuring that accurate,  
timely and understandable information is 
provided about the Group to shareholders, 
debt providers and regulators.

The Board has delegated responsibility  
for management of the Group to the Chief 
Executive and his executive management 
team. The main areas where decisions 
remain with the Board are summarised  
on page 69.

The Board has delegated some of its 
responsibilities to Committees of the Board. 
The composition and activities of these 
Committees are detailed in their individual 
reports on pages 73 to 107. The Board 
receives reports at its meetings from the 
Chairmen of each of the Committees on 
their current activities.

A clear division of responsibility exists 
between the Chairman, who is non-
executive, and the Chief Executive. Each of 
their responsibilities have been set out in 
writing and have been approved by the Board.

There is an established procedure for 
Directors to take independent professional 
advice in the furtherance of their duties,  
if they consider this necessary.

Nationality of Directors 
(as at 31 March 2017)

Geographic location of Directors 
(as at 31 March 2017)

DCC plc – Corporate Governance Framework
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Schedule of Matters Reserved  
for the Board
The Schedule of Matters Reserved for Board 
Decision is regularly reviewed to ensure it 
meets with current best practice. 

The schedule includes the matters set  
out below:

• Group strategy.

• Annual budget.

• Oversight of the Group’s operations.

• Interim and annual accounts.

• Major acquisitions and disposals.

• 

• Approval of changes to the Group’s 
capital structure.

• Appointment of Directors.

• Dividend policy and dividends.

• Treasury policy.

• Risk management policy.

Chairman
The Chairman’s primary responsibility is  
to lead the Board, to ensure that it has a 

 
and at individual Director level and that it 
upholds and promotes high standards of 
integrity, probity and corporate governance. 

The Chairman is the link between the  

responsible for establishing and maintaining 

 
and appropriate communications with 
shareholders and for ensuring that members 
of the Board develop and maintain an 
understanding of the views of shareholders. 

having consulted with the other Directors 
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman 
sets a schedule of Board and Committee 
meetings to be held in the following two 
years, which includes the key agenda items 
for each meeting. Further details on these 
agenda items are outlined below under 
‘Board Meetings’.

Senior Independent Director
The duties of the Senior Independent Director 
are set out in writing and formally approved by 
the Board. 

The Senior Independent Director chairs 
meetings of the Board if the Chairman is 

agenda item. He also leads the annual Board 
evaluation process, as detailed under ‘Board 
Performance Evaluation’ on page 72.

The Senior Independent Director is available 
to shareholders who may have concerns that 
cannot be addressed through the Chairman 
or Chief Executive.

Company Secretary
The Directors have access to the advice  
and services of the Company Secretary, 
whose responsibilities include ensuring that 
Board procedures are followed, assisting  
the Chairman in relation to corporate 
governance matters and ensuring 
compliance by the Company with its  
legal and regulatory requirements. 

Board Meetings
A schedule of Board and Committee 
meetings is circulated to the Board for  
the following two years, which includes the 
key agenda items for each meeting. Board 
papers are circulated electronically in the 
week preceding the meeting. During the  
year ended 31 March 2017, the Board held 
ten meetings, one of which was held at  
a subsidiary location. The Board meeting 
held in February 2017 was combined with a 
visit to Exertis UK’s new National Distribution 
Centre facility in Altham, UK. 

Individual attendance at Board meetings  
and attendance at Committee meetings is 
set out in the table below. There is regular 
contact as required between meetings in 
order to progress the Group’s business. 
The key recurrent Board agenda themes  
are divided into normal business (including 
trading performance, investor relations, 
human resources, IT, health & safety, and  
risk matters) and developmental issues 
(including strategy, acquisitions, sectoral  
and divisional reviews, succession planning, 
management talent development and 
Directors’ education). The Board also 
conducts a detailed review of post-
acquisition business performance.

A two-day Board meeting each December  
is principally focused on strategy and 
three-year plans. During the year under 
review, the Board devoted substantial time 
outside its December meeting to strategic 
development issues, including in Energy an 

of the Oil Distribution, LPG and Fuel Card  
& Retail operations and overall strategy 
updates in Healthcare and in Technology. 

agenda item on succession planning and 
management talent development. Against  
a template agreed by the Chief Executive  
and the Nomination and Governance 
Committee, the Chief Executive brings a 
detailed plan for review by that Committee. 

Board of Directors: Attendance at meetings during the year ended 31 March 2017:

Board Audit Committee 
Remuneration 

Committee 

Nomination and 
Governance 
Committee 

Director A B A B A B A B

John Moloney 10 10 – – 7 7 8 8

Tommy Breen 10 10 – – – – – –

Róisín Brennan 8 7 3 3 4 3 – –

David Byrne 3 3 – – 2 2 3 3

Emma FitzGerald 1 2 2 – – 1 – – –

David Jukes 10 10 4 4 – – – –

Pamela Kirby 10 10 – – 7 7 5 5

Jane Lodge 10 10 4 4 – – – –

Cormac McCarthy 9 9 2 2 – – – –

Donal Murphy 10 10 – – – – – –

Fergal O’Dwyer 10 10 – – – – – –

Leslie Van De Walle 10 10 4 3 7 7 8 8

Column A indicates the number of meetings held during the period the Director was a member  
of the Board and/or Committee.

Column B indicates the number of meetings attended during the period the Director was  
a member of the Board and/or Committee.

Note 1: Emma FitzGerald’s absence from one Remuneration Committee meeting was due  
to a commitment made prior to her appointment to the DCC Board. 



70 DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Governance

Corporate Governance Statement continued

At an immediately subsequent Board 
meeting the plan is presented to the Board, 
discussed and approved. 

The non-executive Directors meet a number 
of times each year without executives  
being present.

Appointment of Directors
The Nomination and Governance Committee 
formally agrees criteria for new non-executive 
Director appointments, including experience 
of the industry sectors and geographies in 
which the Group operates and professional 
background, and has regard to the need for  
a balance in relation to diversity, including 
gender. The detailed appointment process  
is set out in the Nomination and Governance 
Committee Report on page 75.

Following appointment by the Board, all 
Directors are, in accordance with the Articles 
of Association, subject to re-election at the 
following Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’).

In accordance with our practice since 2008 
and the provisions of the Code, all Directors 
submit to re-election at each AGM.

The expectation is that non-executive 
Directors would serve for a term of six years 
and may also be invited to serve an additional 
period thereafter, generally not extending 
beyond nine years in total. After three years’ 
service, and again after six years’ service, each 
non-executive Director’s performance is 
reviewed by the Nomination and Governance 
Committee, with a view to recommending to 
the Board whether a further period of service 
is appropriate, subject to the usual annual 
approval by shareholders at the AGM.

The terms and conditions of appointment of 
non-executive Directors are set out in their 
letters of appointment, which are available 
for inspection at the Company’s registered 

AGM of the Company.

Details of the length of tenure of each Director 
on the Board are set out in the Corporate 
Governance Statement on page 72.

Induction and Development of Directors
New non-executive Directors undertake a 
structured induction process which includes  
a series of meetings with Group and divisional 
management, detailed divisional presentations, 

with the external auditor.

The Chairman invites external experts to 
attend certain Board meetings to address 
the Board on relevant industry and sectoral 
matters and on developments in corporate 
governance, risk management and  
executive remuneration.

The Chairman and Company Secretary 
review Directors’ training needs, in 
conjunction with individual Directors, and 
match those needs with appropriate external 
seminars and speakers. The Chairman also 
discusses individual training and development 
requirements for each Director as part of the 
annual evaluation process and Directors are 
encouraged to undertake appropriate training 
on relevant matters. In addition, all Directors 
have access to an online database which is 
regularly updated with relevant publications 
and changes in legislation. 

Non-executive Directors are expected to 
meet individually during the year, outside  
of Board meetings, with members of senior 
management throughout the Group and to 
visit a number of subsidiaries to familiarise 
themselves with the business in more detail 
than is possible during Board meetings. 

All Directors are encouraged to avail of 
opportunities to hear the views of and meet 
with the Group’s shareholders and analysts. 
The section on ‘Relations with Shareholders’ 
on page 72 gives further information on 
opportunities for Directors to meet with  
the Group’s shareholders.

Independence
The Board has carried out its annual 
evaluation of the independence of each  
of its non-executive Directors, taking 
account of the relevant provisions of the 
Code, namely whether the Directors are 
independent in character and judgment and 
free from relationships or circumstances 

 

independence requirements of the Code. 

John Moloney has been Chairman of the 
Company since September 2014. On his 
appointment as Chairman, Mr. Moloney met 
the independence criteria as set out in the 
Code. Thereafter, as noted in the Code, the 
test of independence is not appropriate in 
relation to the Chairman.

While Mr. Moloney holds several other 
directorships outside of the DCC Group, the 

with the discharge of his duties to DCC. 

Directors’ Compliance Statement
The Directors have drawn up a Compliance 

 
225(3)(a) of the Irish Companies Act 2014. 
Arrangements and structures have been  
put in place that are, in the Directors’ opinion, 
designed to secure a material compliance  
with the Company’s relevant obligations. 
These arrangements and structures were 

they remained appropriate and comprehensive. 
The Directors’ Compliance Statement is set 
out in full in the Report of the Directors on 
page 110.

Nomination and Governance Committee 
The Nomination and Governance 
Committee is responsible for considering the 
size, composition and structure of the Board 
and succession planning requirements and 
for monitoring the Company’s compliance 
with corporate governance, legal and best 
practice requirements. Further details of the 
activities of the Nomination and Governance 
Committee are set out in its Report on pages 
73 to 75.

Audit Committee 
The primary function of the Audit 

Further details of the activities of the Audit 
Committee are set out in its Report on pages 
76 to 80.

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee is responsible 
for determining the Remuneration Policy  
and conditions of employment for executive 
Directors and senior management. Further 
details of the activities of the Remuneration 
Committee are set out in the Remuneration 
Report on pages 81 to 107.

Chief Executive
The Chief Executive has day-to-day 
management responsibility for the running  
of the Group’s operations and for the 
implementation of Group strategy and 
policies agreed by the Board. The Chief 
Executive also has a key role in the process 
for the setting and review of strategy. 

The Chief Executive instils the Company’s 
values, culture and standards, which include 
appropriate corporate governance, 
throughout the Group. In executing his 
responsibilities, the Chief Executive is 

 
and the Company Secretary, who, together 
with the Chief Executive, are responsible  
for ensuring that high quality information  
is provided to the Board on the Group’s 
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Executive Directors
The executive Directors support the  
Chief Executive in devising and executing 
strategy and in overseeing the operational 
performance of the whole business.

Executive Risk Committee
The responsibilities of the Executive Risk 
Committee are set out in the Risk Report  
on page 13.

Senior Management Group
The Senior Management Group reports to 
the Chief Executive at weekly management 
meetings.

Remuneration
It had been the Company’s practice since 2009 
to put the Remuneration Report to an advisory, 
non-binding shareholder vote at the AGM. 

At the 2017 AGM, two separate advisory, 
non-binding resolutions on the Remuneration 
Report and on the Remuneration Policy will  
be put to shareholders, arising from a change 
in Remuneration Policy as outlined in the 
Remuneration Report on pages 81 to 107. 

Share Ownership and Dealing
Details of the Directors’ interests in DCC 
shares are set out in the Remuneration 
Report on page 103. 

During the year, the DCC Share Dealing Policy 

Market Abuse Regulation (EU 596/2014)  
and current best practice and was re-named 
the DCC Share Dealing Code, The Dealing 
Code applies to dealings in DCC shares by  
the Directors and Company Secretary of 
DCC, directors of all Group companies and  

 
the Dealing Code, Directors and relevant 
executives are required to obtain clearance 
from the Chairman or Chief Executive before 
dealing in DCC shares and are prohibited 
from dealing in the shares during prohibited 

preferred periods for share dealing by 
Directors and relevant executives, being the 
four 21-day periods following the updating of 
the market on the Group’s trading position 
through the preliminary results announcement 
in May, the Interim Management Statement  
in July (at the AGM), the interim results 
announcement in November and the Interim 
Management Statement in February.

Risk Management and Internal Control 
The Board is responsible for the Group’s 
system of risk management and internal 
control. It is designed to manage rather  
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve 
business objectives and provides reasonable 

but not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss. Details in relation to 
the Group’s risk management structures  
are set out in the Risk Report on page 12.

The Board has delegated responsibility for 

of this system to the Audit Committee. 
Details in relation to the Audit Committee’s 
work in this regard are set out in the Audit 
Committee Report on page 78.

The Board itself receives a Risk Report at 
each meeting, which focuses on principal 
risks, emerging risks and risk mitigation 
activities. In addition, the Chairman of the 
Audit Committee reports to the Board  
at each meeting on the activities of  
the Committee.

In accordance with the revised guidance, 
entitled ‘Guidance on Risk Management, 
Internal Control and Related Financial and 
Business Reporting’ issued by the FRC in 
September 2014, which applied to the 

process for identifying, evaluating and 

Group, that it has been in place for the year 
under review and up to the date of approval 

process is regularly reviewed by the Board.

The Board has considered a report from  
the Audit Committee on the conduct of  

 
the annual assessment of risk management 
and internal control. Further details on  
this annual assessment are set out in the 
Risk Report on page 13 and in the Audit 
Committee Report on page 78.

 
are prepared subject to the oversight  

ensuring correct data is captured from  
Group locations and all required information 

statements is provided. A control framework 
has been put in place around the recording  
of appropriate eliminations and other 

statements are reviewed by the Audit 
Committee and approved by the Board.

Compliance 
Compliance Programme
The key message of the Group compliance 
programme is that directors, managers  
and employees across the Group should  
be ‘Doing the Right Thing’ at all times. This 
means not merely following the laws and 
policies that apply to their work, but also 
exercising good judgement to ensure that 
their actions are seen as fair and ethical.

Business Conduct Guidelines 
Our Group Business Conduct Guidelines, 
which are available on our website,  
www.dcc.ie, set out the general standards 
that are expected of directors, managers and 
employees across the Group in a range of 
areas, including anti-bribery and corruption, 
protection of personal information and 
competition law. The Guidelines are available 
in all of the major languages used across the 
Group. A copy of the Guidelines has been 
provided to every employee. 

Compliance Policies and Training
The Group also maintains more detailed 
policies on a range of relevant areas, 
complementing the general requirements 
set out in the Business Conduct Guidelines. 
The areas covered by more detailed policies 
include health and safety, anti-bribery  
and corruption, supply chain integrity, 
competition law, information security, 
diversity and equal opportunities, and share 
dealing. Depending on the nature of their 
role, employees of the Group receive more 
detailed training on those policies. 

Whistleblowing 
Employees across the Group are required to 
raise a concern if any of our activities are being 
undertaken in a manner that may not be legal 
or ethical, and are supported if they do so. 
Concerns can be raised with a member of 
management in the business where the 
employee works, with the Head of Group 
Legal & Compliance or externally with SafeCall, 
a third party facility which is independent of 
DCC and available in multiple languages and 
on a 24-hour basis. Employees may raise 
concerns anonymously if they wish. Our 
internal policies make clear that retaliation 
against any employee who raises a concern is 
prohibited. Where concerns are raised, they 
are investigated in an appropriate and 
independent manner.
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The Audit Committee has oversight 
responsibility for the whistleblowing facilities 
and how they operate. This is referred to on 
page 80 in the Report of the Audit Committee. 

Following an application made in late 2016, 
DCC was recognised by Ethisphere as one  
of the World’s Most Ethical Companies®  
for 2017. This is the third year in which DCC 

commitment to high standards of business 
conduct – consistent with our core value  
of integrity – and how that commitment  
is translated into practice through our 
compliance policies and procedures. 

Board Performance Evaluation 
The Board conducts an annual evaluation of its 
own performance, that of each of its principal 
committees, the Audit, Remuneration and 
Nomination and Governance Committees, 
and that of Committee Chairmen and 
individual Directors. 

In 2015, the entire performance evaluation 

ICSA, in accordance with the requirement to 
have it externally facilitated every three years 
under Provision B.6.2 of the Code. 

In 2016 and 2017, the entire performance 
evaluation process was internally conducted. 

The various phases of the internal performance 
evaluation process which commenced in early 
February and concluded in May 2017 are set 
out below.

• A questionnaire covering key aspects  

composition of the Board, the content and 
running of Board and Committee meetings, 
corporate governance, risk, succession 
planning and the Directors’ continuing 
education process, was circulated to all 
Directors. Particular feedback was sought 
on the two-day strategy and three-year 
planning Board meeting.

• Completed questionnaires, including views 
on performance and recommendations 
for improvement, were returned directly  
to Leslie Van de Walle, as the Senior 
Independent Director.

• Follow up discussions were held with  
each of the Directors individually to clarify 
any points raised in the questionnaire  
and the Senior Independent Director  
then prepared summary reports on the 
Board and its Committees. 

• The Chairman, on behalf of the Board, 
conducted evaluations of performance 
individually with each of the non-
executive and executive Directors.

• Leslie Van de Walle, as Senior Independent 
Director, conducted an evaluation of the 
performance of the Chairman.

• The non-executive Directors also 
evaluated the performance of each 
executive Director.

• Each of the Audit Committee, the 
Remuneration Committee and the 
Nomination and Governance Committee 
considered the summary report as part of 
its annual review of its own performance 
and terms of reference and recommended 
any changes it considered necessary to 
the Board for approval. 

The Board formally concluded on its own 
performance, on the performance of 
Committees and on the performance of 
individual Directors, including the Chairman. 

Arising from the evaluation process, a 
number of actions were agreed by the Board 
which will be implemented by the Chairman 
during the current year. 

In accordance with the Code, the 2018  
Board evaluation will be externally facilitated.

Relations with Shareholders 
DCC recognises the importance of 
communications with shareholders. 
Presentations are made to both existing  
and prospective institutional shareholders, 
principally after the release of the interim  
and annual results. DCC issues an Interim 
Management Statement twice yearly, 
typically in February and July. Major 

and the Company’s website, www.dcc.ie, 
provides the full text of all press releases.  
The website also contains annual and interim 
reports and incorporates audio and slide 
show investor presentations.

The Board is kept informed of the views of 
shareholders through the executive Directors’ 
attendance at investor presentations and 
results presentations. Furthermore, relevant 
feedback from such meetings, investor 
relations reports and brokers notes are 
provided to the entire Board on a regular basis.

Investor Days for major shareholders are  
held periodically and feature presentations  
by the executive Directors and the divisional 
managing directors. These events are 
attended by the Chairman and the non-
executive Directors, as well as various 
brokers, analysts and fund managers. The 
next Investor Day will be held in 2018.

The Company Secretary engages annually 
with proxy advisors in advance of the 
Company’s AGM.

The Company’s AGM provides shareholders 
with the opportunity to question the Chairman, 
the Committee Chairmen and the Board. 
Further details on the Company’s AGM is set 
out in the Report of the Directors on page 109.

Report of the Directors 
For the purposes of the European 
Communities (Directive 2006/46/EC) 
Regulations 2009, details of substantial 
shareholdings in the Company and details in 
relation to the purchase of the Company’s 
own shares are set out in the Report of the 
Directors on pages 108 to 111.

Compliance Statement 
DCC has complied, throughout the year 
ended 31 March 2017, with the provisions 
set out in the Code.

John Moloney, Tommy Breen 
Directors
15 May 2017

Jane Lodge

Cormac McCarthy

Tommy Breen

Donal Murphy

Leslie Van de Walle

Fergal O’Dwyer

John Moloney

Non-executive

Executive

Emma FitzGerald1

David Jukes

Pamela Kirby

Number of Years
0 6 12 18

8.0

0.3

2.0

3.5

4.5

0.8

6.5

0

17.0

17.0

8.3

Length of Tenure on Board

1 Emma FitzGerald was appointed as a Director on 14 December 2016. 
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Nomination and Governance Committee Report 

As Chairman of DCC’s Nomination and 
Governance Committee, I am pleased to 
present the report of the Committee for  
the year ended 31 March 2017.

The Nomination and Governance Committee 
is responsible for keeping Board composition 
under constant review, including the skills, 
knowledge and experience required, taking 
account of the Group’s businesses, strategic 
direction and diversity objectives. 

Succession planning has been a key area  
of focus for the Committee this year, 
culminating with the appointment of Donal 
Murphy as the successor as Chief Executive 
to Tommy Breen, who intends to retire from 
that position at the conclusion of the Annual 
General Meeting on 14 July 2017. 

The Committee also seeks to maintain  
the optimum balance of background and 
experience on our Board. This year, the 
Committee undertook processes which led 
to the recommendation to the Board that 
Cormac McCarthy and Emma FitzGerald be 
appointed as new non-executive Directors  
of the Company on 16 May 2016 and 
14 December 2016 respectively.

David Byrne retired from the Board as a 
non-executive Director and Deputy Chairman 
and Senior Independent Director on 15 July 
2016 after 7 years’ service and Róisín Brennan 
retired from the Board as a non-executive 
Director, on 14 December 2016 after  
11 years’ service. 

The Committee is conscious of the merits  
of diversity, including gender diversity, on the 
Board, and this is dealt with on page 75 of  
this Report. 

The Committee is also responsible for 
monitoring the Company’s compliance with 
corporate governance best practice. In this 
regard, the Committee has considered the 
principles and provisions of the 2014 version 
of the UK Corporate Governance Code issued 
in September 2014 (‘the Code’), which applied  

compliant with the Code.

The Committee has also noted the revised 
Code issued by the FRC in April 2016 which 

be in full compliance with the revised Code. 

The Committee had oversight of a process 
undertaken by the Company Secretarial 
function, with external legal advice, in respect 
of implementation of the new provisions of 
the Irish Companies Act 2014 and of the new 
Market Abuse Regulation. 

Our priorities for the coming year will be  
on the Chief Executive transition process  
and on succession planning, with particular 
reference to non-executive Directors.

On behalf of the Nomination and 
Governance Committee.

John Moloney
Chairman, Nomination and Governance 
Committee
15 May 2017

John Moloney
Chairman, Nomination and Governance Committee

 “The Nomination and Governance Committee’s 
focus is on the leadership needs of the 
organisation and ensuring compliance  
with corporate governance best practice.”

Terms of Reference
The responsibilities of the Nomination and Governance Committee are 
summarised in the table on page 74 and are set out in full in its Terms  
of Reference, which are available on the DCC website, www.dcc.ie.
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Composition
The Nomination and Governance Committee 
comprises John Moloney (Chairman) and  
two independent non-executive Directors, 
Pamela Kirby and Leslie Van De Walle. Pamela 
Kirby replaced David Byrne as a member  
of the Committee following his retirement  
as a member of the Committee and as a 
non-executive Director on 15 July 2016. Each 
member’s length of tenure at 31 March 2017  
is set out in the Corporate Governance 
Statement on page 72. Further biographical 
details regarding the members of the 
Nomination and Governance Committee  
are set out on page 65. 

The Company Secretary is the secretary to 
the Nomination and Governance Committee.

Meetings
The Nomination and Governance Committee 
met eight times during the year ended 
31 March 2017 and there was full attendance 
by all members of the Committee. 

Typically, the Chief Executive is invited to 
attend all meetings of the Committee and 
other executives and external advisors are 
invited to attend as necessary. 

The Committee also meets separately,  
as required, to discuss matters in the absence  
of any invitees.

Board Composition and Renewal
At each of its meetings, the Nomination  
and Governance Committee considers the 
composition of the Board to ensure it has the 
appropriate combination of skills, knowledge 
and experience, taking account of the 
development of the Group and of the length of 
tenure of the existing non-executive Directors.

Succession Planning
The Committee has particular regard to the 
leadership needs of the organisation and  
gives full consideration to succession 
planning for Directors, in particular the 
Chairman and Chief Executive, taking into 
account Group strategy, as well as the 
challenges and opportunities facing the 
Group and the skills and expertise required.

The Committee also has oversight of  
Group management talent development 
programmes and reviews these with the 
Chief Executive before they are presented  
to the Board.

Chief Executive Succession
The comprehensive process to identify  
Tommy Breen’s successor was led by the 
Nomination and Governance Committee,  
with the assistance of an executive search  

process, the Committee made a unanimous 
recommendation to the Board that Donal 
Murphy be appointed as DCC’s next  
Chief Executive. 

Donal joined DCC in 1998 and has held a 
number of senior leadership roles across the 
Group. Donal was Managing Director of DCC 
Technology and assumed his current role as 
Managing Director of DCC Energy in 2006.  

Energy division and its transition from a small 
UK and Irish business to a substantial 
international business operating in ten 
countries. The Committee believes his track 
record and in-depth knowledge of the Group 
across all areas of operations will enable  
a seamless transition and leaves him very  
well placed to continue the successful 
development of the business.

The Committee recommended the 
appointment of Donal as Chief Executive  
and the recommendation was approved by 
the Board on 4 April 2017. Donal will assume 
the role of Chief Executive on 14 July 2017.

Nomination and Governance Committee Report continued

Board Composition and Renewal

• Regularly review the structure, size and 
composition (including the skills, 
knowledge and experience) required of 
the Board compared to its current position 
and make recommendations to the Board 
with regard to any changes.

• Before making a nomination, to evaluate 
the balance of skills, knowledge, 
independence and experience on the 
Board, and, in the light of this evaluation,  
to prepare a description of the role and 
capabilities required for a particular 
appointment.

• Keep under review the leadership needs of 
the organisation, both executive and 
non-executive, with a view to ensuring the 
continued ability of the organisation to 

• Give consideration to succession planning 
for Directors, in particular the Chairman 
and the Chief Executive.

• Make recommendations to the Board as 
regards the reappointment of non-
executive Directors at the conclusion of 

re-election of all Directors by shareholders 
at the Annual General Meeting.

• Keep under review the Board Diversity 
Policy and the setting of measurable 
objectives for implementing the Policy.

Corporate Governance

• Monitor the Company’s compliance with 
corporate governance best practice and 
with applicable legal, regulatory and listing 
requirements (including but not limited to 
the Companies Acts, the UK Listing 
Authority’s Listing Rules and the UK 
Corporate Governance Code) and 
recommend to the Board such changes or 
additional action as the Committee 
deems necessary.

• 
developments in the law and practice of 
corporate governance.

• Oversee the conduct of the annual 
evaluation of Board, Committee and 
individual Director performance.

John Moloney (Chairman)

Pamela Kirby1

Leslie Van De Walle

Number of Years
70 1 2 3 4 5 6

2.8

0.7

6.0

Length of Tenure on Nomination and Governance Committee

Note 1: Pamela Kirby became a member of the Nomination and Governance Committee on 
16 July 2016.

Role and Responsibilities
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Retirement of Non-executive Directors
David Byrne retired as Deputy Chairman and 
Senior Independent Director on 15 July 2016 
and Róisín Brennan retired as a non-executive 
Director on 14 December 2016. Leslie Van  
de Walle replaced David Byrne as Senior 
Independent Director.

Appointment of Non-executive Directors
As noted in last year’s Report, Cormac 
McCarthy was appointed to the Board on 
16 May 2016, following a formal process, and 

leadership experience to the Board table.

 
need for a new non-executive Director with 
international experience in the sectors in 
which the Company operates. An external 

Partnership, was employed to carry out a wide 

produced a long list of possible candidates, 
which was reviewed by the Chairman, who 
undertook preliminary interviews with a 
number of candidates. A short list was then 
drawn up, reviewed with and approved by  
the Committee. 

Those on the short list were interviewed  
by the Chairman and by a number of the 
executive and non-executive Directors. When 
Dr. Emma FitzGerald emerged as the preferred 
candidate, she further met on an individual 
basis with the executive Directors and most of 
the non-executive Directors, before a formal 
proposal was made to the Board. This 
culminated in Emma being appointed to the 
Board and to the Remuneration Committee  
on 14 December 2016.

The Committee remains focused on the 

Director candidates in the context of Board 
succession and renewal.

Reappointment of Non-executive 
Directors
During the year, Pamela Kirby and Leslie Van de 
Walle each completed terms as non-executive 
Directors. After detailed consideration, 
including of performance and independence, 
the Committee recommended to the Board 
and the Board requested that they serve 
additional terms.

The length of tenure of the Directors on  
the Board and on the Nomination and 
Governance Committee is set out on pages 
72 and 74 respectively. The length of tenure 
of members of other Board Committees is 
dealt with in the individual Committee reports.

France Advisory Board 
The France Advisory Board was established 
by the Board of DCC plc to provide advice, 
support and recommendations to the Board 
in respect of the Group’s businesses and 
activities in France. The France Advisory 
Board is not a formal board of directors and 

 
all matters within its remit remains with the 
Board of DCC plc.

The France Advisory Board currently 
comprises John Moloney, Leslie Van de 
Walle, Tommy Breen and Donal Murphy  
and two French nationals, Frank Dangeard 
and Didier Trutt. Frank Dangeard is a senior 
business advisor and director of a number  
of large businesses. He currently serves as a 
non-executive director on the boards of Royal 
Bank of Scotland Group plc (UK), Symantec 
(US) and RPX (US). 

Didier Trutt is President and CEO of the 
Imprimerie Nationale Group, which is 
engaged in the production of secure 
credentials, the securing of documents  
and the integration of trusted services and 
technological solutions. He is also board 
member of FDJ, the operator of France’s 
national lottery games, as well as a foreign 
trade advisor for France.

The France Advisory Board met four times 
during the year and agenda items included the 
review of trading and business development  
in DCC’s French businesses, presentations by 
the senior management of these businesses 
and consideration of political, economic and 
social developments in France.

Diversity
In reviewing the composition of the Board and 
giving consideration to the appointment of 
new non-executive Directors, the Committee 

 
of skills, experience, business background  
and geographical location, as well as gender 
diversity. For the year under review, the Board 
comprised 30% female Directors. 

Board diversity was a regular agenda item at 
Committee meetings during the year. A Board 
Diversity Policy, developed by the Committee 
and approved by the Board in 2013, is available 
on the Company’s website, www.dcc.ie. 

A Group Diversity and Equal Opportunities 
Policy Statement, developed by Group Human 
Resources, has also been implemented in  
Group subsidiaries.

Corporate Governance
The Committee advises the Board on 

practice of corporate governance and monitors 
the Company’s compliance with corporate 
governance best practice, with particular 
reference to the UK Corporate Governance 
Code. The Committee recommends any 
necessary action required to be adopted and 

implemented by the Board in respect of the 
Code, with particular reference to any revisions 
to the Code.

The Committee has reviewed the Company’s 
corporate governance practices against the 
Code issued in September 2014, which applied 

with the Code. The Committee has also 
considered the revised Code issued in April 
2016, which applies to DCC for the year  

Company will be in full compliance with the 
revised 2016 Code.

The Nomination and Governance Committee 
reviewed and approved the Corporate 
Governance Statement in the Annual Report  
and other material being made public in respect  
of the Company’s corporate governance.

The Committee has also overseen the detailed 
work done in regard to the implementation of 
the Irish Companies Act 2014 and the new 

DCC has put in place appropriate procedures  
to ensure compliance.

The terms and conditions of appointment of 
non-executive Directors are set out in their 
letters of appointment and include expected 
time commitment in respect of Board and 
Committee meetings, boardroom 
development training and visits to Group 
subsidiaries. The letters of appointment are 
available for inspection at the Company’s 

and at the Annual General Meeting of  
the Company.

Annual Evaluation of Performance 
As detailed on page 72, the Board conducts 
an annual evaluation of its own performance 
and that of its Committees, Committee 
Chairmen and individual Directors. In 2016  
and 2017, this process was internally facilitated 
having been externally facilitated in 2015 in 
accordance with the Code. The conclusion 
from this process was that the performance  
of the Committee and of the Chairman of  
the Committee was satisfactory and that no 
changes were necessary to the Committee’s 
Terms of Reference. The annual evaluation  
in 2018 will be externally facilitated.

Reporting
The Chairman of the Nomination and 
Governance Committee reports to the  
Board at each meeting on the activities  
of the Committee.

The Chairman of the Nomination and 
Governance Committee attends the Annual 
General Meeting to answer questions on  
the report on the Committee’s activities  
and matters within the scope of the  
Committee’s responsibilities.
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Audit Committee Report

As Chairman of DCC’s Audit Committee,  
I am pleased to present the report of the 
Committee for the year ended 31 March 2017.

This report sets out the Audit Committee’s 
activities and priorities for the year ended 
31 March 2017, as well as the Committee’s  
key areas of focus for the year ending  
31 March 2018.

The Committee is responsible for assisting 
the Board by taking delegated responsibility 
for reviewing the Group’s risk management 
and internal control systems and making 
recommendations to the Board thereon.
The work done by the Committee in this 
regard, encompassing ongoing monitoring 

page 78. 

The Committee is responsible for  
monitoring the integrity of the Group’s 

Board in determining that the Annual Report 
and Accounts, when taken as a whole, is fair, 
balanced and understandable and provides 
the information necessary for shareholders 
to assess the Company’s performance, 
business model and strategy. The work  
done in this regard is set out on page 77.

 “The Board, the Audit Committee and Group  
management are fully committed to continuous  

Terms of Reference
The responsibilities of the Audit Committee are summarised in the 
table on page 77 and are set out in full in its Terms of Reference,  
which are available on the DCC website, www.dcc.ie.

Our engagement with the external auditors 
and with the Group Internal Audit function 
are detailed on page 79.

As noted in my introduction to last year’s 
Audit Committee report, our priorities for  
the year ended 31 March 2017 included 
cybersecurity and a review of the risk  

 
time was spent on these priorities and 
further details are set out in this Report  
on page 79. 

The Audit Committee considered the 
requirements of the Irish Companies Act 
2014 in relation to the Directors’ Audit 
Statement and the Directors’ Compliance 
Statement, which applied to DCC for the year 
ended 31 March 2017. The Committee is 

taken to ensure full compliance by DCC with 
these requirements.

Our priorities for the coming year will include 
a continued focus on cybersecurity and 
ongoing IT projects and consideration of 
business continuity management and IT 
recovery across the Group’s businesses.

The Board, the Audit Committee and  
Group management are fully committed  

 
and risk management across the Group.

On behalf of the Audit Committee

Jane Lodge
Chairman, Audit Committee
15 May 2017

Jane Lodge
Chairman, Audit Committee
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David Jukes

Jane Lodge (Chairman)

Cormac McCarthy1

Leslie Van De Walle

Number of Years

1 2 3 4 50

4.7

2.0

0.8

4.5

Composition
The Audit Committee comprises four 
independent non-executive Directors,  
Jane Lodge (Chairman), David Jukes, 
Cormac McCarthy and Leslie Van de Walle. 
Cormac McCarthy was appointed as a 
Director and a member of the Audit 
Committee on 16 May 2016. Róisín Brennan 
resigned as a member of the Audit Committee 
on 15 July 2016 and retired as a Director on 
14 December 2016. Each member’s length  
of tenure at 31 March 2017 is set out in the 
table opposite. Biographical details for these 
Directors are set out on page 65.

the Audit Committee bring a wide range of 
skills, expertise and experience in commercial, 

senior positions they hold or held in other 
organisations and that Jane Lodge and 

experience, as set out in the UK Corporate 
Governance Code (‘the Code’). The Board is 

has competence relevant to the sectors in 
which DCC operates.

The Company Secretary is the secretary  
to the Audit Committee. 

Meetings
The Committee met four times during the 
year ended 31 March 2017 and there was  
full attendance by all members of the 
Committee, apart from Leslie Van de Walle, 
who was unable to attend one meeting.

Head of Enterprise Risk Management, Head 
of Internal Audit, Head of Group Finance, 
Head of Group Legal & Compliance and 
representatives of the external auditor are 
typically invited to attend all meetings of the 
Committee. Other Directors and executives 
are invited to attend as necessary. 

The Committee meets separately a number 
of times each year with the external auditor 
and with the Head of Internal Audit, without 
other executive management being present.
 
The Committee also meets in private, as 
required, to discuss matters in the absence  
of any invitees.

Activities

Financial Judgements 
In regard to the 2017 Annual Report  
and Accounts, the Committee assessed 
whether suitable accounting policies had 
been adopted and whether management 
had made appropriate estimates and 
judgements. The Committee obtained 
support from the external auditor,  
KPMG, in making these assessments.

The Committee paid particular attention  
to matters it considered to be important  
by virtue of their impact on the Group’s 
results and particularly those which involved  
a relatively higher level of complexity, 
judgement or estimation by management. 

issues considered by the Committee in 
 

the year ended 31 March 2017.

that they were not aware of any material 

 
no material misstatement in the course  
of their work.

Fair, Balanced and Understandable
The Code requires that the Board should 
present a fair, balanced and understandable 
assessment of the Company’s position and 

that the Annual Report and Accounts, taken  
as a whole, is fair, balanced and understandable 
and provides the information necessary  
for shareholders to assess the Company’s 
performance, business model and strategy. 

At the request of the Board, the Committee 
considered whether the 2017 Annual Report 
and Accounts met these requirements. 

The Committee considered and discussed 
with management the established and 
documented process put in place by 
management for the preparation of the  
2017 Annual Report and Accounts, in 
particular planinng, co-ordination and review 
activities. The Committee also noted the 
formal process undertaken by KPMG.  

Length of Tenure on Audit Committee

1. Cormac McCarthy was appointed as a Director and a member of the Audit Committee on 
16 May 2016.

• Monitor the integrity of the Group’s 

contained in them.

• Provide advice on whether the Annual 
Report and Accounts, when taken as a 
whole, is fair, balanced and understandable 
and provides the information necessary  
for shareholders to assess the Company’s 
performance, business model and strategy.

• Assist the Board in its responsibilities in 
regard to the assessment of the principal 
risks facing the Company, the monitoring 
of risk management and internal control 
systems, including the review of 

 
and viability statements.

• Oversee the relationship with the external 
auditor, including approval of remuneration 
and terms of engagement.

• 
audit process.

• Make a recommendation to the Board  
on the appointment, reappointment  
and removal of the external auditor.

• Ensure the external audit is put to tender 
at least every ten years. 

• Develop and implement a policy on  
the supply of non-audit services by the 
external auditor to avoid any threat to 
auditor objectivity and independence.

•  
of the Group Internal Audit function.

• Review the Company’s arrangements  
for its employees to raise concerns, in 

 

Role and Responsibilities
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This enabled the Committee, and then the 
Board, to conclude that the Annual Report, 
taken as a whole, is fair, balanced and 
understandable and that it provides the 
necessary information for shareholders  
to assess performance, business model  
and strategy.

Risk Management and Internal Control 
Details of the Group’s system of risk 
management and internal control are set  
out in the Risk Report on pages 12 to 17. 

At each meeting, the Audit Committee 
considers 

• The Group Risk Register and the 
Integrated Assurance Report, updated to 

activities.

• A report on the activities of the Group 
Internal Audit (‘GIA’) function, including 
company audits, IT audits and special 
investigations.

• Separate reports from the Risk 
Committee and from the Group Legal  
& Compliance function.

The Chairman of the Audit Committee 
reported to the Board at each meeting on  
the Committee’s activities in regard to the 
Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems. The Board also received a summary 
risk report, prepared by the Head of Enterprise 
Risk Management, at each Board meeting  
and received a report on Health, Safety and 
Environmental matters on a quarterly basis.

The Audit Committee conducted, on behalf  
of the Board, the annual assessment of the 
operation of the Group’s system of risk 
management and internal control, as required 
under the Code. This assessment was based 
on a detailed review carried out by Enterprise 
Risk Management and GIA, utilising the risk 
register process described in the Risk Report 
on page 13. This review took account of the 
principal business risks facing the Group, the 
controls in place to manage those risks 

controls) and the procedures in place to 
monitor them. Where areas for improvement 

respect of the relevant control procedures 
have been or are being taken. 

The Chairman of the Audit Committee has 
reported to the Board on the conduct of and 

annual assessment of risk management  
and internal control. 

 
for the year ended 31 March 2017

Goodwill and 
Intangible 
Assets

goodwill and intangible assets (excluding goodwill and intangible assets 

2017. In order to satisfy itself that this balance was appropriately stated, the 
Committee considered the impairment reviews carried out by management. 
Impairment reviews are carried out annually using the carrying values of 
subsidiaries at 31 December and the latest three year plan information.

In performing their impairment reviews, management determined the 
recoverable amount of each cash generating unit (‘CGU’), and compared  
this to the carrying amount. The recoverable amount of each CGU is  

 
the value in use. In calculating the value in use, management judgement is 

growth rate and selecting an appropriate discount rate. 

 
CGU had been estimated based on the most up to date three year plan as 

 
the risks associated with each CGU. Sensitivity analysis was considered on 

considered and discussed with management the key assumptions to 
understand their impact on the CGU’s recoverable amounts. The Committee 

recoverable amount had been appropriately scrutinised, challenged and were 

intangible assets.

Business 
Combinations

the acquisitions of Gaz Européen, Hammer, Dansk Fuels and Medisource.  

 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method  
which requires that the assets and liabilities assumed are recorded at their 
respective fair values at the date of acquisition, being the date the Group 
obtains control of the acquiree. The application of this method requires 
certain estimates and assumptions, particularly concerning the determination 
of the fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities assumed at the date  
of acquisition. 

Management reported to the Committee that in conducting their review  
of the fair values of the acquired assets and liabilities at the date of acquisition, 

acquired. Management engaged independent experts to assist with the 
valuation of intangible assets on the Gaz Européen acquisition. In addition  
the Committee discussed and agreed with management’s recommendations 
on the estimated useful lives of intangible assets arising on the Group’s 
acquisitions. The Committee considered and discussed with management 
the key assumptions used in determining the fair value of assets and liabilities 

determining the fair values of assets and liabilities had been appropriately 

with management’s assessment of the fair values of assets and liabilities 

disclosures required under IFRS 3 were complete, accurate and understandable.

Other Matters  
of other judgements which have been made by management including 

 
for impairment of trade receivables and inventories and tax provisioning.

Audit Committee Report continued
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2016

2017

2015

2014

2013

Non-Audit as
% of Audit

257

574

748

756

687

2,229

1,730

1,607

1,600

1,451

12%

33%

46%

47%

47%

Audit £’000 Non-Audit £’000

Going Concern and Viability Statement
The Audit Committee reviewed the draft 
Going Concern and Viability Statement prior 
to recommending it for approval by the Board. 
This statement is included in the Risk Report 
on page 14.

Cybersecurity and Risk Aspects  
of IT Projects
As noted in the introduction, during the year 
the Committee focused on cybersecurity 
and on the risk aspects of a number of 

of IT Audit presented regular reports to the 
Committee on progress on major IT projects 
and the role of IT Audit in the oversight of 
these projects. 

The Head of IT Audit reported to each 
meeting of the Committee on work being 
undertaken in regard to cybersecurity, in 
particular on the use of cybersecurity related 
tools and cyber security focused audits. In 
addition, the Group IT Security Advisor, who 
is part of the GIA team, is enhancing the 
available technical expertise with respect 
to key areas including IT security and 
mandatory user awareness training.

External Auditor
The Audit Committee oversees the 
relationship with the external auditor, 
including approval of the external auditor’s 
fee proposals. 

The Audit Committee reviewed the full 
KPMG external audit plan at the meeting  
held in November 2016 and received an 
update at the meeting in April 2017, at the 
commencement of the audit. Following the 
audit, the Audit Committee met with KPMG 

The Audit Committee meets with the 
external auditors on a regular basis without 
the presence of management.

In accordance with its Terms of Reference, 
the Audit Committee is required to make  
a recommendation to the Board on the 
appointment, reappointment and removal  
of the external auditor. 

The Audit Committee reviews the 

questionnaires were completed by Group  

responses were summarised by management 
in a report to the Audit Committee. Based  
on its consideration of this report and its own 
interaction with KPMG, in the form of reports 
and meetings, the Audit Committee noted 
that the overall feedback was positive and that 
a number of areas for improvement had been 

of the external audit process were reported to 
the Board. 

Independence
The Audit Committee has a process in  
place to ensure that the independence of  
the audit is not compromised, which includes 
monitoring the nature and extent of services 
provided by the external auditor through its 
annual review of fees paid to the external 
auditor for audit and non-audit work and 

auditor that they are in compliance with 
relevant ethical and professional guidance 
and that, in their professional judgment,  
they are independent from the Group. 

The Audit Committee has approved a policy 
on the employment of employees or former 
employees of the external auditor. This policy 
provides that the Chief Executive will consult 
with the Chairman of the Audit Committee 

reporting position, to a senior management 

employee or former employee of the 
external auditor, where such a person  
was a member of the external audit team  
in the previous two years.

Non-Audit Services
The Audit Committee has approved a policy 
on the engagement of the external auditor  
to provide non-audit services, which provides 
that the external auditor is permitted to 
provide non-audit services that are not, or  

independence, providing they have the skill, 
competence and integrity to carry out the 
work and are considered to be the most 
appropriate to undertake such work in the  
best interests of the DCC Group. The policy 
also provides that any non-audit work which 
would result in the aggregate of non-audit fees 
paid to the external auditor exceeding 50% of 
annual audit fees must be approved in advance 
by the Chief Executive and the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee. Details of the amounts 
paid to the external auditor during the year  
for non-audit services are set out in note 2.3 
on page 130. The table below sets out the  
audit and non-audit fees paid to the external 

 
to 2017 inclusive (to KPMG for 2016 and 2017 
and to PricewaterhouseCoopers for 2013 to 
2015 inclusive).

Group Internal Audit
The Audit Committee approves the annual 
work programme for the GIA function, 
ensures that it is adequately resourced and 
has appropriate standing within the Group. 

External Quality Assessments (‘EQA’) by 
independent external consultants are 

compliance by the GIA function with the 
International Professional Performance 
Framework of the Institute of Internal 
Auditors. The most recent EQA was 
completed during the year by Deloitte.  
An internal review against the same 
standards is completed on an annual basis.

Audit vs Non-Audit Fees
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The results of the external review was that 

independent assurance to the Group and  
is substantially in compliance with the IIA 
standards. The review also highlighted a 
number of agreed actions to be undertaken 
by GIA to further enhance the operation  
of the function and these have been 
incorporated into the GIA three-year 
strategic plan.

GIA uses the market leading audit 
management system, Teammate, to  
prepare workpapers and audit reports and  
to record and monitor progress with respect 
to corrective action plans. The Teammate 
system is used as a central platform for all 
related assurance activities including the 
recording and monitoring of corrective 
actions arising from Group HSE, Group  
Legal & Compliance, external audit and 
management self-assessment reviews. 

The Control Objectives for Information  
and related Technology (‘COBIT’) based IT 
standards framework previously developed 
by GIA and Group IT continues to be used to 
underpin the integration of new acquisitions. 

A Group Information Security policy has 
been developed and is underpinned by the  
IT Standards framework which is subject 
to review by the IT Audit team. Data 
analytics tools (including ACL and Qlikview) 
continue to be developed to support the 
audit process.

The Group IT Security Advisor enhances the 
available technical expertise with respect to 
key areas including IT security, user awareness 
training and Payment Card Industry Data 
Security Standards (‘PCIDSS’).

The Audit Committee receives regular 
reports from GIA, which includes  

 
audit in the period.

The Audit Committee ensures co-ordination 
between GIA and the external auditor,  
with four meetings per annum held  

communication and co-ordinated activities.

The Head of Internal Audit has direct access 
to the Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
the Audit Committee meets with the Head 
of Internal Audit on a regular basis without 
the presence of management.

Governance
Whistleblowing Arrangements
The Audit Committee is responsible for 
ensuring that the Group maintains suitable 
whistleblowing arrangements for employees. 
Those arrangements are outlined in the 
Corporate Governance Statement on page 
71 and are also described in our Business 
Conduct Guidelines which are available  
on the Company’s website www.dcc.ie.  
The Committee reviewed the Group’s 
whistleblowing facilities during the year  
to ensure that they meet the needs of the 
Group, as it grows and particularly as it 
develops into new geographies and areas  
of activity. 

Annual Evaluation of Performance 
As detailed on page 72, the Board conducts 
an annual evaluation of its own performance 
and that of its Committees, Committee 
Chairmen and individual Directors. Following 
an externally facilitated evaluation process in 
2015, the process was internally facilitated in 
2016 and again in 2017. The conclusion from 
the 2017 process was that the performance 
of the Committee and of the Chairman of 
the Committee were satisfactory and no 
changes were necessary to the Committee’s 
terms of reference. 

Reporting
The Chairman of the Audit Committee 
reports to the Board at each meeting  
on the activities of the Committee. 

The Chairman of the Audit Committee 
attends the Annual General Meeting to 
answer questions on the report on the 
Committee’s activities and matters within 
the scope of the Committee’s 
responsibilities.

Audit Committee Report continued
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Remuneration Report 

Introduction
As Chairman of DCC’s Remuneration 
Committee, I am pleased to present the 
Remuneration Report for the year ended 
31 March 2017.

The purpose of DCC’s Remuneration Policy  
is to incentivise executive Directors and other 
senior Group executives to create shareholder 
value. Consequently their remuneration is 
weighted towards performance related 
elements with targets incentivising delivery  
of strategy over the short and long term as 
demonstrated in the table below. 

Review of Remuneration Policy and Chief 
Executive Transition
In April 2017, we announced that our Chief 
Executive, Tommy Breen, will be retiring at 
the conclusion of our forthcoming AGM on 
14 July 2017, after 32 years of service. We 
are pleased to have an excellent successor 

from within DCC and Donal Murphy  
(currently Managing Director of DCC Energy) 
will be appointed as Chief Executive from the 
same date.

Details of Tommy’s remuneration 
arrangements on retirement are provided  
on page 94. No exceptional payment is  
being made to him.

In light of the change of Chief Executive, the 
Remuneration Committee has taken the 
opportunity to conduct a thorough review of 
the current Remuneration Policy to ensure it 
remains appropriate to support the business. 
We have concluded that the current Policy 

the pension arrangements relating to legacy 

technical change to the DCC plc Long Term 
Incentive Plan 2009 (‘LTIP’) to allow us to 
make awards following a prohibited period. 

As such, a slightly revised Remuneration 
Policy will be put forward for shareholder 
approval, albeit on a non-binding basis,  
at the AGM in July 2017. A summary of  
the proposed changes are shown in the  
table on page 82 and the proposed new 
Remuneration Policy is set out on pages  
85 to 93.

To be clear, we are not seeking to make any 
changes to the quantum or performance 
measures associated with our incentive plans. 
The new Chief Executive’s remuneration has 
been determined in accordance with the 
limits that apply in our current Policy. 

The primary change we have sought is to 

order to bring executive Director pension 
 

wider workforce, and to save money for  
the Company.

A letter setting out the background to and 
details of the proposed changes was sent by 
me to the Company’s major shareholders 
(representing 45% of the issued share capital), 
to the Investment Association and to various 
proxy voting agencies. The Company 
Secretary, Ger Whyte, and I subsequently 
engaged with a number of these shareholders 
and with a number of the organisations to 
hear their views on the proposed changes 
which were overall very supportive.

Leslie Van de Walle
Chairman, Remuneration Committee

Company performance and personal 
contribution, continue to incentivise and motivate 
our executives to create shareholder value.”

Terms of Reference
The responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are summarised 
in the table on page 84 and are set out in full in its Terms of Reference, 
which are available on the DCC website, www.dcc.ie.

Element of pay Alignment with strategy

Base Salary 
• Fair and transparent

• Aligned with strategy through pay for 
Company and personal performance

Annual Bonus 
• Strong link to performance
• Designed to create shareholder value

• Aligned with strategy through KPIs: Group 

targets
• 33% deferral mechanism for executive 

Directors

Long Term Incentive Plan
• Strong link to performance
• Designed to create shareholder value

• Aligned with strategy through KPIs: ROCE, 
EPS and TSR

• Stretch targets
• Clawback mechanism
• Five-year vesting period
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Performance for the year ended  
31 March 2017
DCC achieved a strong result in the year  
ended 31 March 2017. Group operating 

ahead of the prior year. Adjusted earnings per 
share grew by 18.1% on a continuing basis 
and it is proposed that the total dividend for 
the year will be increased by 15.0%.

Return on capital employed, a key metric for 
DCC, was 20.3% and is again substantially  
in excess of the Group’s cost of capital.

DCC has generated a total shareholder 
 

and 433% over the last ten years as 
demonstrated in the following charts.
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The charts above show the growth of  
 

shares since 1 April 2012 and 1 April 2007 
respectively, relative to the FTSE 350 index.

Bonuses
Annual bonuses were based on actual 
performance against targets for growth  
in Group adjusted earnings per share  

and overall contribution and attainment  
of personal objectives. 

in bonus outcomes of 180% of salary for 
each of Tommy Breen, Fergal O’Dwyer  
and Donal Murphy. Further details of the 
performance targets and achievement 
against those targets is set on page 97. 

Long Term Incentive Plan
Vesting of Long Term Incentives
In December 2016, the Remuneration 
Committee determined that 100% of the 
share options granted in November 2013 
under the LTIP had vested, based on 
performance over the three-year period 
ended 31 March 2016 under the TSR and 
EPS conditions (this was the same as the 
estimated vesting of 100% included in last 
year’s Report). Further details on this vesting 
are set out on page 98.

The extent of vesting of the share options 
granted in November 2014, which will be 
based on performance over the three-year 
period ended 31 March 2017, under the 
ROCE, EPS and TSR conditions, will be  
formally determined by the Remuneration 
Committee in November 2017. It is currently 
estimated that 100% of the share options 
granted will vest. The vesting of these shares 
is subject to a further two-year holding 
period with the result that the earliest 
exercise date will be November 2019.

Further details in relation to the LTIP are set 
out on page 87. 

Grant of Long Term Incentives
Details of options granted to the executive 
Directors during the year are set out in  
the table on page 105. Details of the 
performance conditions are set out on  
page 106.

Summary of proposed changes to Executive Remuneration Policy

Pension • 
pension (or cash in lieu equivalent) of between 15% to 25% of salary – 15% 
applying for existing executive Directors.

• To cease the legacy approach whereby pensionable salary is calculated  
as 105% of base salary, so that pensionable salary equals base salary.

• To facilitate the payment of Restricted Retirement Stock, as an individual 
arrangement for the current CFO only, as per the terms detailed on page 89.

LTIP • To make a minor amendment to the wording of the LTIP rules, and 
accordingly the Policy, to allow the Committee to make awards in respect  

• This change is to facilitate the administration of the plan where awards  
cannot be made at a particular date due to dealing restrictions. It is not to 

 
lead to increased awards to any participant.

limits allowable under the bonus scheme or LTIP.
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Non-Executive Directors
 

fee for the non-executive Chairman was 
increased from €242,500 to €300,000.  
The Committee considered this to be an 
appropriate increase as the Chairman is 

 
role at DCC to ensure the smooth transition 
during and following the current Chief 
Executive’s retirement. It is noted that, at this 
level, the fee remains below the lower quartile 
amongst chairmen of FTSE 100 companies.

The basic fee of €70,000 for non-executive 
Directors remains unchanged.

Further details on non-executive Director 
pay are set out on page 101.

Format of Report and Shareholder Votes 
In the UK, the Large and Medium-sized 
Companies and Groups (Accounts and 
Reports) (Amendment) Regulations 2013 
(‘the 2013 UK Regulations’) require certain 
disclosures in regard to remuneration and 
binding shareholder votes on remuneration 
policy and implementation. While DCC, as  
an Irish incorporated company, is not subject 
to the 2013 UK Regulations, we nonetheless 
recognise that they represent best practice 
in remuneration reporting and, given our 
listing on the London Stock Exchange, we 
continue to substantially apply the 2013 UK 
Regulations to this report on a voluntary basis. 

At the 2017 Annual General Meeting,  
a resolution on the Remuneration Report 
(excluding the Remuneration Policy) will be 
put to shareholders, on an advisory rather 
than on a binding basis. The Remuneration  
Policy (pages 85 to 93) will also be put to 
shareholders, again on an advisory basis.

Details of shareholders’ proxy votes on the 
remuneration reports since 2009 and on the 
remuneration policy since 2014 are set out in 
the following chart.

AGM Votes on Directors’ Remuneration 
Report and Policy

Remuneration 
Policy 2014

Remuneration 
Report 2014

Remuneration 
Report 2015

Remuneration 
Report 2016

Remuneration 
Policy 2016

Remuneration 
Report 2013

Remuneration 
Report 2012

Remuneration 
Report 2011

Remuneration 
Report 2010

Remuneration 
Report 2009

% For % Against

0.1

0.1

0.2

0.1

1.4

0.8

1.1

1.2

98.9

1.1

99.5

98.8

99.2

0.5

98.9

98.6

99.9

99.8

99.9

99.9

It is our intention to operate in line with  
the approved Policy. We welcome and will 
consider any shareholder feedback on the 
Remuneration Policy and the 2017 
Remuneration Report. 

Conclusion

Committee has implemented the Group’s 
existing Remuneration Policy in the year 
ended 31 March 2017 in a manner that 

Group in the year. I would strongly 
recommend that shareholders vote in favour 
of the proposed new Remuneration Policy 
and the 2017 Remuneration Report at the 
2017 AGM.

On behalf of the Remuneration Committee

Leslie Van de Walle
Chairman, Remuneration Committee
15 May 2017
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Composition
The Remuneration Committee comprises 
three independent non-executive Directors, 
Leslie Van de Walle (Chairman), Emma 
FitzGerald and Pamela Kirby and the Chairman 
of the Board, John Moloney, David Byrne 
retired from the Board and the Committee in 
July 2016 and was replaced by Róisín Brennan,  
who subsequently retired from the Board and 
the Committee in December 2016 and was 
replaced by Emma FitzGerald. 

The members of the Committee have 

including in the area of executive 
remuneration. Each member’s length of 
tenure at 31 March 2017 is set out in the 
table below. Further biographical details 
regarding the members of the Remuneration 
Committee are set out on page 65.

The Company Secretary acts as secretary  
to the Remuneration Committee.

Meetings
The Committee met seven times during the 
year ended 31 March 2017. Details of 
attendance by members of the Committee 
are set out on page 69. Emma FitzGerald  
was unable to make one meeting due to a 
commitment made prior to her appointment 
to the Board in December 2016. 

The main agenda items included 
remuneration policy, remuneration trends 
and market practice, the remuneration 
packages of the Chairman, the Chief 
Executive and the other executive Directors, 
with particular reference to the Chief 
Executive transition process, pension 
matters, grants of share options under the 
Company’s LTIP, a formal tender process  
in respect of remuneration advisors to the 
Committee and approval of this report. 

Length of Tenure on Remuneration Committee

Pamela Kirby

John Moloney

Emma FitzGerald 1

Leslie Van De Walle (Chairman)

Number of Years

0 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

2.8

2.8

0.3

6.5

1. Emma FitzGerald was appointed as a Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee 
on 14 December 2016.

Typically, the Chief Executive and the Head  
of Group Human Resources are invited to 
attend all meetings of the Committee. Other 
Directors and executives may be invited to 
attend meetings of the Committee, except 
when their own remuneration is being 
discussed. No Director is involved in 
consideration of his or her own 
remuneration. External advisors are invited  
to attend meetings when required.

The Committee also meets separately, as 
required, to discuss matters in the absence 
of any invitees.

Role and Responsibilities

• To determine and agree with the Board 
the policy for the remuneration of the 
Chief Executive, other executive 
Directors and certain Group senior 
executives (as determined by the 
Committee).

• To determine the remuneration 
packages of the Chairman, Chief 
Executive, other executive Directors  
and senior executives, including salary, 
bonuses, pension rights and 
compensation payments.

• To oversee remuneration structures  
for other Group and subsidiary senior 
management and to oversee any  

structures throughout the Group.

• To nominate executives for inclusion in 
the Company’s long term incentive 
schemes, to grant options or awards 
under these schemes, to determine 
whether the criteria for the vesting of 
options or awards have been met and  
to make any necessary amendments  
to the rules of these schemes.

• To ensure that contractual terms on 
termination or redundancy, and any 
payments made, are fair to the individual 
and the Company.

• To be exclusively responsible for 
establishing the selection criteria, 
selecting, appointing and setting the 
terms of reference for any remuneration 
consultants who advise the Committee.

• To obtain reliable, up to date information 
about remuneration in other companies 
of comparable scale and complexity.

• To agree the policy for authorising 
claims for expenses from the Directors.
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Remuneration Policy Report
DCC’s Remuneration Policy (‘the Policy’) is set out below. As an Irish incorporated company, DCC is not required to comply with the UK legislation 
which requires UK companies to submit their remuneration policies to a binding shareholder vote. However, we recognise the need for our 

the changes outlined in the Chairman’s Introduction and set out in detail at pages 85 to 93 below.

date of the 2017 AGM.

The Policy is designed and managed to support a high performance and entrepreneurial culture, taking into account competitive market positioning. 

The Board seeks to align the interests of executive Directors and other senior Group executives with those of shareholders, within the framework set 
out in the UK Corporate Governance Code. Central to this policy is the Group’s belief in long term, performance based incentivisation and the 
encouragement of share ownership. 

element of incentive payments at the median of a market capitalisation comparator group. 

The Remuneration Committee seeks to ensure: 

• that the Group will attract, motivate and retain individuals of the highest calibre; 

• that executives are rewarded in a fair and balanced way for their individual and team contribution to the Group’s performance; 

• that executives receive a level of remuneration that is appropriate to their scale of responsibility and individual performance;

• that the overall approach to remuneration has regard to the sectors and geographies within which the Group operates and the markets from 
which it draws its executives; and

• that risk is properly considered in setting remuneration policy and in determining remuneration packages.

DCC’s strategy of fostering entrepreneurship requires well designed incentive plans that reward the creation of shareholder value through organic 
and acquisitive growth while maintaining high returns on capital employed, strong cash generation and a focus on good risk management. The typical 

participation in long term performance plans which promote the creation of sustainable shareholder value. 

The Remuneration Committee takes external advice from remuneration consultants on market practice within similar sized UK listed and Irish 
companies to ensure that remuneration remains competitive and structures continue to support the key remuneration policy objectives. 
Benchmarking data is used to inform remuneration decisions, but not to drive changes.

Key elements of pay of executive Directors under the proposed Policy are set out in the table below:

Element and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity
Changes from  
previous policy

Base Salary

Attract and retain  
skilled and experienced 
senior executives. 

Base salaries are reviewed annually on 1 April. 

The factors taken into account include:

• Role and experience
• Company performance
• Personal performance
• Competitive market practice
• Benchmarking versus companies of similar  

size and complexity within UK and Irish markets

When setting pay policy, account is taken of movements in pay 
generally across the Group.

No prescribed maximum base  
salary or maximum annual 
increase.

General intention that any 
increases will be in line with the 
general increase across the Group.

Increases may be higher in certain 
circumstances such as changes in 

changes in market practice.

No change
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Element and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity
Changes from  
previous policy

To provide market  
club subscriptions or cash equivalent.

No maximum level has been set  
as payments depend on individual 
Director circumstances.

No change

Annual Bonus

To reward the 
achievement of annual  
performance targets.

Bonus payments to executive Directors are based upon meeting 
pre-determined targets for a number of key measures, including 

contribution and attainment of personal objectives. The 
contribution and personal targets are focused on areas such  
as delivery on strategy, organisational development, risk 
management and talent development/succession planning. 

The measures, their weighting and the targets are reviewed on  
an annual basis.

The current measures for the executive Directors, and their 
weighting, are set out on page 95. The targets are considered 

 
will be disclosed retrospectively.

Bonus levels are determined by the Committee after the year  
end based on actual performance achieved. The Committee  

respect of determining the bonuses to be awarded. In particular, 
the Committee has the discretion to reduce bonuses in the  
event that a pre-determined target return on capital employed  
is not achieved.

In regard to the executive Directors, 33% of any bonus earned, 
once the appropriate tax and social security deductions have 
been made, will be invested in DCC shares which will be made 
available to them after three years, or on their employment 
terminating if earlier, together with accrued dividends.

A formal clawback policy is in place for the executive Directors, 
under which bonuses are subject to clawback for a period of three 

policy are set out on page 90.

The Committee has discretion in relation to bonus payments to 
joiners and leavers.

The maximum bonus potential, as  
a percentage of base salary, for the 
executive Directors is 200%.

The maximum bonus potentials 
set for each year will be disclosed  
in the Annual Report on 
Remuneration.

performance has been set for 
which 50% of maximum bonus  
is payable.

No change
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Element and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity
Changes from  
previous policy

Long Term Incentive 
Plan (‘LTIP’) shareholders at the 2017 AGM

To align the interests  
of executives with  
those of the Group’s 
shareholders and to 

culture of long term 
performance based 
incentivisation.

The LTIP provides for the Remuneration Committee to grant 
nominal cost (€0.25) options to acquire shares to Group 
employees, including executive Directors.

years, based on the performance conditions set out below.

In addition to the detailed performance conditions, an award  
 

a sustained improvement in the three-year period since the  
award date.

The extent of vesting for awards granted to participants will be 
determined by the Remuneration Committee, in its absolute 
discretion, based on the performance conditions set out below.

Return on Capital Employed (‘ROCE’):
Up to 40% of an award will vest depending on ROCE achieved in 
excess of the Group’s Weighted Average Cost of Capital (‘WACC’) 
over a three-year period, with the Remuneration Committee to 
set a range for threshold and maximum vesting at the time of 
each award in the light of development activity, including any 

and prevailing business and economic circumstances.

Percentage excess over WACC % of total award vesting

Below % set as threshold 0%

As % set as threshold 10%

Between % set as threshold and % set  
as maximum

10%-40% pro rata

Above % set as maximum 40%

The range set will be disclosed in the Annual Report  
on Remuneration.

The calculation of ROCE will be consistent with the Group 

The market value of the shares 
subject to the options granted in 
respect of any accounting period 
may not exceed 200% of base pay.

If, as a result of dealing restrictions, 
it is not possible to grant options  
at the normal award date, the 
Remuneration Committee may 
grant the options at a later date,  
as soon as practicable after the 
dealing restrictions cease to apply.

In these circumstances, the market 
value used will be the market value 
at the later award date and the 
base pay used will be the base  
pay at the normal award date.

If the later award date occurs in  
an accounting period subsequent 
to that in which the normal award 
date occurred, the award will  
be treated, for the purposes of  
the 200% maximum, as having 
been made in the preceding 
accounting period.

Rather than the 
200% maximum 
applying to any 
12-month 
period, the Rules 
and Policy will 
apply the limit  
to awards made 
‘in respect of  
any accounting 
period’, as set 
out under 
Maximum 
opportunity.

This change is 
not to the 
advantage of 
participants and 
will not lead to 
increased 
awards to any 
participant.

There has been 
no change to  
the maximum 
award size under 
the LTIP.
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Element and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity
Changes from  
previous policy

Long Term Incentive 
Plan (‘LTIP’) continued shareholders at the 2017 AGM continued

Earnings per Share (‘EPS’):
Up to 40% of an award will vest depending on EPS growth over a 

the award is granted compared with the change in the UK Retail 
Price Index (‘RPI’) as follows:

Annualised EPS growth in excess
of annualised change in RPI

% of total  
award vesting

Less than 3% 0%

At 3% 10%

10%-40% pro rata

40%

 
of excess over RPI) will be set at the time of each award in the  

transactions, three-year plans for the Group and prevailing 
business and economic circumstances. The range set will be 
disclosed in the Annual Report on Remuneration.

Total Shareholder Return (‘TSR’):
Up to 20% of an award will vest depending on TSR performance 

which the award is granted, compared with the FTSE 350 Index 
(the ‘Index’).

TSR
% of total  

award vesting

Below the index 0%

At the index 5%

Between the index and 8% p.a.  
out-performance 

5%-20% pro rata

Above 8% p.a. out-performance  
of the index

20%

No re-testing of the performance conditions is permitted.

The performance conditions and their relative weighting may be 

Rules of the LTIP, provided that they remain no less challenging 
and are aligned with the interests of the Company’s shareholders.

A formal clawback policy is in place, under which awards are 
subject to clawback in the event of a material restatement  

 
details on this clawback policy are set out on page 90.
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Element and link to strategy Operation Maximum opportunity
Changes from  
previous policy

Pension
shareholders at the 2017 AGM

To reward sustained 
contribution.

contribution pension). 

Pension contributions (paid  

scheme or paid as cash in lieu)  
can be between 15% and 25%  
of base salary.

Existing executive Directors  
are eligible to receive 15% of  
base salary.

Previously, 
executive 
Directors 
received a 
taxable 
non-pensionable 
cash allowance  

foregone, 
calculated based 
on independent 
actuarial advice.

Pensionable 
salary is now 

salary, having 
previously been 
105% of base 
salary.

Restricted Retirement 
Stock shareholders at the 2017 AGM

To recognise  
the additional 
responsibilities being 
undertaken by the 
current CFO in support 
of the transition of Chief 
Executive and to replace 
the cash allowance in 

foregone. 

therefore will not be subject to performance targets or leaver 
provisions and will vest after the CFO retires.

(For the avoidance of doubt, if the CFO leaves to take an 
equivalent role elsewhere, the shares will not vest until DCC  
is informed of his retirement from any equivalent role.)

Annual award of DCC shares with  
a value of €575,000.

The value of the annual Restricted 
Retirement Stock award is based 
on an actuarial assessment of the 

allowance foregone less the 

payment at 15% of base salary. It is 
not subject to change and will be 

This is a new, 

arrangement  
for the  
current CFO.

Payments from Existing Awards
Subject to the achievement of the applicable performance conditions, executive Directors are eligible to receive payment from any award made prior 
to the approval and implementation of the Remuneration Policy detailed in this report.

independent actuarial advice, approved by the Remuneration Committee, as the equivalent of the reduction in liability of the Company arising from 

Tommy Breen will remain eligible for this cash allowance up to the date of his retirement on 14 July 2017.

Donal Murphy will also remain eligible for this cash allowance until his appointment as Chief Executive on 14 July 2017, at which time he will be subject 
to the new policy for executive Directors.
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Clawback Policy
Bonus payments made to executives may be subject to clawback for a period of three years from payment in certain circumstances including:
• 
• a material breach of applicable health and safety regulations; or
• 

individual executive.

The LTIP allows for the giving of discretion to the Remuneration Committee to reduce or impose further conditions on awards prior to vesting in the 
circumstances as outlined above.

Remuneration Policy for Recruitment of New Executive Directors

such remuneration as is required to attract, retain and motivate a candidate with the particular skills and experience required for a role, if it considers 
this to be in the best interests of the Company and the shareholders. The Remuneration Committee will generally set a remuneration package which 
is in accordance with the terms of the approved Remuneration Policy in force at the time of the appointment, though the Committee may make 
payments outside of the Policy if required in the particular circumstances and if in the best interests of the Company and the shareholders. Any such 
payments which relate to the buyout of variable pay (bonuses or awards) from a previous employer will be based on matching the estimated fair value 
of that variable pay and will take account of the performance conditions and the time until vesting of that variable pay.

For an internal appointment, any variable pay element awarded in respect of the prior role and any other ongoing remuneration obligations existing 
prior to appointment would be honoured. 

Remuneration Policy for Other Employees

number of senior Group executives, it aims to create a broad policy framework, to be applied by management to senior executives throughout the 
Group, through its oversight of remuneration structures for other Group and subsidiary senior management and of any major changes in employee 

being undertaken, the industry in which the business operates, the level of seniority and responsibilities, the location of the role and local market 
practice.

Consultation with Employees
Although the Remuneration Committee does not consult with employees on the Remuneration Policy, it does consider remuneration arrangements 
and trends across the broader employee population when determining the Policy. 

Consultation with Shareholders

policy. The Committee also takes into account the views of shareholder organisations and proxy voting agencies.

As set out in the Chairman’s Introduction, the Remuneration Committee undertook a detailed consultation process in regard to the proposed 
changes to executive Director remuneration.

The Committee acknowledges that shareholders have a right to have a ‘say on pay’ by putting the Remuneration Policy and the Remuneration 
Report to advisory votes at the AGM.
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Exit Payments Policy
The provisions on exit in respect of each of the elements of pay are as follows:

Exit payments are made only in respect of base salary for the relevant notice period. The Committee may in its discretion also allow for the payment 

Company and the executive.

Annual Bonus

The Remuneration Committee can apply appropriate discretion in respect of determining the bonuses to be awarded based on actual performance 

In relation to deferred bonuses which have been invested in DCC shares, they will be made available on the participant’s cessation date, together with 
accrued dividends.

Long Term Incentive Plan

To the extent that a share award or option has vested on the participant’s cessation date, the participant may exercise the share award or option 

In general, a share award or option that has not vested on the participant’s cessation date immediately lapses.

The Committee would normally exercise its discretion when dealing with a participant who ceases to be an employee by reason of certain 
exceptional circumstances e.g. death, injury or disability, redundancy, retirement or any other exceptional circumstances. In such circumstances,  
any share award or option that has not already vested on the participant’s cessation date would be eligible for vesting on a date determined by the 
Remuneration Committee. The number of shares, if any, in respect of which the share award or option vests would be determined by the 
Remuneration Committee.

In the event that a participant ceases to be an employee by reason of a termination of his employment for serious misconduct, each share award and 
option held by the participant, whether or not vested, will automatically lapse immediately upon the service of notice of such termination, unless the 
Committee in its sole discretion determines otherwise.

Pension

 
of employment.

Restricted Retirement Stock

The Restricted Retirement Stock awards made to the CFO will vest in full after his retirement.

Service Contracts
With the exception of Tommy Breen, Chief Executive, who has a service agreement with a notice period of 12 months, none of the other Directors 
has a service contract with the Company or with any member of the Group. Mr. Breen’s service contract provides that either he or the Company can 
terminate his employment by giving 12 months’ notice in writing. The Company may, at its sole discretion, require that Mr. Breen, instead of working 
out the period of notice, cease employment immediately in which case he would receive compensation in the form of base salary only in respect of 
the notice period. The service contract also provides for summary termination (i.e. without notice) in a number of circumstances, including material 

provisions set out above.

Fergal O’Dwyer has a letter of appointment which provides for a three month notice period.

Donal Murphy will enter into a service agreement with the Company on his appointment as Chief Executive on 14 July 2017. This agreement will 
provide for a notice period of six months. Mr. Murphy currently has a letter of appointment which provides for a three month notice period.



92 DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Governance

Remuneration Report continued

Scenario Charts 
Below is an illustration of the potential future remuneration that could be received by each executive Director, with the exception of the retiring Chief 
Executive, Tommy Breen, for the year commencing 1 April 2017 at minimum, median and maximum performance. As all of the Directors are paid  

MaximumMedianMinimum MaximumMedianMinimum

4,000,000

3,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

1,000,000

500,000

1,500,000

€

0

23%

32%

0

21%

29%

100% 56% 39%

0

€1.19m

€2.15m

€3.10m

0

Fixed Annual Long term

MaximumMedianMinimum

4,000,000

3,500,000

2,000,000

2,500,000

3,000,000

1,000,000

500,000

1,500,000

€

0

32%

40%

0

29%

36%

100% 39% 24%

0

€0.87m

€2.24m

€3.61m

0

Fixed Annual Long term

Donal Murphy, Executive DirectorFergal O’Dwyer, Executive Director

Notes: 

2. Annual pay comprises bonus. The proposed maximum bonus potentials for the year to 31 March 2018, as set out in the Annual Report on 
Remuneration, of 180% are included in these charts. 

3. Long term pay comprises the maximum value of options that can be granted under the DCC plc Long Term Incentive Plan 2009.

 
of maximum LTIP value (long).

7. In calculating any value that may be delivered in shares, no account has been taken of any potential increase or decrease in share price.

Share Ownership Guidelines
DCC’s remuneration policy has at its core recognition that the spirit of ownership and entrepreneurship is essential to the creation of long term high 
performance and that share ownership is important in aligning the interests of executive Directors and other senior Group executives with those  
of shareholders.

follows: 

Executive Share ownership guideline

Chief Executive 3 times annual base salary

Other executive Directors 2 times annual base salary

Senior Group executives 1 times annual base salary

The position of the executive Directors and senior Group executives under the Share Ownership Guidelines is reviewed annually by the 
Remuneration Committee. The position of the executive Directors as at 31 March 2017 is set out in the Annual Report on Remuneration  
on page 107.
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Policy for non-executive Directors

Fees Operation Maximum Opportunity

The fees paid to non-executive Directors 
 

time demands of their Board and Board 
committee duties. 

A basic non-executive Director fee is paid for 
Board membership. Additional fees are paid  
to the members and the Chairmen of Board 
Committees, to the Chairman and to the  
Senior Independent Director.

Additional fees may be paid in respect  
of Company advisory boards.

The remuneration of the Chairman is 
determined by the Remuneration Committee 
for approval by the Board. The Chairman 
absents himself from the Committee meeting 
while this matter is being considered.

The remuneration of the other non-executive 
Directors is determined by the Chairman and 
the Chief Executive for approval by the Board.

The fees are reviewed annually, taking account 
of any changes in responsibilities and advice 
from external remuneration consultants on  
the level of fees in a range of comparable Irish 
and UK companies.

No prescribed maximum annual increase.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, 
shareholders set the maximum aggregate 
ordinary remuneration (basic fees, excluding 
fees for committee membership and chairman 
fees). The current limit of €650,000 was set at 
the 2014 Annual General Meeting.

Non-executive Directors do not participate  
in the Company’s LTIP and do not receive any 

Non-executive Directors’ Letters of Appointment
The terms and conditions of appointment of non-executive Directors are set out in their letters of appointment, which are available for inspection  
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Annual Report on Remuneration
This section of the Remuneration Report sets out how DCC’s Remuneration Policy, as described on pages 85 to 93, will operate in the year to 
31 March 2018, gives details of remuneration outcomes for the year ended 31 March 2017 and provides additional information on the operation  
of the Remuneration Committee.

Operation of Remuneration Policy in the year to 31 March 2018
Chief Executive Retirement
After 32 years of loyal and outstanding service, Tommy Breen will be retiring from the Company on 14 July 2017. His remuneration arrangements  
on retirement have been determined in line with Policy, the rules of the LTIP and best practice. He will be treated as a ‘good leaver’ in respect of his 
outstanding incentive awards: 

• There will be no special awards made to Mr. Breen on retirement. 

• 

• 
part of previous years’ bonuses were deferred into shares, these shares will transfer to Mr. Breen at the date of retirement, in line with the Policy. 
To avoid administrative costs, deferral will not apply to the bonuses for the year ended 31 March 2017 and the year to 31 March 2018 (1 April 2017 
to 14 July 2017).

• 
subject to performance and will vest at the end of the performance period. 

• 
 

to the accounting reserve and will result in a gain to the Company.

Salary

Executive Director
March 2018 

€
March 2017 

€

Tommy Breen 781,833 759,110

Fergal O’Dwyer 500,000 466,075

Donal Murphy 480,0571 466,075

 
of the review of Remuneration Policy. 

1. Tommy Breen will retire as Chief Executive on 14 July 2017 and will be succeeded by Donal Murphy, whose salary will be increased to €820,000 
upon his appointment as Chief Executive.

Bonus
The Remuneration Committee has maintained the maximum bonus potential that will apply for the year to 31 March 2018 at 180%, which is below 
the Policy maximum of 200%, as shown in the table below.

Executive Director Maximum bonus potential Deferral of bonus

Tommy Breen 180% of salary
33% of any bonus earned by the executive Directors will be deferred into 
DCC shares and be available after three years.1 

Fergal O’Dwyer 180% of salary

Donal Murphy 180% of salary

1. As noted above, deferral will not be applied to the 2017/’18 bonus earned by Tommy Breen in respect of the period 1 April 2017 to 14 July 2017.  
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The Committee has set performance targets for the year which will determine the extent of payment of bonuses to the executive Directors, as 
follows: 

Executive Director Performance Targets

Tommy Breen1 70% based on growth in Group adjusted earnings per share and 30% 
based on overall contribution and attainment of personal objectives.

Fergal O’Dwyer 70% based on growth in Group adjusted earnings per share and 30% 
based on overall contribution and attainment of personal objectives.

Donal Murphy2 From 1 April 2017 to the date of appointment as Chief Executive on 
14 July 2017:
20% based on growth in Group adjusted earnings per share, 40% based 

contribution and attainment of personal objectives.

From 14 July 2017 to 31 March 2018:
70% based on growth in Group adjusted earnings per share and 30% 
based on overall contribution and attainment of personal objectives.

1. For Tommy Breen, bonus payments in respect of the year to 31 March 2018 will paid out at the usual date subject to actual performance and will 

(1 April to 14 July 2017) and Chief Executive (14 July 2017 to 31 March 2018).

threshold up to full payment at the maximum of the range. 

The Committee will keep the performance targets under review in light of acquisition and other development activity during the year to 31 March 2018.

car, life/disability cover and club subscriptions or cash equivalent.

The Irish Finance Act 2006 established a cap on pension assets by introducing a penalty tax charge on pension assets in excess of the higher of  
€5 million or the value of individual accrued pension entitlements as at 7 December 2005. The Irish Finance Act 2011 reduced these thresholds to 
the higher of €2.3 million or the value of individual accrued pension entitlements as at 7 December 2010. As a result of this change the Remuneration 

Tommy Breen will continue to receive this cash allowance up to the date of his retirement on 14 July 2017. Donal Murphy will also continue to receive 
this cash allowance until his appointment as Chief Executive on 14 July 2017.

15% to 25% of salary, with 15% applying for existing executive Directors.

In May 2017, the Company agreed with each of the executive Directors that they would take a transfer value in respect of their past service accrued 

the accounting reserve and will result in a gain to the Company.
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Restricted Retirement Stock

an annual award to him of Restricted Retirement Stock, in the form of shares which do not vest until after he retires. 

Mr. O’Dwyer will receive an annual award of DCC shares with a value of €575,000. The value of these annual awards is based on an actuarial 
 

Long Term Incentives
Details of the LTIP are set out in the Remuneration Policy Report on page 87. The Policy includes minor proposed amendments to the wording of the 

For the purposes of the ROCE performance condition, the Remuneration Committee has set a ROCE range for threshold and maximum vesting  
of 14% to 18% for awards to be made in the year to 31 March 2018.

For the purposes of the EPS performance condition, the Remuneration Committee has set EPS growth equal to UK RPI plus 7% per annum 
compound for maximum vesting of awards to be made in the year to 31 March 2018.

Both the ROCE Range and the EPS Range will be kept under review and adjusted if necessary in light of acquisition and other development activity  
in the year to 31 March 2018.

Remuneration outcomes for the year ended 31 March 2017
Executive Directors’ Remuneration Details

Salary Bonus
Retirement  

LTIP Audited Total

2017 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2017 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2017 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2017 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2017 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2017 
€’000

2016 
€’000

Executive Directors

Tommy Breen 759 737 1,366 884 107 93 762 835 2,325 1,737 5,319 4,286

Fergal O’Dwyer 466 453 839 453 46 33 613 483 1,431 889 3,395 2,311

Donal Murphy 466 440 839 440 42 33 61 190 1,366 848 2,774 1,951

1,691 1,630 3,044 1,777 195 159 1,436 1,508 5,122 3,474 11,488 8,548

There were no payments made to former Directors during the year ended 31 March 2017.

Salary
The salaries of the executive Directors for the year ended 31 March 2017 represented increases over the prior year as shown in the table below:

Salary % Increase

Tommy Breen €759,110 3.0%

Fergal O’Dwyer €466,075 3.0%

Donal Murphy €466,075 5.9%
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Determination of Bonuses for the year ended 31 March 2017
The table below sets out the actual performance in the year ended 31 March 2017 in terms of growth in Group adjusted earnings per share (‘Group 

Target

Minimum Maximum Actual

Growth in Group EPS 5% 15% 18.1%

7.5% 15% 24.3%

In both cases, as actual performance exceeded the maximum target, the Remuneration Committee concluded that there should be full payment  
of the bonuses attributable to these performance targets.

The Committee also concluded that there had been very strong achievement of the targets set in respect of overall contribution and attainment  
of personal objectives, in particular with regard to delivery on strategy, acquisitions and organisational development.

The resultant bonus payout levels for the year ended 31 March 2017 were as follows:

Tommy Breen  
% of Salary

Fergal O’Dwyer  
% of Salary

Donal Murphy  
% of Salary

Component Max % Payout % Max % Payout % Max % Payout %

Group EPS 126 126 126 126 36 36

– – – – 72 72

Contribution/Personal 54 54 54 54 72 72

180 180 180 180 180 180

Each of the Directors’ bonuses in respect of the year ended 31 March 2017 amounted to 180% of salary. In the case of Mr. O’Dwyer and Mr. Murphy 
33% of this bonus, net of tax and social security deductions, will be invested in DCC shares, which will be made available to them after three years, or 
on their employment terminating if earlier, together with accrued dividends. 

In relation to Mr. Breen, as noted earlier, as he is retiring on 14 July 2017 and to avoid administrative costs deferral will not apply to his 2016/’17  
bonus payment.

1 
€’000

Transfer value equivalent to the 
1 

€’000

Total accrued pension 
2 

€’000

Tommy Breen (10) (259) 279

Fergal O’Dwyer 0 0 158

Donal Murphy 0 0 112

Total (10) (259) 549

  
Notes:
1. The pensions of the executive Directors have been capped in line with the provisions of the Irish Finance Acts as detailed on page 95.
2.  Figures represent the total accrued pension payable from normal retirement date, based on pensionable service at 31 March 2017, after the 

reduction in respect of the Irish pension levy.
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Long Term Incentive Plan
The values of the LTIP as shown in the table on page 96 for 2017 and 2016 relate to awards made in November 2014 and November 2013 respectively. 

The vesting criteria which applied to the 2014 awards and subsequent awards were amended at the 2014 Annual General Meeting. These are 
summarised in the Remuneration Policy Report on pages 87 to 88. 

The vesting criteria which applied to the 2013 awards were those which preceded the 2014 amendments and are summarised below.

2017

the Committee during 2017 and will be based on ROCE performance (40% of the total award), EPS performance (40% of the total award) and TSR 
performance (20% of the total award) over the three-year period ended 31 March 2017. 

The Group’s ROCE, EPS and TSR performance is expected to give rise to a vesting of 100%.

The value of the LTIP for the year ended 31 March 2017 is estimated using the number of options expected to vest in November 2019 and the share 

2016
The LTIP awards granted in November 2013 vested in December 2016 (three years after the grant date). The extent of vesting was based on TSR 
performance (60% of the total award) and EPS performance (40% of the total award) over the three-year period ended 31 March 2016. An analysis  
was conducted by Willis Towers Watson to measure the level of DCC’s TSR performance relative to the FTSE 250 peer group over a 36-month period 
to 31 March 2016. The result ranked DCC at the 99th percentile, in the upper quartile in TSR performance, which gave rise to a vesting of 60% of the 
total award. DCC’s adjusted EPS increased by 15.8% annualised over the three-year period. CPI decreased by an annualised 0.3% over the same 
period. This gave rise to a vesting of 40% of the total award. Consequently, the Remuneration Committee determined that 100% of the 2013 awards 
had vested. 

The value of the LTIP for the year ended 31 March 2017 is based on the number of options which vested in December 2016 and the share price at 

shown in the 2016 Annual Report, which were based upon estimated vesting of 100% and the share price as at 31 March 2016. 

TSR
60% of shares vest depending on TSR performance over a three-year period starting on 1 April in the year in which the award is granted, compared 

companies and a small number of other companies that are not comparable to the Company, as determined by the Remuneration Committee.

TSR rank % of total award vesting 

Below median 0%

Median 25%

Median – 75th percentile 25%-60% pro rata

Above 75th percentile 60%

EPS
40% of shares vest depending on EPS growth over a three-year period starting on 1 April in the year in which the award is granted compared with the 
change in the Irish Consumer Price Index (‘CPI’).

EPS growth in excess of CPI % of total award vesting

Below 3% 0%

3% 15%

3%-7% 15%-40% pro rata

Above 7% 40%
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LTIP – Vesting
The extent of vesting of awards made under the LTIP since its introduction in 2009 is set out in the table below.

2013 award: vested/lapsed in 2016

2014 award: estimated vesting in 2019

2009 award: vested/lapsed in 2012

2010 award: vested/lapsed in 2013

2011 award: vested/lapsed in 2014

2012 award: vested/lapsed in 2015

% vested % lapsed

74.2%

57.6%

40.6%

0

0

0

25.8%

42.4%

59.4%

100%

100%

100%

Chief Executive’s Remuneration
The charts below show the total remuneration for the Chief Executive for the eight years from 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2017 and map the total 
remuneration against the eight-year trend in EPS and TSR, using a base of 100 for 2010 for comparator purposes.

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

5,400

€000

4,500

3,600

2,700

1,800

900

Fixed pay Variable pay Long term pay 

0

€1.67m
€1.55m

€1.64m

€2.39m

€3.16m

€4.78m

€4.29m

€5.32m

26%

42%

59%

91%

100%

100%

100%

100%

95%

30%57%

100% 62%

100%

100%

Notes:

2. Variable pay comprises the annual bonus; the percentage shown is the value of the bonus paid as a percentage of the maximum opportunity.
3. Long term pay comprises the value of awards under the DCC plc 1998 Employee Share Option Scheme (for 2010 and 2011) and the DCC plc 

Long Term Incentive Plan 2009 (for 2012 to 2017); the percentage shown is the value of the awards vested as a percentage of the maximum 
opportunity (actual vesting for 2010 to 2016 and estimated vesting for 2017).
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The percentage change in the elements of remuneration for the Chief Executive between the year ended 31 March 2017 and the year ended 
31 March 2016 is as follows:

Salary  +3%

Bonus  +54%

The combined percentage change was 30%. There was a 6% increase in the total average employment costs in respect of employees in the Group 
as a whole between the years ended 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2016.

Relative Importance of Spend on Pay
The chart below sets out the amount paid in remuneration to all 
employees of the Group compared to dividends to shareholders, for 
2017 and 2016.

Remuneration received 
by all employees

Dividends
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DCC plc shares since 1 April 2009, relative to the FTSE 350 index. Total 
 

the charts on page 82.
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Remuneration Report continued
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Policy on External Board Appointments

such appointments can bring both to the Company and to the Director in terms of broadening their knowledge and experience.

The fees received for such roles may be retained by the executive Directors. Tommy Breen took up the position of non-executive director of 

Non-executive Directors’ Remuneration Details
The remuneration paid to non-executive Directors for the year ended 31 March 2017 is set out in the table below. Non-executive Directors are paid a 
basic fee. Additional fees are paid to the members and the Chairmen of Board Committees, to the Chairman and to the Senior Independent Director. 

The remuneration of the Chairman is determined by the Remuneration Committee for approval by the Board. The Chairman absents himself from 
the Committee meeting while this matter is being considered. The remuneration of the other non-executive Directors is determined by the 
Chairman and the Chief Executive for approval by the Board. 

The fees are reviewed annually, taking account of any changes in responsibilities and advice from external remuneration consultants on the level of 
fees in a range of comparable Irish and UK companies.

Basic Fee
Committee Chair and 

Membership Fees
Chairman/Senior 

Independent Director Fees France Advisory Board Fee Audited Total

2017 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2017 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2017 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2017 
€’000

2016 
€’000

2017 
€’000

2016 
€’000

Non-executive Directors

John Moloney 70 65 8 8 165 152 – – 243 225

Róisín Brennan1 53 65 4 8 – – – – 57 73

David Byrne2 21 65 2 8 10 35 – – 33 108

Emma FitzGerald3 21 – 1 – – – – – 22 –

David Jukes 70 65 8 8 – – – – 78 73

Pamela Kirby 70 65 7 5 – – – – 77 70

Jane Lodge 70 65 20 20 – – – – 90 85

Cormac McCarthy4 62 – 7 – – – – – 69 –

Leslie Van de Walle5 70 65 24 24 3 – 20 10 117 99

507 455 81 81 178 187 20 10 786 733

Ex gratia pension to dependant of retired Director6 0 3

Total 786 736

Notes:
1. Róisín Brennan retired as a non-executive Director on 14 December 2016.
2. David Byrne retired as a non-executive Director on 15 July 2016. 
3. Emma FitzGerald was appointed as a Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee on 14 December 2016.
4. Cormac McCarthy was appointed as a Director and a member of the Audit Committee on 16 May 2016.
5. Since 1 October 2015, Leslie Van de Walle is being paid an additional €20,000 per annum in respect of his membership of the France  

Advisory Board.
6. The dependant of the retired Director passed away in June 2015.
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The non-executive Director fee structure for the year to 31 March 2018 is set out below:

€

Chairman (to include basic and Committee fees) 300,000

Basic Fee 70,000

Committee Fees:

Audit 8,000

Nomination and Governance 3,000

Remuneration 5,000

Additional Fees:

Audit Committee Chairman 12,000

Remuneration Committee Chairman 7,500

Senior Independent Director Fee 12,000

There was no change to the basic fee of €70,000 for non-executive Directors for the year commencing 1 April 2017. The total fee for the Chairman 

Total Directors’ Remuneration 

Audited Total

2017 
€’000

2016 
€’000

Executive Directors

Salary 1,691 1,630

Bonus 3,044 1,777

195 159

1,436 1,508

LTIP 5,122 3,474

Total executive Directors’ remuneration 11,488 8,548

Non-executive Directors

Fees 786 733

Total non-executive Directors’ remuneration 786 733

Ex gratia payment to dependant of retired Director 0 3

Total Directors’ remuneration 12,274 9,284

Remuneration Report continued
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Executive and Non-executive Directors’ and Company Secretary’s Interests
The interests of the Directors and the Company Secretary (including shares held by connected persons) in the share capital of DCC plc at 31 March 
2017 (together with their interests at 31 March 2016) are set out below:

No. of Ordinary Shares  
At 31 March 2017

No. of Ordinary Shares  
At 31 March 2016

Directors

John Moloney 2,000 2,000

Tommy Breen 221,574 220,744

Róisín Brennan¹ – –

David Byrne² 1,200 1,200

Emma FitzGerald³ 148 –

David Jukes 94 94

Pamela Kirby 2,500 2,500

Jane Lodge 3,000 3,000

Cormac McCarthy4 1,200 –

Donal Murphy 93,532 90,913

Fergal O’Dwyer 208,889 208,889

Leslie Van de Walle 670 670

Company Secretary

Gerard Whyte 155,000 150,000

1. Róisín Brennan retired from the Board on 14 December 2016. Her holding is at the date of her leaving.
2. David Byrne retired from the Board on 15 July 2016. His holding is at the date of his leaving.
3. Emma FitzGerald was appointed as a Director on 14 December 2016. 
4. Cormac McCarthy was appointed as a Director on 16 May 2016.

interests in the share capital or loan stock of the Company or any other Group undertaking at 31 March 2017. 

There were no changes in the above Directors’ and Secretary’s interests between 31 March 2017 and 15 May 2017.

The shareholdings held by the executive Directors are substantially in excess of the share ownership guidelines in place, which are set out on page 92 
of this Report. 

The Company’s Register of Directors’ Interests (which is open to inspection) contains full details of Directors’ shareholdings and share options.
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Remuneration Report continued

Deferred Shares
The current Remuneration Policy, which applied to the year ended 31 March 2017, states that 33% of any bonus earned by all executive Directors, 
once the appropriate tax and social security deductions have been made, will be invested in DCC shares which will be made available to them after 
three years or on their employment terminating if earlier, together with accrued dividends.

The former Remuneration Policy, which applied to the years ended 31 March 2016, 31 March 2015 and 31 March 2014, states that in regard to 
Mr. Breen (only), any actual bonus earned in excess of 100% of salary, once the appropriate tax and social security deductions have been made,  
will be invested in DCC shares which will be made available to him after three years, or on his employment terminating if earlier, together with  
accrued dividends. 

The table below shows what Mr. Breen received in deferred shares in respect of the years ended 31 March 2016, 2015 and 2014.

Deferred Shares – Tommy Breen

Net value of  
deferred bonus1 Number of shares Share price Release date

31 March 2016 €70,752 830 May 2019

31 March 20152 – – – –

31 March 2014 €31,200 744 November 2017

Notes:
1. The net value of the deferred bonus is calculated by deducting tax and social security contributions from the gross value of the deferred bonus. 
2.  No deferred bonus was payable to Mr. Breen for the year ended 31 March 2015 as the bonus earned was 74.4% of salary and therefore did not 

exceed 100% of salary.

The bonuses for the year ended 31 March 2017 for each of the executive Directors amounted to 180% of salary. For Mr. O’Dwyer and Mr. Murphy, 
33% of their bonuses earned for the year ended 31 March 2017, once the appropriate tax and social security deductions have been made, will  
be invested in DCC shares. As noted earlier, as Mr. Breen is retiring on 14 July 2017 and to avoid administrative costs deferral will not apply to his  
2016/’17 bonus. 
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Executive Directors’ and Company Secretary’s Long Term Incentives
DCC plc Long Term Incentive Plan 2009 
Details of the executive Directors’ and the Company Secretary’s awards, in the form of nominal cost (€0.25) options, under the DCC plc Long Term 
Incentive Plan 2009 are set out in the table below: 

Number of options

At 
31 March 

2016
Granted 

in year
Exercised in 

year
Lapsed 

in year

At 
31 March 

2017
Date of 

grant

Market 
price on 

grant

Three-year 
performance 

period end Exercise period

Market 
price at 
date of 

exercise 

Executive Directors

Tommy  
Breen 13,887 – (13,887) – 0 20.08.09 €15.63 31 Mar 2012 20 Aug 2012 – 19 Aug 2016

16,760 – (16,760) – 0 15.11.10 €21.25 31 Mar 2013 15 Nov 2013 – 14 Nov 2017

28,526 – – – 28,526 15.11.11 €17.50 31 Mar 2014 15 Nov 2014 – 14 Nov 2018

37,070 – – – 37,070 12.11.12 €22.66 31 Mar 2015 12 Nov 2015 – 11 Nov 2019

24,706 – – – 24,706 12.11.13 31 Mar 2016 12 Nov 2016 – 11 Nov 2020

28,406 – – – 28,406 12.11.14 31 Mar 2017 12 Nov 2019 – 11 Nov 2021

18,140 – – 18,140 17.11.15 31 Mar 2018 17 Nov 2020 – 16 Nov 2022

– 19,068 – – 19,068 10.02.17 31 Mar 2019 10 Feb 2022 – 9 Feb 2024

167,495 19,068 (30,647) – 155,916

Fergal 
O’Dwyer 6,034 – (6,034) – 0 20.08.09 €15.63 31 Mar 2012 20 Aug 2012 – 19 Aug 2016

8,011 – – – 8,011 15.11.10 €21.25 31 Mar 2013 15 Nov 2013 – 14 Nov 2017

13,584 – – – 13,584 15.11.11 €17.50 31 Mar 2014 15 Nov 2014 – 14 Nov 2018

17,652 – – – 17,652 12.11.12 €22.66 31 Mar 2015 12 Nov 2015 – 11 Nov 2019

12,647 – – – 12,647 12.11.13 31 Mar 2016 12 Nov 2016 – 11 Nov 2020

17,481 – – – 17,481 12.11.14 31 Mar 2017 12 Nov 2019 – 11 Nov 2021

11,138 – – – 11,138 17.11.15 31 Mar 2018 17 Nov 2020 – 16 Nov 2022

– 11,707 – – 11,707 10.02.17 31 Mar 2019 10 Feb 2022 – 9 Feb 2024

86,547 11,707 (6,034) – 92,220

Donal 
Murphy 5,456 – (5,456) – 0 20.08.09 €15.63 31 Mar 2012 20 Aug 2012 – 19 Aug 2016

8,011 – – – 8,011 15.11.10 €21.25 31 Mar 2013 15 Nov 2013 – 14 Nov 2017

13,584 – – – 13,584 15.11.11 €17.50 31 Mar 2014 15 Nov 2014 – 14 Nov 2018

17,652 – – – 17,652 12.11.12 €22.66 31 Mar 2015 12 Nov 2015 – 11 Nov 2019

12,059 – – – 12,059 12.11.13 31 Mar 2016 12 Nov 2016 – 11 Nov 2020

16,686 – – – 16,686 12.11.14 31 Mar 2017 12 Nov 2019 – 11 Nov 2021

10,830 – – 10,830 17.11.15 31 Mar 2018 17 Nov 2020 – 16 Nov 2022

– 11,707 – – 11,707 10.02.17 31 Mar 2019 10 Feb 2022 – 9 Feb 2024

84,278 11,707 (5,456) – 90,529

Company Secretary

Gerard 
Whyte 3,666 – (3,666) – 0 15.11.10 €21.25 31 Mar 2013 15 Nov 2013 – 14 Nov 2017

6,240 – – – 6,240 15.11.11 €17.50 31 Mar 2014 15 Nov 2014 – 14 Nov 2018

8,109 – – – 8,109 12.11.12 €22.66 31 Mar 2015 12 Nov 2015 – 11 Nov 2019

5,559 – – – 5,559 12.11.13 31 Mar 2016 12 Nov 2016 – 11 Nov 2020

5,834 – – – 5,834 12.11.14 31 Mar 2017 12 Nov 2019 – 11 Nov 2021

3,574 – – – 3,574 17.11.15 31 Mar 2018 17 Nov 2020 – 16 Nov 2022

– 3,758 – – 3,758 10.02.17 31 Mar 2019 10 Feb 2022 – 9 Feb 2024

32,982 3,758 (3,666) – 33,074
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As at 31 March 2017, the total number of options granted under the LTIP, net of options lapsed, amounted to 1.2% of issued share capital, of which 
0.9% is currently outstanding.
 
The extent of vesting of the LTIP awards which were granted in February 2017 will be based on the three-year performance period from 1 April 2016 
to 31 March 2019. The ranges set by the Remuneration Committee in respect of these performance conditions were set out at page 94 of the 2016 
Annual Report.

DCC plc 1998 Employee Share Option Scheme
Details of the executive Directors’ and the Company Secretary’s basic tier options to subscribe for shares under the DCC plc 1998 Employee Share 
Option Scheme are set out in the table below.

Number of options Options exercised in year

At  
31 March 

2016
Granted 

in year
Exercised in 

year
Lapsed 

in year

At  
31 March 

2017
Date of 

grant
Option 

price Exercise Period

Option 
price  

€

Market 
price at 
date of 

exercise  

Executive Directors

Tommy 
Breen 15,000 – (15,000) – 0 23.06.06 €18.05 23 Jun 2009 – 22 Jun 2016 €18.05

40,000 – – – 40,000 23.07.07 €23.35 23 Jul 2010 – 22 Jul 2017 – –

20,000 – – – 20,000 20.05.08 €15.68 20 May 2011 – 19 May 2018 – –

75,000 – (15,000) – 60,000

Fergal 
O’Dwyer 10,000 – (10,000) – 0 23.06.06 €18.05 23 Jun 2009 – 22 Jun 2016 €18.05

22,500 – – – 22,500 23.07.07 €23.35 23 Jul 2010 – 22 Jul 2017 – –

15,000 – – – 15,000 20.05.08 €15.68 20 May 2011 – 19 May 2018 – –

47,500 – – – 37,500

Donal 
Murphy 15,000 – – – 15,000 23.07.07 €23.35 23 Jul 2010 – 22 Jul 2017 – –

15,000 – – – 15,000 20.05.08 €15.68 20 May 2011 – 19 May 2018 – –

30,000 – – – 30,000

Company Secretary

Gerard 
Whyte 10,000 – (10,000) – 0 23.07.07 €23.35 23 Jul 2010 – 22 Jul 2017 €23.35

10,000 – – – 10,000 20.05.08 €15.68 20 May 2011 – 19 May 2018 – –

20,000 – – – 10,000

     
The ten-year period during which share options could be granted under the DCC plc 1998 Employee Share Option Scheme expired in June 2008. 
Over the life of the Scheme, the total number of basic and second tier options granted, net of options lapsed, amounted to 7.1% of issued share 
capital, of which 0.2% is currently outstanding. 

There are no second tier options outstanding under this Scheme.

from the date of grant. Basic tier options can normally be exercised only if there has been growth in the adjusted earnings per share of the Company 
equivalent to the increase in the Consumer Price Index plus 2%, compound, per annum over a period of at least three years following the date of grant. 

would place the Company in the top quartile of companies on the ISEQ index in terms of comparison of growth in adjusted earnings per share and  
if there has been growth in the adjusted earnings per share of the Company equivalent to the increase in the Consumer Price Index plus 10%, 
compound, per annum in that period. 

Additional information in relation to the DCC plc Long Term Incentive Plan 2009 and the DCC plc 1998 Employee Share Option Scheme appears  
in note 2.5 on pages 132 to 134.

For the purposes of Section 305 of the Companies Act 2014 (Ireland), the aggregate gains by Directors on the exercise of share options during the 
year ended 31 March 2017 was €5.273 million (2016: €1.214 million).

Remuneration Report continued
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Share Ownership Guidelines
The shareholdings held by the executive Directors as at 31 March 2017, as shown below, are substantially in excess of the guidelines set out on  
page 92.

Executive 

Number of 
shares held as at 

31 March 2017

Shareholding as 
a multiple of 

base salary for 
the year ended 
31 March 2017

Share ownership 
guideline

Tommy Breen 221,574 24.0 3.0

Fergal O’Dwyer 208,889 36.8 2.0

Donal Murphy 93,532 16.5 2.0

The shareholdings in the table comprise only the shares held by the executive Directors. Unvested and unexercised share options are not included. 

Governance
Annual Evaluation of Performance 
As detailed on page 72, the Board conducts an annual evaluation of its own performance and that of its Committees, Committee Chairmen and 
individual Directors. Following an externally facilitated evaluation process in 2015, the process was internally facilitated in 2016 and again in 2017.  
The conclusion from the 2017 process was that the performance of the Remuneration Committee and of the Chairman of the Committee were 
satisfactory and that no changes were necessary to the Committee’s Terms of Reference. 

Reporting 
The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee reports to the Board at each meeting on the activities of the Committee.

The Chairman of the Remuneration Committee attends the Annual General Meeting to answer questions on the report on the Committees’ 
activities and matters within the scope of the Committee’s responsibilities. 

External Advice
During the year, the Committee engaged in a tender process for the external remuneration advisor to the Committee. A number of detailed 
proposals were considered by the Committee and oral presentations were made to a sub-committee comprising the Chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee, the Chief Executive, the Head of Group HR and the Company Secretary. Following the process, the Committee unanimously agreed to 
reappoint Willis Towers Watson as independent external remuneration advisors to the Committee.

During the year, Willis Towers Watson provided advice in relation to market trends, competitive positioning and developments in remuneration policy 
and practice. Willis Towers Watson is a signatory to the Remuneration Consultants Group Code of Conduct and any advice was provided in 

objective and independent.

In the year ended 31 March 2017, Willis Towers Watson received fees of €105,500 in respect of advice provided to the Committee in regard to 
executive Director remuneration. Willis Towers Watson also provided services to the Group on market trends, incentive design, the Remuneration 
Report and in relation to the LTIP.

pension practice and developments and act as actuaries and pension advisors to a number of companies in the Group. 

2016 Annual General Meeting Votes on Annual Report on Remuneration 

Vote Total votes cast Total votes for Total votes against Total abstentions

Advisory vote on 2016 Remuneration Policy 69,543,100 68,787,674 755,426 51,054

(98.9%) (1.1%)

Advisory vote on 2016 Annual Report on Remuneration 68,749,235 68,424,425 324,810 844,919

(99.5%) (0.5%)

This table shows the voting outcome at the 2016 AGM in relation to the Remuneration Policy and the Annual Report on Remuneration.
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Report of the Directors

Principal Activities
DCC plc is an international sales, marketing and support services group headquartered in Dublin with operations in Britain, Continental Europe  
and Ireland. DCC has four divisions – DCC Energy, DCC Healthcare, DCC Technology and DCC Environmental. DCC employs over 11,000 people  
in 15 countries. DCC’s shares are listed on the London Stock Exchange and are included in the FTSE 100 Index. 

Results and Review of Activities

pence). Further details of the results for the year are set out in the Group Income Statement on page 117. 

The Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 to 7, the Chief Executive’s Review on pages 8 to 9, the Operating Reviews on pages 36 to 57 and the Financial 

business at 31 March 2017, of recent events and of likely future developments. Information in respect of events since the year end is included in 
these sections and in note 5.8 on page 179. 

Dividends 
 

approval at the Annual General Meeting on 14 July 2017, this dividend will be paid on 20 July 2017 to shareholders on the register on 26 May 2017. The 

prior year’s total dividend per share. 

are shown in note 4.3 on page 165. 

Share Capital and Treasury Shares 
DCC’s authorised share capital is 152,368,568 ordinary shares of €0.25 each, of which 88,816,361 shares (excluding treasury shares) and 3,613,043 
treasury shares were in issue at 31 March 2017. All of these shares are of the same class. With the exception of treasury shares which have no voting 
rights and no entitlement to dividends, they all carry equal voting rights and rank for dividends. 

The number of shares held as treasury shares at the beginning of the year (and the maximum number held during the year) was 3,903,820 (4.41%  
of the then issued share capital (including treasury shares)) with a nominal value of €0.976 million. 

A total of 290,777 shares (0.33% of the issued share capital (including treasury shares)) with a nominal value of €0.073 million were re-issued during the 
year at prices ranging from €0.25 to €23.35 consequent to the exercise of share options under the DCC plc 1998 Employee Share Option Scheme and 
the DCC plc Long-Term Incentive Plan 2009, leaving a balance held as treasury shares at 31 March 2017 of 3,613,043 shares (4.07% of the issued share 
capital (including treasury shares)) with a nominal value of €0.903 million. 

At the Annual General Meeting (‘AGM’) held on 15 July 2016, the Company was granted authority to purchase up to 8,875,727 of its own shares  
(10% of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares)) with a nominal value of €2.218 million. This authority has not been exercised and will 
expire on 14 July 2017, the date of the next AGM of the Company.  

At the AGM held on 15 July 2016, the Directors were given authority to exercise all the powers of the Company to allot shares up to an aggregate amount 
of €7.40 million, representing approximately one third of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company. They were also given 

circumstances relating to rights issues and other issues up to approximately 5% of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) of the Company.

These authorities have not been exercised and will expire on 14 July 2017, the date of the next AGM of the Company. 

At the 2017 AGM, in addition to the authority to buy back shares referred to above, the Directors will seek authority to exercise all the powers of the 
Company to allot shares up to an aggregate amount of €7.42 million representing approximately one third of the issued share capital (excluding 
treasury shares). 

The Directors will also seek authority to allot shares for cash, other than strictly pro-rata to existing shareholdings. This proposed authority is limited  

(excluding treasury shares). 

In addition, the Directors will seek authority to allot additional shares for cash other than strictly pro-rata to existing shareholdings. This proposed 
authority is limited to the allotment of shares for cash up to approximately 5% of the issued share capital (excluding treasury shares) and will only  
be used in connection with an acquisition or other capital investment which is announced contemporaneously with the allotment, or has taken  
place in the preceding six-month period and is disclosed in the announcement of the allotment.



109DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Supplementary 
InformationFinancial StatementsGovernanceStrategic Report

Principles’). The Directors will have due regard to the Statement of Principles in relation to any exercise of this power and in particular:

• 
emptive cash issue pursuant to this resolution which exceeds 7.5% of the Company’s issued share capital in any rolling three year period; and

• 
investment (within the meaning of the Statement of Principles from time to time) which is announced contemporaneously with the issue,  
or which has taken place in the preceding six month period and is disclosed in the announcement of the issue.

Details of the share capital of the Company are set out in note 4.1 on page 163 and are deemed to form part of this Report. 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
Under Section 327(1)(b) of the Companies Act 2014 and Regulation 5(4)(c)(ii) of the Transparency (Directive 2004/109/EC) Regulations 2007, DCC 
is required to give a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group. These are addressed in the Risk Report on pages 12 to 17. 

Directors 
The names of the Directors and a short biographical note on each Director appear on page 65. In accordance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, 
all Directors submit to re-election at each Annual General Meeting. With the exception of Tommy Breen, who has a service agreement with a notice 
period of 12 months, none of the other Directors has a service contract with the Company or with any member of the Group. Details of the Directors’ 
interests in the share capital of the Company are set out in the Remuneration Report on pages 81 to 107. 

Corporate Governance 
The Corporate Governance Statement on pages 68 to 72 sets out the Company’s appliance of the principles and compliance with the provisions of 
the UK Corporate Governance Code and the Group’s system of risk management and internal control. The Corporate Governance Statement shall 
be treated as forming part of this Report.

DCC plc is fully compliant with the 2014 version of the UK Corporate Governance Code, which applied to the Company for the year ended 31 March 2017.

For the purposes of the European Communities (Takeover Bids (Directive 2004/25/EC)) Regulations 2006, details concerning the appointment and 
the re-election of Directors are set out in the Corporate Governance Statement. 

General Meetings 
The Company’s AGM provides shareholders the opportunity to question the Chairman, the Board and the Chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration and 
Nomination and Governance Committees. The Chief Executive presents at the AGM on the Group’s business and its performance during the prior 
year and answers questions from shareholders. 

Notice of the AGM, the Form of Proxy and the Annual Report are sent to shareholders at least 20 working days before the AGM. At the AGM, resolutions 
are voted on by a show of hands of those shareholders attending, in person or by proxy. After each resolution has been dealt with, details are given of the 
level of proxy votes cast on each resolution and the numbers for, against and withheld. 

If validly requested, resolutions can be voted by way of a poll. In a poll, the votes of shareholders present and voting at the AGM are added to the proxy 
votes received in advance of the AGM and the total number of votes for, against and withheld for each resolution are announced. 

All other general meetings are called Extraordinary General Meetings (‘EGM’). An EGM called for the passing of a special resolution must be called by 
at least 21 clear days’ notice. 

A quorum for an AGM or an EGM of the Company is constituted by three shareholders, present in person, by proxy or by a duly authorised representative  
in the case of a corporate member. The passing of resolutions at a general meeting, other than special resolutions, requires a simple majority. To be passed,  
a special resolution requires a majority of at least 75% of the votes cast. 

Shareholders have the right to attend, speak, ask questions and vote at general meetings. In accordance with Irish company law, the Company 

Shareholders may exercise their right to vote by appointing a proxy/proxies, by electronic means or in writing, to vote on some or all of their shares. 
The requirements for the receipt of valid proxy forms are set out in the notes to the Notice convening the meeting. 

A shareholder or a group of shareholders, holding at least 5% of the issued share capital of the Company, have the right to requisition a general meeting.  
A shareholder or a group of shareholders, holding at least 3% of the issued share capital, have the right to put an item on the agenda of an AGM or to table 
a draft resolution for an item on the agenda of a general meeting. 

The 2017 AGM will be held at 11.00 a.m. on 14 July 2017 at the InterContinental Hotel, Simmonscourt Road, Ballsbridge, Dublin 4, Ireland. 



110 DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Governance

Memorandum and Articles of Association 
The Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association set out the objects and powers of the Company. The Articles of Association detail the 
rights attaching to shares, the method by which the Company’s shares can be purchased or re-issued, the provisions which apply to the holding  
of and voting at general meetings and the rules relating to the Directors, including their appointment, retirement, re-election, duties and powers. 

The Company’s Articles of Association may be amended by a special resolution passed by the shareholders at an AGM or EGM of the Company. 

A copy of the Memorandum and Articles of Association can be obtained from the Company’s website, www.dcc.ie. 

Transparency Rules
As required by SI 277/2007 Transparency (Directive 2004/109/EC) Regulations 2007, the following sections of the Annual Report shall be treated  
as forming part of this Report: the Chairman’s Statement on pages 6 to 7, the Chief Executive’s Review on pages 8 to 9, the Operating Reviews  
on pages 36 to 57, the Financial Review on pages 18 to 26, the Principal Risks and Uncertainties on pages 12 to 17, the earnings per ordinary share  

Substantial Holdings

as at 31 March 2017 and 15 May 2017:

As at 31 March 2017 As at 15 May 2017

No. of €0.25 
Ordinary Shares

% of Issued 
Share Capital 

(excluding 
treasury shares)

No. of €0.25 
Ordinary Shares

% of Issued 
Share Capital 

(excluding 
treasury shares)

FMR LLC and FIL Limited on behalf of its direct and indirect subsidiaries* 9,224,831 10.39% 9,230,534 10.39%

Blackrock* 7,268,570 8.18% 7,488,150 8.43%

Allianz* 4,632,327 5.22% 4,573,725 5.15%

The Capital Group Companies, Inc.* 4,538,600 5.11% 4,647,200 5.23%

Mawer* 3,330,666 3.75% 3,313,074 3.73%

Legal and General* 2,844,437 3.20% 2,796,861 3.15%

Jim Flavin 2,680,000 3.02% 2,680,000 3.02%

  

Principal Subsidiaries and Joint Ventures 
Details of the Company’s principal operating subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out on pages 196 to 199. 

Research and Development 
Certain Group companies are involved in ongoing development work aimed at improving the quality, competitiveness, technology and range of their 
products. 

Political Contributions 
There were no political contributions which require to be disclosed under the Electoral Act, 1997. 

Accounting Records 
The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper books and accounting records, as outlined in Section 281 to 285 of the Companies Act, 2014, are 
kept by the Company. The Directors believe that they have complied with this requirement by providing adequate resources to maintain proper books and 

Takeover Regulations 

In addition, the Company’s long-term incentive plans contain change of control provisions which can allow for the acceleration of the exercise of 
share options or awards in the event that a change-of-control occurs with respect to the Company. 

Directors’ Compliance Statement
 

 
material compliance with the Company’s relevant obligations and that these arrangements and structures were reviewed by the Company during  

Report of the Directors continued
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As required by section 225(2) of the Companies Act 2014, the Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the Company’s compliance with the 
relevant obligations. In discharging their responsibilities under section 225, the Directors relied on the advice of persons employed by the Company and of 
third parties, whom the Directors believe have the requisite knowledge and experience to advise the Company on compliance with its relevant obligations.

Audit Committee
The Company has an Audit Committee, the members of which are set out on page 77.

Disclosure of Information to the Auditors

• In so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and
• That they have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information 

and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of such information.

Auditors

As required under Section 381(1) (b) of the Companies Act 2014, a resolution authorising the Directors to determine the remuneration of the 
auditors will be proposed at the 2017 AGM.

John Moloney, Tommy Breen 
Directors
15 May 2017
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

• select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently;
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• 

• 

 

 

Responsibility Statement as required by the Transparency Directive and UK Corporate Governance Code

• 
 

 

•  

• 

John Moloney    Tommy Breen
Non-executive Chairman   Chief Executive
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of DCC plc

Opinions and conclusions arising from our audit

 

•  

• 

• 
• 

•  

2. Our assessment of risks of material misstatement 
 

Valuation of goodwill and intangible assets £1,423 million (2016: £1,297 million)

The risk

• future trading performance;
• 
• 

Our response
 

• checking the mathematical accuracy of the model;
• 
• 
• 

the Directors;
•  

• 
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3. Our application of materiality and an overview of the scope of our audit 

 

 

4. We have nothing to report on the disclosures of principal risks

•  

• 

5. We have nothing to report in respect of the matters on which we are required to report by exception 

•  

• 

• 
• 

 

6. Our conclusions on other matters on which we are required to report by the Companies Act 2014 are set out below
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•  

• 
• the description of the main features of the internal control and risk management systems in relation to the process for preparing the Group 

• 

Basis of our report, responsibilities and restrictions on use

 

Ruaidhri Gibbons
for and on behalf of 

Dublin 2 

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of DCC plc 
Continued
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Group Income Statement

2017

Note

Pre 
exceptionals 

£’000

Exceptionals 
(note 2.6) 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Pre 
Total 

Continuing operations

Revenue 12,269,802 – 12,269,802 –

Cost of sales (11,006,805) – (11,006,805) –

1,262,997 – 1,262,997 –

(323,320) – (323,320) –

(605,182) – (605,182) –

Other operating income 28,297 1,879 30,176

(17,787) (38,176) (55,963)

345,005 (36,297) 308,708

Amortisation of intangible assets (39,130) – (39,130) –

305,875 (36,297) 269,578

(72,910) – (72,910)

40,973 10,101 51,074 –

712 – 712 –

274,650 (26,196) 248,454

(44,113) (1,756) (45,869)

 230,537 (27,952) 202,585

15,160 – 15,160

245,697 (27,952) 217,745

216,197

Non-controlling interests 1,548

217,745

Earnings per ordinary share

243.64p

Diluted earnings per share 242.00p

303.68p

Diluted adjusted earnings per share 301.63p

Earnings per ordinary share – continuing operations

226.56p

Diluted earnings per share 225.04p

286.59p

Diluted adjusted earnings per share 284.66p
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Group Statement of Comprehensive Income

Note
2017 

£’000

Restated

217,745

Currency translation 37,084

(6,803)

1,334 120

31,615

– remeasurements (3,056)

413

(2,643)

28,972

246,717

242,735

Non-controlling interests 3,982

246,717

Continuing operations 230,199

Discontinued operations 16,518

246,717
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Group Balance Sheet

Note
2017 

£’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets

750,020
1,422,572

24,938
22,619

273,767
2,493,916

Current assets
456,395

1,222,597
18,233

1,048,064
2,745,289

193,170 –
2,938,459

Total assets 5,432,375

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to owners of the Parent

15,455
277,211

18,146
(13,581)

105,537
932

Retained earnings 1,074,434
Equity attributable to owners of the Parent 1,478,134
Non-controlling interests 29,587
Total equity 1,507,721

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities

1,319,967
506

155,297
29

255,650
66,617

261
1,798,327

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 1,820,517

25,051
148,445

5,894
31,022
28,300

2,059,229
67,098 –

2,126,327
Total liabilities 3,924,654
Total equity and liabilities 5,432,375

John Moloney, Tommy Breen, Directors
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 March 2017
Attributable to owners of the Parent

Share 
capital

(note 4.1) 
£’000

Share 
premium

(note 4.1) 
£’000

Retained 
earnings

(note 4.3) 
£’000

Other 
reserves

(note 4.2) 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Non- 
controlling

interests
(note 4.4) 

£’000

Total 
equity 

£’000

At 1 April 2016 15,455 277,211 948,316 78,661 1,319,643 30,833 1,350,476

– – 216,197 – 216,197 1,548 217,745

Currency translation – – – 34,650 34,650 2,434 37,084

– remeasurements – – (3,056) – (3,056) – (3,056)

– – 413 – 413 – 413

– – – (6,803) (6,803) – (6,803)

– – – 1,334 1,334 – 1,334

Total comprehensive income – – 213,554 29,181 242,735 3,982 246,717

Re-issue of treasury shares – – 2,600 – 2,600 – 2,600

– – – 3,192 3,192 – 3,192

– – (90,036) – (90,036) (5,228) (95,264)

At 31 March 2017 15,455 277,211 1,074,434 111,034 1,478,134 29,587 1,507,721

capital premium
Retained 
earnings

Other 

Total 

Non- 
controlling

interests Total 

– – –

Currency translation – – –

– remeasurements – – – –

– – – –

– – – –

– – – 120 120 – 120

– –

– – –

Re-issue of treasury shares – – – –

– – – –

– – – –

– –
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Group Cash Flow Statement

Note
2017 

£’000

Operating activities

546,870

(31,269)

Cash generated from operations 515,601

(70,108)

(62,180)

383,313

Investing activities

12,315

125

–

40,966

53,406

(143,698)

(203,327)

(59,069)

(406,094)

(352,688)

Financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 2,600

14,212

–

16,812

(108,140)

(177)

(90,036)

(5,228) –

(203,581)

(186,769)

(156,144)

Translation adjustment 38,929

1,090,037

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 972,822

Cash and short-term bank deposits 1,048,064

(88,041)

Cash and short-term deposits attributable to assets held for sale 12,799 –

972,822
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Notes to the Financial Statements

each note begins with a simple introduction outlining the purpose of the note.

Section 1 Basis of Preparation

1.1 Statement of Compliance
 

 
 
 

1.2 Basis of Preparation

Adoption of IFRS and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (‘IFRIC’) Interpretations

• Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses

• Financial Instruments Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
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1.2 Basis of Preparation continued
• Revenue from Contracts with Customers 

Revenue Construction Contracts

 

• Leases Leases  

 

 

1.3 Basis of Consolidation

Subsidiaries

Equity accounted investments 

 

Transactions eliminated on consolidation

1.4 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements

 

Goodwill
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1.4 Critical Accounting Estimates and Judgements continued
Business Combinations

 

Taxation

 

 
 

Provision for Impairment of Trade Receivables

Useful Lives for Property, Plant and Equipment and Intangible Assets

 

Cylinder and Tank Deposits Provisions

 

Environmental and Remediation Provisions

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Section 2 Results for the Year

2.1 Segment Information

Segmental analysis

DCC Energy 

DCC Healthcare 

DCC Technology 
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2.1 Segment Information continued

Income Statement items 

Continuing operations

Year ended 31 March 2017
DCC

Energy
£’000

DCC
Healthcare 

£’000

DCC
Technology 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Segment revenue 9,074,135 506,562 2,689,105 12,269,802

254,941 48,944 41,120 345,005

Amortisation of intangible assets (28,239) (7,258) (3,633) (39,130)

(20,487) (2,695) (13,115) (36,297)

206,215 38,991 24,372 269,578

(72,910)

51,074

712

248,454

(45,869)

202,585

Continuing operations

DCC DCC DCC
Technology Total 

Amortisation of intangible assets

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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2.1 Segment Information continued
Balance Sheet items

As at 31 March 2017
DCC 

Energy
£’000

DCC 
Healthcare 

£’000

DCC 
Technology 

£’000

Discontinued
operations

£’000
Total 

£’000

Segment assets 2,544,481 404,029 903,074 – 3,851,584

24,938

292,000

22,619

1,048,064

193,170

Total assets as reported in the Group Balance Sheet 5,432,375

Segment liabilities 1,396,331 109,234 601,644 – 2,107,209

1,468,412

6,400

180,348

94,917

270

67,098

Total liabilities as reported in the Group Balance Sheet 3,924,654

DCC DCC DCC 
Technology 

Discontinued
operations Total 
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2.1 Segment Information continued
Other segment information

Year ended 31 March 2017
DCC 

Energy
£’000

DCC 
Healthcare 

£’000

DCC 
Technology 

£’000

Discontinued
operations

£’000
Total 

£’000

93,528 7,799 37,749 7,851 146,927

7,595 50 620 – 8,265

71,848 6,686 5,613 7,868 92,015

136,198 28,396 66,252 – 230,846

112,360 29,082 44,246 – 185,688

DCC DCC DCC 
Technology 

Discontinued
operations Total 

–

Geographical analysis
 

Revenue

2017 
£’000

Restated
2017 

£’000

759,439 123,348

7,239,193 985,717

2,402,290 869,895

Other 1,868,880 218,570

12,269,802 2,197,530

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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2.2 Other Operating Income/Expenses

2017 
£’000

Restated

Other operating income

1,659

2,424

Throughput 4,254

3,177

Rental income 6,813

Other operating income 9,970

28,297

1,879

Total other operating income 30,176

Other operating expenses

(3,192)

(1,659)

(2,051)

(10,885)

(17,787)

(38,176)

(55,963)
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Continuing
operations

2017
£’000

Discontinued
operations

2017
£’000

Total
2017 

£’000

Continuing
operations

Discontinued
operations Total

84,206 7,809 92,015

39,130 38 39,168

1,164 – 1,164 –

(58) (115) (173)

(169) (66) (235)

(663) (2) (665)

– land and buildings 33,946 512 34,458

– plant and machinery 946 1,753 2,699

12,792 1,726 14,518

47,684 3,991 51,675

2017 
£’000

Audit fees 1,000

189

–

1,189

Audit fees 1,229

68

1,297

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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2.4 Employment

2017
Number Number

5,384

2,023

DCC Technology 2,343

Continuing operations 9,750

1,098

10,848

2017
£’000

Wages and salaries 393,132

56,109

3,192

13,716

(118)

466,031

Continuing operations 427,323

Discontinued operations 38,708

466,031
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2.5 Employee Share Options and Awards

Share-based Payment

Impact on Income Statement
Share-based Payment

Date of grant
Grant

price

Minimum 
duration of 

vesting period

Number of 
share awards/

options 
granted

Weighted 
average  

fair value

 Expense in 
 Income Statement

2017
£’000

DCC plc Long-Term Incentive Plan 2009

–

467

1,098

1,503

124 –

3,192

Share options and awards
DCC plc Long-Term Incentive Plan 2009

Share-based Payment

2017 
Number of 

share awards
Number of 

At 1 April 822,442

Granted 137,269

(134,192)

–

825,519

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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2.5 Employee Share Options and Awards continued

Granted during the year ended 31 March 2017 £54.17

2017

0.59

1.6

23.0

6.0

£67.75

Analysis of closing balance:

Date of grant Date of expiry

2017 
Number of

share awards
Number of

–

22,246

81,359

129,017

132,078

192,095

131,455

137,269 –

825,519

364,700
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2.5 Employee Share Options and Awards continued
DCC plc 1998 Employee Share Option Scheme

2017
Average 
exercise 

price in €
per share Options

price in €
per share Options

At 1 April 19.22 380,750

19.29 (155,750)

19.17 225,000

 

Analysis of closing balance:

Date of grant Date of expiry

2017
Exercise 
price per 

share Options
price per 

share Options

– –

€23.35 102,500

– –

€15.68 122,500

225,000

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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2.6 Exceptionals

2017
£’000

Restated

Restructuring costs (19,345)

(10,308)

(5,114)

(1,164)

Gains arising from legal case settlements –

(366)

(36,297)

10,101

(26,196)

(1,756)

(27,952)

–

(27,952)

3,138

(24,814)
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2.7 Finance Costs and Finance Income

 

 

2017
£’000

Restated

Finance costs

(31,113)

–

(32,909)

(22)

(751)

(1,956)

(1,942)

–

Other interest (4,217)

(72,910)

–

(72,910)

Finance income

2,248

38,586

42 –

Other income 97 4

40,973

10,101 –

51,074

(21,836)

(2,109)

68,703

(56,493)

10,101

–

–

–

13,737

(13,737)

–

10,101

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Joint ventures
2017

£’000

Associates
2017

£’000

Total
2017

£’000

Associates Total

25,082 2,368 27,450

789 18 807 44

(95) – (95)

694 18 712

(i) Income tax expense recognised in the Income Statement

2017
£’000

Restated

Current taxation
3,510

12,310

36,592

(911)

51,501

Deferred tax
157

(413)

(5,966)

590

(5,632)

Total income tax expense 45,869

(ii) Deferred tax recognised in Other Comprehensive Income 

2017
£’000

(413)

(1,334)

(1,747)
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continued

2017
£’000

Restated

248,454

(712)

39,130

286,872

35,859

Adjustments in respect of prior years (321)

19,578

(329)

54,787

1,756

(10,674)

45,869

2017
%

17.5%

1.0%

18.5%

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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2.10 Discontinued Operations

Net Result from Discontinued Operations
 

 

2017
£’000

175,232

Cost of sales (119,654)

55,578

(37,032)

18,546

Amortisation of intangible assets (38)

–

18,508

(163)

18,345

(3,185)

15,160

2017
£’000

22,461

(6,661)

15,800
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2.10 Discontinued Operations continued

2017
£’000

Assets

65,551

79,335

298

1,922

33,264

1

12,799

193,170

Liabilities

Trade and other payables (35,741)

(32)

(3,533)

(357)

(3,800)

(23,204)

(431)

(67,098)

Net assets of the disposal group 126,072

2.11 Dividends 

2017
£’000

57,621

32,415

90,036

Notes to the Financial Statements continued



141DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Supplementary 
InformationFinancial StatementsGovernanceStrategic Report

2.12 Earnings per Ordinary Share

Continuing 
operations 

2017
£’000

Discontinued 
operations 
(note 2.10)

2017 
£’000

Total
2017

£’000

Continuing 
operations 

Discontinued 
operations 

Total

201,037 15,160 216,197

28,456 6 28,462

24,814 – 24,814

 
non-controlling interests 254,307 15,166 269,473

Basic earnings per ordinary share

Continuing
operations

2017
pence

Discontinued
operations

2017
pence

Total
2017 

pence

Continuing
operations

pence

Discontinued
operations

pence

Total

pence

226.56p 17.08p 243.64p

32.07p 0.01p 32.08p

27.96p – 27.96p

Adjusted basic earnings per ordinary share 286.59p 17.09p 303.68p

 
88,735

 

Diluted earnings per ordinary share

Continuing
operations

2017
pence

Discontinued
operations

2017
pence

Total
2017

pence

Continuing
operations

pence

Discontinued
operations

pence

Total

pence

Diluted earnings per ordinary share 225.04p 16.96p 242.00p

31.84p 0.01p 31.85p

27.78p – 27.78p

Adjusted diluted earnings per ordinary share 284.66p 16.97p 301.63p

 
89,338
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2.12 Earnings per Ordinary Share continued

2017 
’000

88,735

603

89,338

 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Section 3 Assets and Liabilities

3.1 Property, Plant and Equipment

Land & 
buildings

£’000

Plant & 
machinery & 

cylinders
£’000

Fixtures, 
 

equipment
£’000

Motor  
vehicles

£’000
Total

£’000

Year ended 31 March 2017

Opening net book amount 251,531 367,987 54,860 65,125 739,503

8,662 14,547 2,268 720 26,197

3,493 3,813 793 166 8,265

Additions 41,738 68,593 18,809 17,787 146,927

Disposals (5,575) (4,250) (1,211) (1,106) (12,142)

Depreciation charge (8,353) (57,679) (13,379) (12,604) (92,015)

(1,051) – (113) – (1,164)

(36,176) (16,654) (3,078) (9,643) (65,551)

1,106 5,198 (6,283) (21) –

Closing net book amount 255,375 381,555 52,666 60,424 750,020

At 31 March 2017

Cost 291,947 787,194 140,643 143,390 1,363,174

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (36,572) (405,639) (87,977) (82,966) (613,154)

Net book amount 255,375 381,555 52,666 60,424 750,020

Opening net book amount 

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation charge

–

–

Closing net book amount

Cost

Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses

Net book amount
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3.1 Property, Plant and Equipment continued

2017
£’000

682

174 212

–

Net book amount 856

3.2 Intangible Assets

Goodwill
£’000

Customer & 
supplier  

related 
intangibles

£’000

Brand
related

intangibles
£’000

Total
£’000

Year ended 31 March 2017

Opening net book amount 960,154 210,063 126,848 1,297,065

31,657 15,505 10,284 57,446

117,175 56,051 12,462 185,688

876 – – 876

(79,335) – – (79,335)

Amortisation charge – (35,229) (3,939) (39,168)

Closing net book amount 1,030,527 246,390 145,655 1,422,572

At 31 March 2017

Cost 1,068,660 381,004 152,498 1,602,162

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (38,133) (134,614) (6,843) (179,590)

Net book amount 1,030,527 246,390 145,655 1,422,572

Opening net book amount 

– –

Amortisation charge –

Closing net book amount

Cost

Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses

Net book amount

Customer and supplier related intangible assets principally comprise contractual and non-contractual customer and supplier relationships arising 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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3.2 Intangible Assets continued
Cash-generating units

Operating Segments

Cash-generating units Goodwill
2017

number number
2017

£’000

14 717,156

4 4 198,407

DCC Technology 6 114,964

24 1,030,527

4 4 79,335

28 1,109,862

Impairment of Assets

2017
£’000

256,801

186,037

168,689

72,593

 

 

Impairment testing of goodwill

 

Sensitivity Analysis
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3.3 Equity Accounted Investments

2017
£’000

At 1 April 22,139

404

712

(125)

1,808

24,938

Non-
current  

assets
£’000

Current  
assets

£’000

Current 
liabilities

£’000

Net  
assets

£’000

As at 31 March 2017

5,539 4,241 (3,893) 5,887

Associates 25,050 2,233 (8,232) 19,051

Total 30,589 6,474 (12,125) 24,938

Associates

Total

3.4 Inventories
 

2017
£’000

26,554

Work in progress 2,246

427,595

456,395

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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2017
£’000

1,084,215

(21,347)

Prepayments and accrued income 85,284

22,990

Other debtors 51,455

1,222,597

2017
£’000

79,820

23,938

10,208

7,364

121,330

2017
£’000

At 1 April 17,563

4,632

(183)

(4,442)

3,600

872

(695) –

21,347
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2017
£’000

Trade payables 1,398,523

Other creditors and accruals 310,140

15,056

85,906

9

4,534

6,349

1,820,517

3.7 Movement in Working Capital

Inventories
£’000

Trade  
and other 

receivables
£’000

Trade  
and other 
payables

£’000
Total 

£’000

Year ended 31 March 2017

393,948 916,069 (1,437,832) (127,815)

Translation adjustment 10,133 32,186 (43,202) (883)

32,207 206,528 (164,777) 73,958

(1,922) (33,265) 35,791 604

236 (177) (3,499) (3,440)

21,793 101,256 (206,998) (83,949)

456,395 1,222,597 (1,820,517) (141,525)

Translation adjustment

–

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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3.8 Cash and Cash Equivalents

2017
£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 363,805

684,259

1,048,064

2017
£’000

Cash and short-term bank deposits 1,048,064

(88,041)

12,799 –

972,822
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3.9 Derivative Financial Instruments

2017
£’000

Non-current assets

223,384

36,512

13,747

124 21

273,767

Current assets

12,968

365

–

515

122

4,203

60

18,233

Total assets 292,000

Non-current liabilities

(506)

(506)

Current liabilities

(623)

(57)

(5,119)

(95)

(5,894)

Total liabilities (6,400)

285,600

Interest rate swaps

Cross currency interest rate swaps

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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3.9 Derivative Financial Instruments continued
Forward foreign exchange contracts

Commodity price forward contracts

3.10 Borrowings

2017
£’000

Non-current

165

1,319,802

1,319,967

Current

88,041

190

60,214

148,445

Total borrowings 1,468,412

2017
£’000

109

500,538

819,320

1,319,967
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3.10 Borrowings continued
Unsecured Notes 

 
 

 
 

 

2017

5.6 years

4.73%

– sterling denominated* 4.91%

– euro denominated* 3.23%

– sterling denominated 1.87%

– euro denominated 1.53%

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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3.11 Analysis of Net Debt

Reconciliation of opening to closing net debt

Fair value adjustment
At  

1 April  
2016

£’000 £’000

Income 
Statement

£’000

Cash Flow 
Hedge  

Reserve
£’000

Translation 
adjustment

£’000

At  
31 March  

2017
£’000

Cash and short-term bank deposits 1,182,034 (160,491) – – 39,320 1,060,863

(91,997) 4,347 – – (391) (88,041)

1,090,037 (156,144) – – 38,929 972,822

(506) 177 – – (26) (355)

(1,360,722) 108,140 (56,493) – (70,941) (1,380,016)

216,689 (12,928) 66,594 13,737 1,508 285,600

(54,502) (60,755) 10,101 13,737 (30,530) (121,949)

(69,473) (58,597) 10,101 13,737 (30,516) (134,748)

At  
1 April   Translation 

adjustment 

At  
 

Cash and short-term bank deposits – –

– –

– –

– –

–
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3.11 Analysis of Net Debt continued

Euro
£’000

Sterling
£’000

Danish  
Krone
£’000

Swedish 
Krona
£’000

Other
£’000

Total
£’000

384,203 567,553 39,610 37,434 32,063 1,060,863

(737,221) (730,603) – (343) (245) (1,468,412)

129,929 155,241 (73) – 503 285,600

(223,089) (7,809) 39,537 37,091 32,321 (121,949)

Danish  
Other Total

–

– –

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Property, 
plant and 

equipment
£’000

Intangible 
assets

£’000

Tax losses  
and credits

£’000

Retirement 

obligations
£’000

Derivative 

instruments
£’000

Short-term 
temporary 

and other
£’000

Total
£’000

15,834 113,857 (1,588) (2,494) (3,679) (9,569) 112,361

2,214 (10,603) 580 2,607 1,756 (2,420) (5,866)

Recognised in Other 
– – – (413) (1,334) – (1,747)

– 19,889 – – – (47) 19,842

(129) – – – – 70 (59)

232 9,032 (28) (125) – (964) 8,147

18,151 132,175 (1,036) (425) (3,257) (12,930) 132,678

(1,127) (280) (1,036) (670) (3,257) (16,249) (22,619)

19,278 132,455 – 245 – 3,319 155,297

18,151 132,175 (1,036) (425) (3,257) (12,930) 132,678

plant and 
assets

 
and credits

Retirement 

obligations instruments

temporary 

and other Total

Recognised in Other 
– – – –

–

–

–

– –
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Discount rates

 

Asset volatility
 

Mortality risk

2017

Republic of Ireland schemes

Rate of increase in salaries

Rate of increase in pensions in payment 1.25% – 2.50%

Discount rate 2.00%

1.75%

UK schemes

Rate of increase in salaries 3.25%

Rate of increase in pensions in payment 1.63% – 3.25%

Discount rate 2.55%

3.25%

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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 continued

2017

Current retirees

24.3

26.2

Future retirees

27.1

29.1

2017
ROI

£’000
UK

£’000
Total

£’000

21,010 11,202 32,212

41,606 17,637 59,243

Property 177 1,295 1,472

Cash 7,223 1,328 8,551

70,016 31,462 101,478

(68,708) (32,799) (101,507)

1,308 (1,337) (29)

Total

Property

Cash
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 continued

2017
£’000

(78)

256

(60)

118

(2,252)

2,294

42

 

2017
£’000

6,424

(95)

(9,385)

(3,056)

2017
£’000

At 1 April 88,522

2,294

6,424

Contributions by employers 3,202

Contributions by members 10

(60)

(3,997)

5,083

101,478

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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 continued

2017
£’000

At 1 April 88,869

78

(256)

2,252

95

9,385

Contributions by members 10

(3,997)

5,071

101,507

Sensitivity analysis for principal assumptions used to measure scheme liabilities

Assumption Change in assumption Impact on Irish plan liabilities Impact on UK plan liabilities 

Discount rate

Split of scheme assets

                       Republic of Ireland                    UK                    Total
2017

£’000
2017

£’000
2017

£’000

19,543 10,696 30,239

– emerging markets 1,467 506 1,973

2,940 8,358 11,298

38,666 9,279 47,945

7,223 1,328 8,551

Property 177 1,295 1,472

70,016 31,462 101,478
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3.14 Acquisition Related Liabilities

2017
£’000

Within one year 28,300

20,147

46,470

94,917

Non-current liabilities 66,617

Current liabilities 28,300

94,917

2017
£’000

At 1 April 122,642

41,041

751

876

5,114

Paid during the year (59,069)

(23,204) –

6,766

94,917

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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3.15 Provisions for Liabilities
 

 

Rationalisation, 
restructuring and 

redundancy
£’000

Environmental 
and remediation

£’000

Cylinder and 
tank deposits

£’000

Insurance 
and other

£’000
Total

£’000

22,264 65,713 134,752 21,759 244,488

12,021 3,848 7,087 7,712 30,668

– – 1,956 – 1,956

(13,502) (643) (4,140) (3,750) (22,035)

12,906 3,540 – – 16,446

– (3,800) – – (3,800)

(2,527) 13,377 (925) (9,925) –

1,590 4,755 10,970 1,634 18,949

32,752 86,790 149,700 17,430 286,672

Non-current liabilities 18,556 82,698 145,422 8,974 255,650

Current liabilities 14,196 4,092 4,278 8,456 31,022

32,752 86,790 149,700 17,430 286,672

restructuring and 
redundancy and remediation

Cylinder and 
tank deposits and other Total

– – –

Non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Rationalisation, restructuring and redundancy
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3.15 Provisions for Liabilities continued
Environmental and remediation

 

 

Cylinder and tank deposits

 

Insurance and other

3.16 Government Grants

2017
£’000

At 1 April 930

Amortisation in year (235)

–

(431) –

6

270

Non-current liabilities 261

9

270

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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Section 4 Equity

4.1 Share Capital and Share Premium
 

2017
£’000

Authorised

25,365

Issued

Year ended 31 March 2017
Number  

of shares

Share 
capital

£’000

Share 
premium

£’000
Total

£’000

92,429,404 15,455 277,211 292,666

Number  
of shares

capital premium Total

 

 

Restriction on transfer of shares

 

Restriction of voting rights
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

4.2 Other Reserves

Share based 
payment 
reserve1

£’000

hedge 
reserve2

£’000

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve3

£’000

Other 
reserves4

£’000
Total

£’000

– – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

– transfers to sales – – –

– transfers to cost of sales – – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

– – –

14,954 (8,112) 70,887 932 78,661

Currency translation – – 34,650 – 34,650

– 13,737 – – 13,737

– 27,853 – – 27,853

– (7,133) – – (7,133)

– transfers to sales – 1,117 – – 1,117

– transfers to cost of sales – (28,252) – – (28,252)

– (21,258) – – (21,258)

– 8,467 – – 8,467

3,192 – – – 3,192

18,146 (13,581) 105,537 932 111,034
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4.3 Retained Earnings

2017
£’000

At 1 April 948,316

216,197

(3,056)

413

2,600

–

(90,036)

1,074,434

4.4 Non-Controlling Interests

2017
£’000

At 1 April 30,833

1,548

–

(5,228) –

2,434

29,587
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Section 5 Additional Disclosures

5.1 Foreign Currency

                    Average rate                      Closing rate
2017

Stg£1=
2017

Stg£1=

1.1956 1.1689

8.9150 8.6942

11.3729 11.1423

10.9811 10.7169

5.2 Business Combinations

• 
• 

• 

• 

• 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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5.2 Business Combinations continued
Gaz Européen

2017
£’000

Others
2017

£’000

Total
2017

£’000

Total

Assets

Non-current assets

468 7,797 8,265

48,595 19,918 68,513

– 404 404

– 60 60

Total non-current assets 49,063 28,179 77,242

Current assets

9,287 22,920 32,207

61,627 144,901 206,528

Total current assets 70,914 167,821 238,735

Liabilities

Non-current liabilities

(16,731) (3,171) (19,902)

– (11,129) (11,129)

– – –

Total non-current liabilities (16,731) (14,300) (31,031)

Current liabilities

(46,539) (118,238) (164,777)

(102) (5,215) (5,317)

29 12,312 12,341

– (13,522) (13,522) –

Total current liabilities (46,612) (124,663) (171,275)

56,634 57,037 113,671

– – –

– – –

44,328 72,847 117,175

Total consideration 100,962 129,884 230,846

Cash 109,736 132,282 242,018

(11,158) (27,533) (38,691)

98,578 104,749 203,327

2,384 25,135 27,519

Total consideration 100,962 129,884 230,846
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5.2 Business Combinations continued

Gaz Européen

Book  
value
£’000

Fair value 
adjustments

£’000
Fair value

£’000

590 48,473 49,063

Current assets 71,103 (189) 70,914

Non-current liabilities – (16,731) (16,731)

Current liabilities (45,816) (796) (46,612)

25,877 30,757 56,634

75,085 (30,757) 44,328

Total consideration 100,962 – 100,962

Others

Book  
value
£’000

Fair value 
adjustments

£’000
Fair value

£’000

30,105 (1,926) 28,179

Current assets 168,343 (522) 167,821

Non-current liabilities (1,470) (12,830) (14,300)

Current liabilities (123,184) (1,479) (124,663)

73,794 (16,757) 57,037

56,090 16,757 72,847

Total consideration 129,884 – 129,884

Total

Book  
value
£’000

Fair value 
adjustments

£’000
Fair value

£’000

30,695 46,547 77,242

Current assets 239,446 (711) 238,735

Non-current liabilities (1,470) (29,561) (31,031)

Current liabilities (169,000) (2,275) (171,275)

99,671 14,000 113,671

131,175 (14,000) 117,175

Total consideration 230,846 – 230,846

 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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5.2 Business Combinations continued

 

2017
£’000

Revenue 318,386

Cost of sales (281,863)

36,523

Operating costs (28,027)

8,496

(184)

8,312

(1,849)

Non-controlling interests 354

6,817

2017
£’000

Revenue 12,843,312

211,258
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Notes to the Financial Statements continued

5.3 Cash Generated from Operations

2017
£’000

217,745

49,054

(712)

36,297

21,999

324,383

3,192

92,015

39,168

(173)

(235)

– other 4,571

(21,793)

(101,256)

206,998

Cash generated from operations before exceptionals 546,870

5.4 Commitments
A commitment represents an obligation to make a payment in the future as long as the counterparty meets its 

 

Capital Expenditure Commitments

2017
£’000

30,439

not yet been contracted for 101,188

131,627
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5.4 Commitments continued
Commitments under Operating and Finance Leases
Operating leases

2017
£’000

Within one year 44,182

81,777

110,768

236,727

Finance leases

2017
Minimum 

payments
£’000

Present value 
of payments

£’000
payments

 
of payments

Within one year 194 190

169 165

363 355

(8) – –

355 355

5.5 Contingencies

Guarantees

Other



172 DCC plc Annual Report and Accounts 2017

Se
ct

io
n 

5
1

2
3

4
6

Financial Statements

Related Party 
Disclosures  

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

Compensation of key management personnel

2017
£’000

4,780

1,201

1,012

6,993

5.7 Financial Risk and Capital Management

Capital risk management

2017
£’000

1,478,134

121,949

118,121

1,718,204

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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5.7 Financial Risk and Capital Management continued
Financial risk management

 

(i) Credit risk management

 

 
 

 

(ii) Liquidity risk management
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5.7 Financial Risk and Capital Management continued

As at 31 March 2017

Less than
1 year
£’000

Between
1 and 2 years

£’000

Between
2 and 5 years

£’000

Over
5 years

£’000
Total

£’000

Trade and other payables (1,820,517) – – – (1,820,517)

(147,639) (140) (474,549) (800,465) (1,422,793)

(61,204) (58,551) (132,261) (82,900) (334,916)

(28,300) (20,147) (46,470) – (94,917)

(39,154) (17,340) (367,028) (591,043) (1,014,565)

(994) (382) – – (1,376)

(2,097,808) (96,560) (1,020,308) (1,474,408) (4,689,084)

3,913 3,534 9,999 6,053 23,499

88,068 53,075 552,190 770,777 1,464,110

91,981 56,609 562,189 776,830 1,487,609

1 year 1 and 2 years Total

Trade and other payables – – –

–

–

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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5.7 Financial Risk and Capital Management continued
(iii) Market risk management
Foreign exchange risk management

 

Sensitivity to currency movements

Interest rate risk management
 

Sensitivity of interest charges to interest rate movements

Commodity price risk management

 

 

Sensitivity to commodity price movements
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5.7 Financial Risk and Capital Management continued

         2017
Book value

£’000
Fair value

£’000

Financial assets

292,000 292,000

1,222,597 1,222,597

1,048,064 1,048,064

2,562,661 2,562,661

Financial liabilities

1,468,412 1,485,574

6,400 6,400

94,917 94,917

Trade and other payables 1,820,517 1,820,517

3,390,246 3,407,408

• 
• 

• 

Fair value measurement as at 31 March 2017
Level 1

£’000
Level 2

£’000
Level 3

£’000
Total

£’000

Financial assets

– 292,000 – 292,000

– 292,000 – 292,000

Financial liabilities

– – 94,917 94,917

– 6,400 – 6,400

– 6,400 94,917 101,317

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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5.7 Financial Risk and Capital Management continued
Total

– –

– –

– –

– –

–

Level 2 fair value measurement:

• 

• 

• 

Level 3 fair value measurement:

• 

• 
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5.7 Financial Risk and Capital Management continued

(i) Financial assets

As at 31 March 2017

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

£’000

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

liabilities set 

Balance Sheet 
£’000

Net amounts  

assets 
presented in 

the Balance 
Sheet
£’000

Balance Sheet

Net amount
£’000

Financial 
liabilities

£’000

Cash collateral 
received

£’000

286,976 – 286,976 – – 286,976

243,873 – 243,873 (81,739) – 162,134

530,849 – 530,849 (81,739) – 449,110

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

liabilities set  

Net amounts  

assets 
presented in  

Net amountliabilities
Cash collateral 

– – –

– –

– –

(ii) Financial liabilities

As at 31 March 2017

Gross amounts  
of recognised 

liabilities
£’000

Gross amounts  
of recognised 

 
assets set  

 
Balance Sheet

£’000

Net amounts  

liabilities 
presented in 

the Balance 
Sheet
£’000

Balance Sheet

Net amount
£’000

Financial 
assets

£’000

Cash collateral 
provided

£’000

– – – – – –

81,739 – 81,739 (81,739) – –

81,739 – 81,739 (81,739) – –

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

liabilities

Gross amounts 
of recognised 

 
assets set  

Net amounts  

liabilities 
presented in  

Net amount
 

assets
Cash collateral 

– – – – – –

– – –

– – –

 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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5.8 Events after the Balance Sheet Date

 

Revenue Recognition

Sales of goods

 

 

Sales of services
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continued
Interest income

Dividend income

Rental income

Segment Reporting 

Foreign Currency Translation
Functional and presentation currency

 
 

Transactions and balances 

Group companies
 

 

Finance Costs

Finance Income

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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continued
Exceptional Items

 

Income Tax
Current tax

 

Deferred tax

 

•  

• 

 

• 

• 

Property, Plant and Equipment

Annual Rate

Plant and machinery 

Cylinders

Impairment of Assets
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continued

Investments in Subsidiary Undertakings 

Business Combinations
Business combinations from 1 April 2010

 

Business combinations prior to 1 April 2010

Non-Current Assets Held for Sale

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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continued
Intangible Assets (Goodwill)

 

 

 

 

Intangible Assets (other than Goodwill)

Inventories

Financial Instruments
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continued
Leases

 

Trade and Other Receivables

 
 

Trade and Other Payables

Cash and Cash Equivalents

 

Interest-Bearing Loans and Borrowings

Derivative Financial Instruments 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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continued
Hedging

 

Fair value hedge
 
 

 
 

Provisions
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continued
Environmental Provisions

 

Cylinder and Tank Deposits Provisions

Pension and Other Post Employment Obligations

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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continued
Share-Based Payment Transactions

Share-based Payment  

 

 

Government Grants

 

Equity
Treasury shares

Dividends

Non-Controlling Interests
 

 

5.10 Approval of Financial Statements
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Company Balance Sheet

Note
2017 

£’000

ASSETS

Non-current assets

94,715

94,715

Current assets

600,842

65,517

666,359

Total assets 761,074

EQUITY

Capital and reserves

15,455

277,211

110,156

Retained earnings 244,918

Total equity 647,740

LIABILITIES

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 113,334

113,334

Total equity and liabilities 761,074

John Moloney, Tommy Breen, Directors
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For the year ended 31 March 2017

Share capital
(note 4.1) 

£’000

Share 
premium

(note 4.1) 
£’000

Retained 
earnings

(note 6.10) 
£’000

Other 
reserves

(note 6.9) 
£’000

Total 
equity 

£’000

At 1 April 2016 15,455 277,211 84,333 70,374 447,373

– – 248,021 – 248,021

Currency translation – – – 39,782 39,782

Total comprehensive income – – 248,021 39,782 287,803

Re-issue of treasury shares – – 2,600 – 2,600

– – (90,036) – (90,036)

At 31 March 2017 15,455 277,211 244,918 110,156 647,740

premium
Retained 
earnings

Other 
Total 

– – –

Currency translation – – –

– –

– –

Re-issue of treasury shares – – –

– – –

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
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Company Cash Flow Statement

Note
2017 

£’000

Operating activities

Cash generated from operations (79,170)

(4)

(2) –

(79,176)

Investing activities

6,088

Proceeds on disposal 90,011

111,107

207,206

(7,522) –

(7,522) –

199,684

Financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 2,600

2,600

(90,036)

(90,036)

(87,436)

33,072

Translation adjustment 3,124

29,321

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 65,517
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Section 6 Notes to the Company Financial Statements
 

6.1 Basis of Preparation

6.2 Auditor Statutory Disclosure

 

6.4 Investments in Subsidiary Undertakings
2017

£’000

At 1 April 99,683

Additions 9,324 –

Disposals (16,820)

(5,228) –

7,756

94,715

2017
£’000

600,842

2017
£’000

Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings 112,813

Other creditors and accruals 521

113,334
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6.7 Movement in Working Capital
Trade and 

other 
receivables

£’000

Trade and  
other  

payables
£’000

Total
£’000

Year ended 31 March 2017

421,566 (103,197) 318,369

Translation adjustment 36,664 (8,370) 28,294

61,060 – 61,060

81,552 (1,767) 79,785

600,842 (113,334) 487,508

Translation adjustment

–

6.8 Cash and Cash Equivalents
2017

£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 65,517

6.9 Other Reserves
Foreign 

currency 
translation 

reserve1

£’000

Other
reserves2

£’000
Total

£’000

Currency translation –

70,145 229 70,374

Currency translation 39,782 – 39,782

109,927 229 110,156

6.10 Retained Earnings
2017

£’000

At 1 April 84,333

248,021

2,600

(90,036)

244,918

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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6.11 Cash Generated from Operations
2017

£’000

248,021

2 –

(94,602)

(6,084)

(146,722)

615

(81,552)

1,767

Cash generated from operations (79,170)

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates

 

6.13 Financial Risk Management

(i) Credit risk management

(ii) Liquidity risk management

As at 31 March 2017

Less than
1 year
£’000

Between
1 and 2 years

£’000

Between
2 and 5 years

£’000

Over
5 years

£’000
Total

£’000

Trade and other payables 113,334 – – – 113,334

1 year 1 and 2 years Total

Trade and other payables – – –
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6.13 Financial Risk Management continued
(iii) Market risk management
Foreign exchange risk management

Interest rate risk management

Commodity price risk management

2017
Book value

£’000
Fair value

£’000

Financial assets

600,842 600,842

65,517 65,517

666,359 666,359

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 113,334 113,334

113,334 113,334

6.14 Contingencies

Notes to the Financial Statements continued
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DCC Energy

Company name Company address
 

and operating in
Group  

DCC Energy Limited  
 

 
management company

100

LPG
Butagaz SAS  

petroleum gas

100

GAZ Européen Holding SAS  
and distribution of natural gas

Flogas Britain Limited   

petroleum gas

100

Flogas Ireland Limited  

petroleum gas and natural gas

100

Benegas BV  

petroleum gas

Netherlands 100

Flogas Sverige AB  

petroleum gas

100

Flogas Norge AS  

petroleum gas

100

Retail & Oil
Certas Energy UK Limited 

distribution of petroleum and 
lubricant products

100

Fuel Card Services Limited
products through the use of fuel cards

100

Certas Energy France Limited  
of petroleum products

100

Energy Procurement Ireland  
2013 Limited

 
 

 
of petroleum products

100

DCC Energi Danmark A/S
distribution of petroleum products 
and natural gas

Denmark

Qstar Försäljning AB  
of petroleum products

100

Energie Direct 
distribution of petroleum products

Austria 100

Principal Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates1
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DCC Energy continued

Company name Company address
 

and operating in
Group  

Swea Energi AB
distribution of petroleum products

100

Emo Oil Limited
distribution of petroleum products

100

DCC Energy Limited
distribution of petroleum products

Northern 100

DCC Healthcare 

Company name Company address
 

and operating in
Group  

DCC Healthcare Limited  
 

 
management company

100

DCC Vital
DCC Vital Limited 100

Fannin Limited
medical and pharmaceutical 

100

Medisource Ireland Limited 100

Athlone Laboratories Limited

and international markets

100

Fannin (UK) Limited

 

100

Williams Medical Services Ltd

primary care organisations

100

Kent Pharmaceuticals Limited
pharmaceuticals to hospital and 

100

Squadron Medical Limited 100

The TPS Healthcare  
Group Limited

100
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DCC Healthcare continued

Company name Company address
 

and operating in
Group  

Health & Beauty Solutions
DCC Health & Beauty Solutions Outsourced solutions for the health 

and beauty industry
100

Thompson & Capper Limited
and packing of nutritional products in 
tablet and hard shell capsule format

100

EuroCaps Limited
manufacture of nutritional products 
in soft gel capsule format

100

Laleham Health and  
Beauty Limited

the beauty and consumer healthcare 
sectors

100

Design Plus Holdings Limited  
 

the beauty and consumer healthcare 
sectors

100

Vitamex Manufacturing AB
and packing of nutritional products in 
tablet and hard shell capsule format

100

DCC Technology

Company name Company address
 

and operating in
Group  

DCC Technology Limited  
 

 
management company

100

Exertis (UK) Ltd  
technology products 

100

Hammer plc
 technology products

100

Exertis Ireland Limited
technology products

100

Exertis Supply Chain  
Services Limited management and outsourced 

100

Exertis France
technology peripherals and 
accessories

100

Exertis CUC
technology products and connecting 
solutions

100

Principal Subsidiaries, Joint Ventures and Associates continued
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DCC Technology continued

Company name Company address
 

and operating in
Group  

Exertis CapTech AB
technology products

100

Exertis Go Connect 

The Netherlands

Netherlands 100

Exertis Arc Telecom  
 

100

DCC Environmental 

Company name Company address
 

and operating in
Group  

DCC Environmental Limited  
 

 
management company

100

William Tracey Limited

Wastecycle Limited

Oakwood Fuels Limited

Enva Ireland Limited 100

Joint Venture 

Company name Company address
 

and operating in
Group  

KSG Dining Limited Restaurant and hospitality  

Associates 

Company name Company address
 

and operating in
Group  

Geogaz Lavera SA  
storage facility

Norgal (GIE)  
 

product
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Supplementary Information

Shareholder Information

Share Listing

Share Price Data
2017  

£
 

73.65
6,541m

70.25
6,239m

72.20
58.60

Shareholdings as at 31 March 2017 Geographic division 1
Number of 

shares 2
%  

of shares

North America

Retail

Total 100

Range of shares held
Number of 

accounts
% of  

accounts
Number of 

shares 2
%  

of shares

Total 100 100

1 This represents the best estimate of the number of shares controlled by fund managers 

Dividends

 

 

By location

North America  39.97%
UK 31.40%
Continental  
Europe 13.38%
Ireland 10.39%
Asia/Rest of World 2.80% 
Retail 2.06%

Over 250,000 73.47%
100,001–250,000 10.46%
10,000–100,000 12.24%
Less than 10,000 3.83%
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CREST
 

Financial Calendar 

Annual General Meeting, Electronic Proxy Voting and CREST Voting

 

DCC Website
 

 

Electronic Communications

Registrar

Investor Relations
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Corporate Information

Auditors 

Dublin 2

Registrar

Corrig Road

Bankers

 

Nordea
Rabobank

Solicitors

Dublin 2 

Stockbrokers

Dublin 2

Canary Wharf
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Our conclusion

Selected Information

Annual Report and Accounts for the year  
 

 

information that may be included in the Report 

Reporting Criteria

 

 
 

 

information that may be displayed in the  
DCC Annual Report and Accounts or on the 

Inherent limitations

 

Directors’ responsibilities 

• 

• 
Reporting Criteria;

• 

Reporting Criteria; and
• the contents and statements contained 

Our responsibilities
Our responsibility is to plan and perform our 

report to DCC in the form of an independent 

Assurance standards applied
 

 

obtained had a reasonable assurance 

Independence, professional  
standards and quality control

Professional Accountants issued by the 

 

 

including documented policies and procedures 

 

Summary of work performed
 

our assessment of the risk of material 

• assessing the appropriateness of the 

• 
management to obtain an understanding  

• 

documentation;
• considering the appropriateness of the 

 

• re-performing a selection of the carbon 
 

• 

 

portfolio; and
• 

 

This report’s intended use
This assurance report is made solely to DCC in 

an independent assurance report in connection 

responsibility and deny any liability to any party 

KPMG
Chartered Accountants
Dublin

Independent Limited Assurance Report to the  
Directors of DCC plc

http://www.dcc.ie/~/media/Files/D/DCC-v2/documents/pdfs/carbon-reporting-criteria.pdf
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• 
• to set director and management remuneration; and
• 

Calculation
Reference in 2017 

£’000

345,005

18,546

363,551

Calculation
Reference in 2017 

£’000

363,551

Depreciation 92,015

455,566

Net interest

Calculation
Reference in 2017 

£’000

(72,910)

40,973

Net interest – continuing (31,937)

Net interest – discontinued (163)

Net interest (32,100)

Alternative Performance Measures
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Interest cover – EBITA Interest Cover

Calculation
2017 

£’000

345,005

Net interest – continuing (31,937)

10.8x

Interest cover – EBITDA Interest Cover

Calculation
2017 

£’000

455,566

Net interest (32,100)

14.2x

Calculation
2017 

£’000

363,551

Net interest (32,100)

331,451

amortisation of intangible assets – continuing 54,787

amortisation of intangible assets – discontinued 3,217

amortisation of intangible assets 58,004

17.5%

Adjusted earnings per share

Calculation
2017 

pence pence

Adjusted earnings per share – continuing 286.59
Adjusted earnings per share – discontinued 17.09

Adjusted earnings per share 303.68
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Alternative Performance Measures continued

Constant currency

2017 
£’000

12,269,802

Currency impact (622,001) –

11,647,801

2017 
£’000

345,005

Currency impact (23,084) –

321,921

2017 
£’000

Adjusted earnings – continuing 254,307

Currency impact (16,677) –

237,630

88,735

267.80p

Dividend cover

Calculation
2017 

pence pence

Adjusted earnings per share – continuing 286.59

111.80

2.6x

Net capital expenditure

Calculation
2017 

£’000

143,698

(12,315)

131,383

Calculation
2017 

£’000

546,870

(131,383)

415,487
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Calculation
2017 

£’000

415,487

(70,108)

(62,180)

125

40,966

324,290

Cash conversion ratio

Calculation
2017 

£’000

415,487
363,551

114%

Net debt/EBITDA

 

Calculation
2017 

£’000

Net debt 121,949

455,566

0.3x

Net debt/total equity

 

Calculation
2017 

£’000

Net debt 121,949

1,507,721

8.1%
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Return on capital employed (‘ROCE’) – continuing

Calculation
2017 

£’000

1,507,721

134,748

228,340

(24,938)

94,917

Net assets of the disposal group (126,072)

1,814,716

1,698,240

345,005

20.3%
 
Committed acquisition expenditure

Calculation
2017 

£’000

203,327

(34,372)

41,041

(14,082)

Amounts committed in the current year 358,000

553,914

Net working capital

Calculation
2017 

£’000

Inventories 456,395

1,922 –

Trade and other receivables 1,222,597

33,264 –

(223)

Trade and other payables (1,820,517)

(35,741) –

4,534

6,349

9

(131,411)

Working capital (days)

Calculation
2017 

£’000

(131,411)
1,223,575

(3.3 days)

Alternative Performance Measures continued
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Group Income Statement
Year ended 31 March

2013 
£’m

2014 
£’m

2015 
£’m

2016 
£’m

2017 
£’m

Amortisation of intangible assets

Non-controlling interests –

Group Balance Sheet 
As at 31 March

2013 
£’m

2014 
£’m

2015 
£’m

2016 
£’m

2017 
£’m

Other assets

Total assets

–

Other liabilities

Total liabilities

Group Cash Flow 
Year ended 31 March

2013 
£’m

2014 
£’m

2015 
£’m

2016 
£’m

2017 
£’m

Other Information 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017

5 Year Review
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Index

 

 

 

 

Going Concern 14

 

 Group 10

 

 

 

 

 

 
Registrar 201

Risk Report 12
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Transparency Rules 110
 

Website 201
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DCC plc, 
DCC House,  
Leopardstown Road,
Foxrock, Dublin 18,  
Ireland

Tel: + 353 1 279 9400 
Email: info@dcc.ie 

www.dcc.ie
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